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CCAS Statement of Purpose

Critical Asian Studies continues to be inspired by the statement of purpose

formulated in 1969 by its parent organization, the Committee of Concerned

Asian Scholars (CCAS). CCAS ceased to exist as an organization in 1979,

but the BCAS board decided in 1993 that the CCAS Statement of Purpose

should be published in our journal at least once a year.

We first came together in opposition to the brutal aggression of

the United States in Vietnam and to the complicity or silence of

our profession with regard to that policy. Those in the field of

Asian studies bear responsibility for the consequences of their

research and the political posture of their profession. We are

concerned about the present unwillingness of specialists to speak

out against the implications of an Asian policy committed to en-

suring American domination of much of Asia. We reject the le-

gitimacy of this aim, and attempt to change this policy. We

recognize that the present structure of the profession has often

perverted scholarship and alienated many people in the field.

The Committee of Concerned Asian Scholars seeks to develop a

humane and knowledgeable understanding of Asian societies

and their efforts to maintain cultural integrity and to confront

such problems as poverty, oppression, and imperialism. We real-

ize that to be students of other peoples, we must first understand

our relations to them.

CCAS wishes to create alternatives to the prevailing trends in

scholarship on Asia, which too often spring from a parochial

cultural perspective and serve selfish interests and expansion-

ism. Our organization is designed to function as a catalyst, a

communications network for both Asian and Western scholars, a

provider of central resources for local chapters, and a commu-

nity for the development of anti-imperialist research.

Passed, 28–30 March 1969

Boston, Massachusetts
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Japan's Germ Warfare: 

The U.S. Cover-up of a War Crime 


by John W. Powell 

One of the neglected stories of World WarII is Japan's use 
ofGenn Warfare against China and the Soviet Union. For years 
the Japanese and American governments have succeeded in 
suppressing this chapter in history. Japan's reason for wanting to 
hide its attempt to practice' • public health in reverse" -acrim­
inally irresponsible undertaking which was potentially capable 
of setting off wide-ranging epidemics endangering the lives of 
millions of people-is understandable. The American govern­
ment's participation in illegally concealing evidence of these 
war crimes, it is now revealed, stemmed chiefly from Washing­
ton's desire to secure exclusive possession of what it considered 
to be "extremely valuable" military infonnation. 

In few other instances was Washington's double standard 
revealed so clearly. An "insidious" weapon in enemy hands, 
biological warfare (BW) was transformed into an acceptable 
and valuable military tool when added to the American arsenal. 
Some of our military leaders became almost lyrical when de­
scribing its possibilities. It became "humane" because it 
offered a short cut to victory which, it was claimed, would save 
lives-particularly American lives. It was also described as a 
money-saver in comparison with conventional weapons and had 
the further advantage of not destroying property. 

In retrospect it is perhaps not surprising that it has taken so 
long for the story to come out. Over the years fragments occa­
sionally surfaced, but each time were met with official denials, 
usually accompanied by seemingly authoritative refutations. 
During the Korean War when the Chinese accused the United 
States ofemploying up-dated versions ofJapan's earlier biolog­
ical warfare tactics, not only were the charges denied but it was 
also claimed that there was no proof of the earlier Japanese 
actions. Characteristic of the response was an article in the 
November 1952 issue of Air Force Magazine by Col. John J. 
Driscoll, which dismissed the allegation thusly: 

Tbeae are the IshII porcelain bacteria bombt 

INTRODUCTION 

Do not fail to read this essay. 
John W. Powell has written on a subject of vital 

importance to us all, no matter what our specialized 
work or general interests might be. If the title of this 
journal means anything, it surely refers to the concern 
ofeveryone of us that we take up the responsibility for 
breaking the habitual, guilty silence of our profession 
on dangerous subjects like this. 

Powell's essay sets an example by revealing the 
U.S. decision to cover up Japanese war crimes after 
World War II for the purpose of maintaining secrecy 
about its own efforts to expand its biological-warfare 
capabilities. Clearly, U.S. policy-makers thought that 
showing a deep interest in the human experiments and 
biological warfare conducted by General Ishii and his 
cohorts would be difficult to explain to American and 
world opinion. 

Despite the cover-up, "water-purification unit" 
will now belatedly join terms like "strategic hamlet" 
and "free-fire zone" with which imperialist powers 
clothe the horrors they are visiting upon people. Build­
ing upon the work of the "water-purification units," 
the United States did indeed add biological agents to its 
terrifying arsenal ofchemical and atomic weapons. 

The record of the United States in its Asian wars 
does not permit us to view lightly the issues raised by 
Powell. The U.S. has shown an appalling readiness to 
use such weapons to break the popular will to resist ­
as in the atomic bombing of Japanese cities and the 
chemical poisoning of immense areas of Vietnam. It is 
conceivable, as some have charged, that biological 
weapons have already been used as well. We must fmd 
out and make it more difficult for them to be used in 
future wars. 

The Editors 
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The pattern had begun to take shape as far back as December 
1949, when a Soviet military tribunal, sitting at Khabarovsk, 
Siberia, placed on trial twelve former members ofthe Japan­
ese armedforces. The charges- "preparing and employing 
the bacteriological weapon" in World War II. As long ago as 
August 1946 the Japanese biological warfare experimental 
program had been categorized as a "dead issue" by the 
International Military Tribunal for the Far East, a body on 
which the Soviets were represented. Nevertheless, within six 
months ofthe Communist invasion ofSouth Korea, the Reds 
revived the abandoned case. I 

The true story is quite different. It wasn't a "dead issue," 
it was a "buried issue." By the late 1930s Japan's BW program 
was sufficiently advanced for testing. It was employed with 
moderate success against Chinese troops and civilians and with 
unknown results against the Russians. By 1945 Japan had a 
huge arsenal of stockpiled germs, vectors and delivery equip­
ment unmatched by any other nation. 

Japan had gained this undisputed lead primarily because its 
scientists made deadly germ tests on people as well as on 
laboratory animals. These human guinea pigs were mostly Chi­
nese prisoners, some Russians and, as one Japanese participant 
put it, some miscellaneous' 'half-breeds." It is estimated that at 
least three thousand people were killed in these experiments, 
either by succumbing to disease or by execution when they had 
become physical wrecks and were no longer fit for further 
experiments. 2 This much of the story has been available­
although denied by Tokyo and Washington-for several years. 

What has not been known until now is that among the 
human guinea pigs were an unknown number of American 
soldiers, captured during the early part of the war and confined 
in prisoner-of-war camps in Manchuria not far from the experi­
mental laboratories. Until recently we also lacked proof that the 
U. S. Government had long known of these war crimes but that it 
had suppressed the evidence because it desired to secure exclu­
sive possession of Japanese technology. Retribution for the 
torture and murder of captured American soldiers was fore­
sworn in the interests of "national security." 

Long "top secret" U.S. documents which I have obtained 
under the Freedom of Information Act reveal the details and call 
into question the basic morality of numerous highly placed 
American officials of the time. Even members of the U.S. 
medical profession were involved in the cover up of inhuman­
ities which made a mockery of the physician's oath. 

The story begins in 1931 shortly after the Manchurian 
Incident when Japan occupied China's Northeast provinces and 
when a Japanese Army surgeon named Ishii Shiro persuaded his 
superiors of the feasibility of BW as an inexpensive weapon 
potentially capable of producing enormous casualties. 3 Ishii, 
who finally rose to the rank of Lieutenant-General, eventually 
built a large, self-contained installation with sophisticated germ 
and insect breeding facilities, a prison for the human experimen­
tees, testing grounds, an arsenal for making germ bombs, an 
airfield, its own special planes and a crematorium for the final 
disposal of its human victims. 

It is possible that some of Gen. Ishii's BW attacks went 
undetected, either because they were failures or because the 
resulting outbreaks of disease were attributed to natural causes 
by the victims. However, some were recognized by the Chi­

nese. Official archives of the People's Republic give the number 
of cities subjected to Japanese BW attacks as eleven, while the 
number of victims of artificially disseminated plague alone is 
placed at approximately 700 between 1940 and 1944.4 The 
Soviet Union has given no details, only stating that it was the 
victim of BW attacks. 

Two particular incidents were noted by the press at the 
time. The Chinese Nationalists claimed that on Oct. 27, 1940, 
the Japanese dropped plague on Ningbo, a city in east China 
near Shanghai. The incident was not proved in an acceptable 
scientific manner, but the observed facts were highly suspici­
ous. Something was seen to come out of a Japanese plane 
circling the city. Later, there was a heavy infestation of fleas and 
99 people came down with plague, with all but one dying. The 
rats in the city did not have plague, although traditionally 
outbreaks of plague in the human population always follow an 
epidemic in the rat population. 

On the morning of November 4, 1941, a Japanese plane 
circled low over Changde, a city in Hunan Province. Instead of 

When Soviet tanks crossed the Siberian-Man­
churian border at midnight on August 8, 1945, Japan 
was less than a week away from unconditional surren­
der. However, in those few days ofgrace, the Japanese 
destroyed their BW installations in China, killing the 
remaining human guinea pigs ("It took 30 hours to lay 
them in ashes"), and shipped out most of their person­
nel and some of the more valuable equipment to South 
Korea. 

bombs, the plane dropped grains of wheat and rice, pieces of 
paper and cotton wadding, which fell mainly in two streets in the 
city's East Gate District. During the next three weeks six people 
living on the two streets died, all with symptoms similar to those 
of plague. Dr. Chen Wen-kwei, one of China's leading physi­
cians who had previously served with the League of Nations in 
India as a plague expert, arrived at the head of a team of public 
health doctors just as the last victim died. He performed the 
autopsy, found symptoms of plague which were confirmed by 
culture and animal tests. Again, there was no plague outbreak in 
the rat popUlation. 5 

When Soviet tanks crossed the Siberian-Manchurian bor­
der at midnight on August 8, 1945, Japan was less than a week 
away from unconditional surrender. However, in those few 
days of grace, the Japanese destroyed their BW installations in 
China, killed the remaining human guinea pigs ("It took 30 
hours to lay them in ashes")6, and shipped out most of their 
personnel and some of the more valuable equipment to South 
Korea. 7 It has been reported that some of the equipment taken 
by the fleeing BW experts was later smuggled into Japan. R 

At the December 1949 Soviet trial at Khabarovsk, actions 

\ 

\ 
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Chinese photographs showing ruins of the central laboratory of Unit 731 
at Pingfang Station near Harbin, Manchuria. Japanese personnel de­
stroyed the installation prior to their flight to South Korea at the end of 
World War II. This and the pictures on pages 5, 6, and 7 are taken from 
the catalogue of the BW exhibition in Beijing in 1952, "Exhibition on 
Bacteriological War Crimes Committed by the Government of the 
United States of America," pages 9 and 10. J. W. Powell personally 
saw the exhibition. 

of gross depravity were revealed and evidence was produced 
confinning the Nationalist Chinese BW charges,9 Military 
orders, railroad waybills for shipment of BW supplies and 
numerous other incriminating Japanese documents were intro­
duced in evidence. 10 

Describing the operation ofishii's main BW factory, code 
named Unit 731, the transcript summary states: 

Experts have calculated. , , that (it) was capable ofbreed­
ing, in the course ofone production cycle, lasting only a few 
days, no less than 30,000,000 billion microbes, . , . That 
explains why, , , bacteria quantities (are given) in kilo­
grams, thus referring to the weight of the thick, creamy 
bacteria mass skimmed directly from the surface ofthe cul­
ture medium, t I 

Total bacteria production capacity at this one installation was 
eight tons per month. 12 

Euphemistically called a "water purification unit," Gen. 
Ishii's organization also worked on non-BW medical projects. 
(He did develop effective water purification equipment.) In the 
Asian countries it overran, the Japanese Anny conscripted local 
young women to "entertain" the troops. The medical difficul­
ties resulting from this practice, in which entire platoons were 
lined up as each man waited his turn at the" comfort stations, " 
became acute. In an effort to solve this problem, Chinese 
women confined in the detachment's prison "were infected 
with syphillis with the object of investigating preventive means 
against this disease. " 13 

Another experiment revealed at the Khabarovsk trial was 
the "freezing project. " 

Prisoners were led outdoors "at times of great frost, with 
temperatures oelow -20 degrees [F] (about 4 degrees [C] 
below zero).Their arms were bared and made to freeze with 
the help of an artifical current of air. This was done until 
their frozen arms, when struck with a short stick, emitted a 
sound resembling that which a board gives out when it is 
struck. 14 

Once back inside, various procedures for thawing were tried. 
One account of 731's prison, adjacent to the laboratories, 
described men and women with rotting hands from which the 
bones protruded-victims of the freezing tests. Documentary 
films were made of some of the more interesting of these 
experiments. 

Up to this point the evidence is from Nationalist Chinese, 
People's Republic of China and Soviet sources, the last includ­
ing testimony by Japanese prisoners-of-war who might have 
spoken under some pressure. However, some of the participants 
who escaped to Japan subsequently broke their vows of silence 
which were taken at the time the unit was disbanded. Among the 
hundreds of war-time recollections published by Japanese ex­
servicemen are a few by fonner members of Unit 731. Hiroshi 
Akiyama told his story in two magazine articles;ls Bumpei 
Kimura, a fonner captain, has published his memoirs, t6 while 
Sakaki Ryohei, a fonner major, has described how plague was 
spread by air-dropping rats and voles (mice-like rodents) and 
has given details of the flea "nurseries" developed by Ishii for 
rapid production of millions of fleas. 17 

But the most dramatic confinnation of the role of Ishii's 
unit was an hour-long Japanese television documentary pro­
duced by Yoshinaga Haruko and shown by the Tokyo Broad­
casting Company. A Washington Post dispatch on November 
19, 1976, reported that 

in the little-publicized television documentary of the germ 
warfare unit, Yoshinaga laid bare secrets closely held in 
Japan during and since the war. (She) traveled throughout 
Japan to track down 20 former members ofthe wartime unit 
.... Four ofthe men finally agreed to help, and the repor­
ter found their testimony dovetailed with reports ofwar crime 
trials held in the Soviet Union . ... 

Some of those interviewed by Y oshinaga claimed that they had 
told their stories to Gen. MacArthur's headquarters. Eguchi 
stated that he "was the second to be ordered to G.H.Q." and 
"they took a record" of his testimony. Takahashi, an ex-sur­
geon and Anny major stated: "I went to the G.H.Q. twice in 
1947. Investigators made me write reports on the condition that 
they will protect me from the Soviets." Kumamoto, an ex-flight 
engineer, stated that after the war Gen. Ishii went to America 
and "took his re~earch data and begged for remission for us 
all. "18 

The Post tried to check these allegations and reported: 
"Press officers at the U.S. Defense and Justice Department said 
that they had no infonnation on the charges but would investi­
gate." Two years later I wrote to both departments, asking if 
their investigations had been completed. The Justice Depart­
ment replied that the matter did not fall within its jurisdiction 
and consequently knew nothing about it. The Defense Depart­
ment initially replied that it could not find the Post article. After 
more correspondence my inquiry was referred to the depart­
ment's "audio-visual" section which said that it had no such 
film in its library. * 
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Once the fact had been established that Ishii had used 
Chinese and others as laboratory test subjects, it seemed a fair 
assumption that he also might have used American prisoners, 
possibly British, and perhaps even Japanese. In some instances 
there are-probably due to a people's history of exposure to 
certain diseases, and other unknown factors-variations in dif­
ferent populations' reactions to the same pathogen. Until 
recently the only hints were two brief references buried in the 
1949 Soviet trial summary, one of which noted: "As early as 
1943, Minata, a researcher belonging to Detachment 731, was 
sent to prisoner-of-war camps to test the properties of the blood 
and immunity to contagious diseases of American soldiers." 19 

For some inexplicable reason the Soviet prosecutors let this 
and a few other fascinating leads slip by. However, the perfor­
mance of American prosecutors at the Tokyo War Crimes Trials 
also frequently left something to be desired. Not only did they 
appear loath to pursue similar reports about the fate of these 
American prisoners but they showed a distinct lack of interest in 
the entire BW issue. 

When the Jiang Jieshi [Chiang Kai-shek] government re­
turned to its capital at Nanjing at the end of the war, it found 
evidence of still another Japanese BW installation, the TAMA 
Detachment. Established in Nanjing as a sub-unit of 731 in 
1939, it grew into a large independent organization with 12 
branches and 1500 personnel and had equipment for growing 
and harvesting bacteria, raising vectors, etc. 20 It, too, per­
formed medical experiments on prisoners. The Chinese procur­
ator at Nanjing sent a report on the TAMA Detachment's ac­
tivities to the International Military Tribunal in Tokyo, asking 
that it be included in the war crimes charges against the Japa­
nese. At the insistence of China, the issue was finally brought 
up. The official transcript for August 29, 1946, records an 
exchange between the Court and David N. Sutton, one of the 
American prosecuting attorneys: 

Mr. Sutton: The enemy's TAMA Detachment carried off 
their civilian captives to the medical laboratory, where the 
reactions to poisonous serum were tested. This detachment 
was one ofthe most secret organizations. The number ofper­
sons slaughtered by this detachment cannot be ascertained. 

The President: Are you going to give us any further 
evidence of these alleged laboratory tests for reactions to 
poisonous serums? This is something entirely new, we haven't 
heard before. Are you going to leave it at that? 

Mr. Sutton: We do not at this time anticipate introduc­
ing additional evidence on that subject. 

One of the defense attorneys objected that Sutton had not 
introduced sufficient evidence for his charge and suggested that 
the whole thing might have been a vaccination program carried 

*Obtaining significant material under FOIA usually requires considerable pati­
ence, but even then it is often a matter of luck. Several queries to the Defense 
Department about Yoshinga's BW documentary produced no results but one 
letter ended up with a conscientious lieutenant who replied that while he could 
find no reference to the film, he had located a file on Japanese BW. It contained 
most of the cables between Tokyo and Washington and some of the BW reports 
cited later in this article. 

I have also had a special advantage in this search since numerous docu­
ments, still not formally declassified, were discussed in meetings between 
representatives of various government agencies during our legal imbroglio in the 
1950s and thus the documents themselves, or descriptions of their contents, tum 
up in personal dossiers obtained under the Privacy Act. 

Chinese photograph taken in April 1950 of the remains of the cre­
matorium where Gen. Ishii's Unit 731 disposed of the bodies of its 
human guinea pigs. Later testimony by Japanese participants estimated 
that three thousand persons were killed in the experiments there. 

out by the Japanese for the benefit of the Chinese populace. The 
court agreed and ruled the Nanjing BW evidence inadmis­
sible. 21 It was later claimed that the Chinese Nationalists had 
not carried out a proper investigation. However, it does seem 
strange that the prosecution did not pursue this rather sensa­
tionallead and undertake its own investigation. Even the judge 
was startled, calling it "something entirely new" and asking 
Sutton if he was just "going to leave it at that?" Sutton had a 
stick of dynamite in his hand, and even though the judge seemed 
to be trying to push him along, he apparently could not-or 
perhaps would not-recognize it. 

If some branches of the American Government exhibited 
an inability and/or reluctance to investigate the many available 
BW leads, other agencies quietly pursued them and learned 
quite a bit about the Japanese program, even before the end of 
World War II. Now declassified is a January 28, 1944 memoran­
dum for the Joint Intelligence Staff from the Chief of Naval 
Operations: "It was reported on 21 December 1943 by a reliable 
source that the Japanese Army maintained a bacteriological 
warfare laboratory in Kyoto ...." The memo also mentioned 
some of the earlier Chinese reports and noted that another 
unsubstantiated document stated "that early in 1941 fishing 
operations near Otam in the Island of Hokkaido were suspended 
(because) cultures of bubonic plague bacteria had been inadver­
tently dumped into the sea as a result of flood damage to the 
laboratories at the University ofOtam." 
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Among recently released documents from U.S. intelli­
gence files is a report from U.S. Army G-2 in China in which a 
Japanese captive stated that when 

Japanese troops overran an area in which a BW attack had 
been made during the Chekiang campaign in 1942. [Japa­
nese] casualties upwardfrom 10.000 resulted within a very 
brief . .. time. Diseases were particularly cholera. but also 
dysentery and [plague]. Victims were [rushed] to hospitals 
in rear . .. but cholera victims. usually being treated too 
late. mostly died. Statistics which POW saw at Water Supply 
and Purification Dept. Hq. at Nanking [TAMA Detachment 
headquarters] showed more than 1700 dead . ... POW be­
lieves that actual deaths were considerably higher. "it being 
a common practice to pare down unpleasant figures." . 

The report concludes by describing the captured informant, who 
worked in the Nanjing and Jiujiang [Kiukiang] BW installa­
tions, as "very intelligent and sincere .... It is felt that his 
information can be accepted as reliable. "22 

Writing nearly ten years after the end of the war, Maj. Gen. 
William Creasy, chief chemical officer of the U.S. Army, re­
vealed that the Anny had long been concerned about Japan's 
BW activities. Saying that he had initially feared that the Japa­
nese paper balloon bombs which fell on the United States during 
the war might have been germ carriers, he added: "It was 
known that the Japanese had, since 1932, been actively in­
terested in its [BW's] possibilities. By 1937 they were operating 
research and testing facilities ..." 23 

Documents at the Truman Library reveal that the United 
States began investigating Japan' s BW activities in the im­
mediate post-war period. Shortly after the surrender President 
Truman sent a scientific survey party to Japan headed by Dr. 
Karl Compton, president of the Massachusetts Institute ofTech­
nology. On Oct. 3, less than two months after the surrender, 
Compton was back in Washington to give Truman a personal 
briefing on the survey's initial findings. On the following day he 
sent Truman a six-page summary. 24 

The entire document is quite informative. but the analysis 
of the Japanese BW effort is of particular interest: 

Ruins of Unit 100 at Mongatong, Changchun, as shown in Chinese 
photographs taken in March 1'i50. This installation. headed by Maj. 
Gen. Wakarnatsu Yujiro. worked chiefly on livestock diseases but also 
used human guinea pigs in experiments aimed at developing new human 
infections from animal pathogens. 

In these early conversations Ishii revealed himself 
as an astute observer of his American interrogators. 
He played upon their fears by ascribing to Commu­
nists, both Chinese and Russian, a ruthlessness and 
disregard for human life which was an exact portrait 
of himself. 

In only one field, bacteriology, had our mission un­
covered any Japanese scientific work which added anything 
to our own state of knowledge or art . ... Our medical and 
bacteriological members in close cooperation with the Chief 
Surgeon's Office are intensively continuing their study of 
these developments. It appears that Japan has made some 
vigorous preparation against biological warfare. Thus far 
they have denied any intention ofinaugurating or preparing 
for offensive bacteriological warfare, but we doubt this de­
nial and are pursuing the subjectfurther. 

From available information it appears that the investigation 
dragged on for several months. Some of the top B W people were 
eventually located. Gen. Ishii maintained that all work had been 
defensive, that his was basically a water purification effort 
because the Chinese, especially the Chinese Communists, were 
inveterate well-poisoners and because he had reason to believe 
that the Soviets were planning to attack Japanese forces with 
germs. 25 

In these early conversations Ishii revealed himself as an 
astute observer of his American interrogators. He played upon 
their fears by ascribing to Communists, both Chinese and Rus­
sian. a ruthlessness and disregard for human life which was an 
exact portrait of himself. He also appeared to be laying the 
ground for self-justification in the event that his activities were 
finally exposed. Later, when the secret did come out, Ishii 
maintained that his work was in reaction to known earlier 
Communist efforts in the field. "They" were doing it so Japan 
had to get to work to prevent being put at a military disadvantage. 

But in the initial interviews. all dissembled. Gen. Kitano 
Masaji, who headed Unit 731 during a lengthy absence by Ishii, 
also would not give any worthwhile information. It was the 
same with Gen. Wakamatsu Yujiro, who had been in charge of 
another major BW installation, Unit 100, that dealt mainly with 
animal diseases. (It. however, also used people, seeing what 
livestock diseases would infect humans.)Zf> All records had been 
destroyed, they claimed, and the personnel scattered. 

It is one of the ironies of history that the United States 
investigation might have been inconclusive had it not been for 
the Soviets and the Chinese Nationalists. These strange bedfel­
lows tried to force a showdown with the United States. Both 
revealed the incriminating evidence they had gathered. The 
Soviets produced copies of their interrogations of two of the 
most knowledgeable BW personnel they had captured. The 
transcripts described laboratory work, breeding of vectors; the 
prisoners admitted to human experiments and described Ishii's 
solution of the problem of delivery via special bombs. 27 
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Ishii Shiro, the founder of Unit 731 and the leading figure in Japan's BW 
program. Ishii eventually rose to the rank of Lt. Gen. and in the post-war 
years, in exchange for immunity to war crimes charges, directed the 
transfer to Fort Detrick of the Japanese scientific data on biological 
warfare. 

At this point there is some uncertainty as to how this 
infonnation was transmitted. U.S. documents seem to indicate 
that the infonnation went to MacArthur's headquarters and that 
only later did the International Prosecution Section (IPS) get 
wind of it. However, the Soviets give a different version. 
According to them, after the War Crimes Tribunal refused to 
admit the Chinese evidence against the T AMA Detachment, the 
Soviet prosecution team "handed Joseph B. Keenan, the Chief 
American prosecutor, the written evidence of Kawashima and 
Karasawa. . , ," 28 

If the Soviet version is correct, it is difficult to understand 
why Keenan and his prosecution staff did not immediately 
launch their own full-scale investigation of Japanese BW ac­
tivities. In any event, it is clear that this infonnation quickly got 
into intelligence and high level channels where the decision was 
made to conceal all BW infonnation. 

Anned with this Soviet-supplied material, MacArthur's 
staff re-interviewed Ishii and all other known BW personnel. 
Their denials started coming apart. There then began an ex­
change of urgent secret messages between Tokyo and Washing­
ton. On February 10, 1947,CINCFE(CommanderinChief,Far 
East) advised the War Department that the Soviets were pushing 
for pennission to interview Ishii and all others. He stated that he 
didn't believe they could learn anything from such interviews 
that the United States didn't already know but he thought that 
some new leads might be picked up by analyzing the Russian 
line of questioning. 29 
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Washington replied that the Soviet Union had no legal 
basis for such a request since the Japanese had allegedly used 
BW against China and it was thus none of Russia's business. 
However, it might be granted as an "amiable gesture," provided 
certain precautions were taken. First, the Japanese were once 
again to be re-interviewed by the most competent U.S. person­
nel available. If such interviews brought out any new or signifi­
cant infonnation, the Japanese were to be instructed not to 
reveal that information to the Soviet questioners. And last, the 
Japanese were to be told to make no mention to the Soviet 
authorities that they had ever been interviewed by the U.S. 
investigators. 30 

Three months later-after an American BW expert had 
been sent from Washington to direct the re-interviewing-the 
investigation was hitting pay dirt. On May 6, 1947, Tokyo 
cabled Washington: 

Statements obtained from Japanese here confirm state­
ments ofUSSR prisoners . .. ,Experiments on humans were 
known to and described by three Japanese and confirmed 
tacitly by Ishii; field trials against Chinese took place . ... 
scope ofprogram indicated by report. . . that 400 kilograms 
[880 pounds Jofdried anthrax organisms destroyed [at 731J 
in August 1945.... Reluctant statements by Ishii indicate 
he had superiors (possibly general staff) who knew and 
authorized the program. Ishii states that if guaranteed im­
munity from' 'war crimes" in documentary form for himself, 
superiors and subordinates. he can describe program in 
detail. Ishii claims to have extensive theoretical high-level 

A. C.. i S., G·2 
GHQ SCAP 

arch 50 . 1947 
Russ Interro.:;;ationSUBJECT Bacteriology on 'lIar Crimes Sasis 

TO Col Sackton 
I feel that I must advise the CiS on this 

ID3.tter and reiterate certain pointe : 
, Ii D interrogated the Japs, 1~8t year
2 Their product is "T"p Secret" and now in hands 

of U S ChmnicalCorsp. 
;; ~is were WlIn ed not to let the Rusdana in on th: 
4 They have been at us for months. 
5 We s.talled : F,Jiling in this, the Russ now 

approaches this via the War Crimes Theor,r 
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to get their hands on these people and take 
them away. They were in the War five Days. 
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8 They specifically prohibit this method : See 

Sec II Easic Radio 94446. 
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Fig. 1. Front page in Sakaki Ryohei's article, 


"Bacteriological Warfare". 


This and the illustrations of pages 9 and 10 are taken from the" Report of 
the Inte~ational Scientific Commission for the Investigation of the Facts 
Concernmg Bactenal Warfare in Korea and China." published in Bei­
jing in 1952. between pages 286 & 287. 

knowledge including strategic and tactical use of BW on 
defense and offense, backed by some research on best BW 
agents to employ by geographical areas ofFar East, and the 
use ofBW in cold climates. 3 t 

At this point the jockeying had become three-cornered and 
intense. The Soviets were demanding either that BW be made an 
issue at the war crimes trial and that Ishii et al. be put in the dock 
or that they be turned over to the Soviets for trial in the Soviet 
Union. 32 MacArthur's staff, while temporizing with the USSR 
representatives, demanded that Ishii tell all, and Ishii stalled, 
asking for immunity against prosecution for his crimes against 
China, all the while doling out a few tidbits, shrewdly hinting 
that he knew how to use germs in "cold climates" (Siberia?). 
From then on, there was barely a mention of the Chinese 
Nationalists and their desire for retribution against Ishii and his 
colleagues. IfWashington thought that it was none of the Soviet 
Union's business, it apparently also thought that it was none of 
China's business. It had become entirely America's business. 

Washington replieci (0 MacArthur's foregoing revelation 
in a top secret priority cable asking ifishii or any other Japanese 
BW personnel had already been named or were marked for 
naming as war criminals. 33 Tokyo's response was by Col. Alva 
C. Carpenter of SCAP's (Supreme Commander Allied Powers) 

Le~al Section, who "coordinated" his reply with the IPS, 
WhICh was working on the war criminal prosecutions. In view of 
the flurry of activity and the knowledge MacArthur and Wash­
ington already had of Japan's BW activities, Col. Carpenter's 
cable of June 7, 1947, makes interesting reading: 

The reports and files of the Legal Section in [sic] Ishii 
and his coworkers are based on anonymous letters, hearsay 
affidavits and rumors. The Legal Section interrogations, to 
date, ofthe numerous persons concerned with the BWproject 
in China, do not reveal sufficient evidence to support war 
crime charges. The alleged victims are ofunknown identity. 
Unconfirmed allegations are to the effect that criminals, 
farmers, women and children were usedfor BW experimen­
tal purposes. The Japanese Communist party alleges that 
"Ishi BKA" (Bacterial War Army) conducted experiments 
on captured Americans in Mukden* and that simultaneously, 
research on similar lines was conducted in Tokyo and Kyoto. 
None of Ishii's subordinates are charged or held as war 
crimes suspects, nor is there sufficient evidence onfile against 
them . ... 34 

Three weeks later, on June 27, Col. Carpenter again 
cabled Washington, stating that there is now "strong circum­
stantial ev~dence" of Japanese use of BW. After setting forth 
~he alleg~tlons, he added: "IPS of the opinion that foregoing 
mformatlOn warrants conclusion that Japanese PW [sic] group 
headed by Ishii did violate rules of land warfare, but this 
expression of opinion is not a recommendation that group be 
charged .and tried for such." Col. Carpenter then explained that 
more eVId~nce was needed, plus collaboration and "testing for 
trustworthmess by a thorough investigation." He concluded 
with an involved lawyer-like statement of the difficulties of 
making a case, the problems of the rules ofevidence set down by 
the tribunal and so on. 35 

Carpenter apparently gave Washington what it wanted 
because sections of his prose- "anonymous," "hearsay," 
"rumors," "unconfirmed," "not . . . sufficient evidence" 
"not a r~comm.e?dation that group be charged" -appear in 
later offiCIal poSItIon papers recommending immunity for Ishii's 
group. ** 

Space does not allow review of numerous other documents 
and cables which reveal even more. There are indications that Ja­
pan's BW program may have been much larger than even U.S. 
investigators at the time suspected. U.S. medical intelligence 
of~~ers in ~he Pacific noted with interest the fact that Japanese 
mtlitary UDlts frequently had quite sophisticated "water purifi­
cation" units whose equipment included ingenious portable 
laboratories. U.S. military doctors could not understand the 
purpose of some of the equipment, such as germ-proof suits. 
Reports of unusual outbreaks of disease along the Central China 
front in the 1940s, appear more suggestive today than at the 
time. 36 

* The emphasized portion was underlined on the Pentagon' s copy of the cable 
released by the National Archives. 

* * Col. Carpenter later achieved prominence as one of the leading witch hunters 
of the 1950.s when he served as chief counsel of the Senate Internal Security 
Sub-Committee (Jenner Committee) which conducted well-publicized investi­
gations of Americans holding political beliefs which it considered disloyal or 
subversive. 
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However, a memo prepared by Dr. Edward Wettert and 
Mr. H.I. Stubblefield on July 1, 1947, for restricted circulation 
to a handful ofmilitary and State Department officials is unusual 
in its frankness. 

They reported that Ishii and his colleagues were cooperat­
ing fully, had prepared and were preparing voluminous reports 
and had agreed to supply photographs of "selected examples of 
8,000 slides of tissues from autopsies of humans and animals 
subjected to BW experiments." Human experiments, they 
pointed out, were better than animal experiments. They also 
stated that the USSR was believed to be in possession of "only a 
small portion of this technical information" and that since" any 
'war crimes' trial would completely reveal such data to all 
nations, it is felt that such publicity must be avoided in the 
interests of defense and national security of the U. S." They 
emphasized that the knowledge gained by the Japanese from 
their experiments "will·be of great value to the U.S. BW 
research program" and added: "The value to U.S. of Japanese 
BW data is of such importance to national security as to far 
outweigh the value accruing from war crimes prosecution." 37 

A July 15 response to the Wetter-Stubblefield memo by 
Mr. Cecil F. Hubbert, a member of SWNCC (State, War, Navy 
Coordinating Committee), agreed but warned that there may be 
some problems ahead because "experiments on human beings 
similar to those conducted by the Ishii group have been con­
demned as war crimes by the International Military Tribunal" in 
Germany. Hubbert added that the United States "is at present 
prosecuting leading German scientists and medical doctors at 
Nuremberg for offenses which included experiments on human 
beings which resulted in the suffering and death of most of those 
experimented upon." 

Hubbert also warned that the whole thing might leak out if 
the Soviets were to bring it up in cross examining major Japa­
nese war criminals and warned of a potential bomb shell: 

It should be kept in mind that there is a remote possibility that 
independent investigation conducted by the Soviets in the 
Mukden area may have disclosed evidence that American 
prisoners of war were used for experimental purposes ofa 
BW nature and that they lost their lives as a result of these 
experiments. . . . 

Despite these risks, Hubbert agreed with Wetter and Stubble­
field and recommended that the matter be kept secret and that the 
Japanese BW personnel be given immunity from prosecution as 
war criminals. His memo included a number of recommended 
changes for the final position paper, including the following 
casuistry: "The data on hand. . . does not appear sufficient at 
this time to constitute a basis for sustaining a war crimes charge 
against Ishii and/or his associates."38 

A number of medical doctors were put to work evaluating 
the Japanese material. One of the first of Washington's BW 
experts to conduct an on-the-spot investigation was Dr. Norbert 
H. Fell, who went to Japan in early April 1947. By the end of 

t Wetteris variously described as "Dr. " and as "Mr." in official documents. A 
summary of the minutes of the July IS, 1947, meeting of the Committee on 
Biological Warfare, noted that Edward Wetter became Panel Director as ofJune 
30, 1947. Onlan. 24,1952, Mr. Edward Wetter, Deputy Executive Director of 
the Committee on Biological Warfare of the Defense Department Research and 
Development Board, gave an off-the-record' 'presentation of the status" of BW 
work before the House Appropriations Sub-Committee. All attempts to secure a 
copy of Wetter's testimony have been unsuccessful. 

June Dr. Fell was back in Washington. One message from 
Tokyo says its "pertinent" cables should be shown to Dr. Fell 
as "he is expert investigator with latest local information."39 

A report by Dr. Edwin V. Hill, M.D., Chief, Basic Sci­
ences, Camp Detrick, Maryland, reveals a portion of the techni­
cal data secured from Ishii and his colleagues during a trip to 
Japan by Hill and Dr. Joseph Victor. 40 Acknowledging the 
"wholehearted cooperation of Brig. Gen. Charles A. Willough­
by," MacArthur's intelligence chief, Dr. Hill wrote that the 
objectives were to obtain additional material clarifying reports 
already submitted by the Japanese, "to examine human patho­
logical material which had been transferred to Japan from B. W. 
installations, and "to obtain protocols* necessary for under­
standing the significance of the pathological material." 

Drs. Hill and Victor interviewed 19 Japanese BW experts 
and checked out the results of individual experiments with a 

* Webster defines "protocols;' used in this sense, as "the notes or records 
relating to a case, an experiment, or an autopsy." 

Diagram of the porcelain bcmb. 
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score of human and animal diseases, plus their work with plant 
diseases. They also investigated Ishii's decontamination proce­
dures and his system for spreading disease via bacteria-laden 
aerosol sprayed from planes. Dr. Ota Kiyoshi described his 
anthrax experiments, including the number of people infected 
and the number who died. Ishii told the doctors about his 
experiments with botulism and brucellosis. Drs. Hayakawa 
Kiyoshi and Yamanouchi Yujiro also provided Hill and Victor 
with results of other brucellosis experiments, including the 
number of the human experimentees who died. 

Dr. Hill concluded his report by pointing out that the ma­
terial was a financial bargain, was obtainable nowhere else, and 
he ended with a plea on behalf of Ishii and his colleagues: 

Evidence gathered in this investigation has greatly sup­
plemented and amplified previous aspects of this field. It 
represents data which have been obtained by Japanese scien­
tists at the expenditure ofmany millions ofdollars and years 
of work. Information has accrued with respect to human 
susceptibility to those diseases as indicated by specific in-

Fig. 5. Samples of Ishii earthenware bombs 
collected from the ruins of the factory near 
Harbin where they were made during the 

second world war. 

fectious doses of bacteria. Such information could not be 
obtained in our own laboratories because of scruples at­
tached to human experimentation. These data were secured 
with a total outlay of ¥250, 000 to date, a mere pittance by 
comparison with the actual cost ofthe studies. 

Furthermore, the pathological material which has been 
collected constitutes the only material evidence ofthe nature 
ofthese experiments. It IS hoped that individuals who volun­
tarily contributed this information will be spared embarrass­
ment because of it and that every effort will be taken to 
prevent this information from falling into other hands. 

The Japanese BW experts whom Dr. Hill hoped would "be 
spared embarrassment:' not only infected their human guinea 
pigs with diseases to see how many would die, but on occasion 
-in their pursuit of exact scientific information-made certain 
that they did not survive. A group would be brought down with a 
disease and, as the infection developed, individuals would be 
selected out of the group and killed and autopsied so that the 
ravages of the disease could be ascertained at various time 
intervals. 

Gen. Kitano Masaji and Dr. Kasahara Shiro revealed this 
practice when discussing their work on Songo (hemorrhagic) 
fever: "Subsequent cases were produced either by blood or 
blood-free extracts of liver, spleen or kidney derived from 
individuals sacrificed at various times during the course of the 
disease. Morphine was employed for this purpose."41 Kitano 
and Kasahara also described the "sacrificing" of a human 
experimentee when he apparently was recovering from an attack 
of tick encephalitis. "Mouse brain suspension ... was injected 
. . . and produced symptoms after an incubation period of 7 
days. Highest temperature was 39.8°C [HWFj. This subject 
was sacrificed when fever was subsiding, about the 12th day. " 

Obviously our BW doctors at Detrick learned a great deal 
from their Japanese counterparts. While we do not yet know just 
how much this information advanced the American program, 
we have the doctors' own testimony that it was' 'invaluable." In 
a few instances it is known that later U. S. BW weapons were at 
least similar to ones developed earlier by the Japanese. 

Infecting feathers with spore diseases was one of Ishii's 
ideas and feather bombs later became a standard weapon in 
America's BW arsenal. 42 The late Dr. Theodor Rosebury noted 
the uncertainties of projecting human disease patterns from 
work on laboratory animals and said that "if we are to learn 
anything of the potency of BW agents for man, we must get our 
information from man directly.' '43 He further pointed out that 
accidental infections of laboratory workers were very important 
to BW work. Certainly Ishii's thousands of controlled experi­
ments on human guinea pigs constituted a treasure trove of 
scientific information unmatched in the history of medicine. 

A vailable documents do not reveal whether anyone knows 
even the names of the Chinese, Russians, "half-breeds" and 
Americans whose lives were prematurely ended by massive 
doses of plague, typhus, dysentery, gas gangrene, hemorrhagic 
fever, typhoid, cholera, anthrax, tularemia, smallpox, tsutusga­
mushi and glanders, or by such grotesqueries as being pumped 
full of horse blood or having their livers destroyed by prolonged 
exposure to X-rays, or those subjected to vivisection. 

We do know, however, that because of the "national 
security" interests of the United States, Gen. Ishii and many of 
the top members of unit 731 lived out their full lives, suffering 
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only the natural diseases and afflictions ofold age. A few, such 
as Gen. Kitano, enjoyed exceptional good health and at the time 
of writing were living in quiet retirement. 

On Nov. 25, 1969, President Nixon renounced the use of 
BW, declaring: 

Biological weapons have massive unpredictable and poten­
tially uncontrollable consequences. They may produce glo­
bal epidemics and impair the health offuture generations. I 
have therefore decided that the U.S. shall renounce the use of 
lethal biological agents and weapons, and all other methods 
ofbiological warfare. 44 

Within hours officials in Washington began qualifying the 
President's statement. On the same day Defense Secretary Mel­
vin Laird told Sen. Charles Mathias, Jr. (R-Md.) that "there 
will be no major impact on ... basic research in defense 
systems. . . ."45 

Nearly a year later Seymour Hersh reported in the Wash­
ington Post that the programs the anny wanted to continue 
"under defensive research included a significant effort to de­
velop and produce virulent strains of new biological agents, 
then develop defenses against them. 'This sounds very much 
like what we were doing before,' one official noted caus­
tically. . . ."46 

In the ensuing years there have been numerous indications 
of a continuing strong Pentagon interest in BW. In an article in 
Science Samuel Goldhaber noted that the U.S. planned to main­
tain a sizeable "defensive" BW research effort and that al­
though the White House had stated that this work would be 
completely unclassified, the Anny later declared that it would 
remain secret.47 This was to be accomplished by transferring 
240 civilian and 190 military personnel from the Fort Detrick 
BW center, which was slated for closing, to the Anny's Dugway 
(Utah) Proving Grounds where the defensive BW effort would 
be centered and remain classified. 

A number of observers viewed the decision to keep BW 
work classified with apprehension. Two American Nobel laure­
ates expressed concern over the dangers inherent in secret BW 
research.48 Matthew W. Meselson, Harvard professor of biol­
ogy, said that secret research might permit the biological war­
fare establishment to linger quietly until public opinion lets it 
flourish once again. James D. Watson, director of the Cold 
Spring Harbor laboratories and also a Harvard biologist, stated: 
"I can't really imagine anything they would have to do that 
would have to be classified. I think that the whole apparatus 
should be dismantled except for people continuously studying 
plague on an open basis." 

II 

New York Times. Nov. 26. 1969. 

Initially the Anny announced that Fort Detrick would 
either be declared surplus and closed or converted to ordinary 
medical research. Despite a number of suggested uses, such as 
turning it into a center for cancer studies, the Anny apparently 
could not find a tenant willing to assume the financial burden of 
operating the installation. 

The problem was eventually solved when the Anny changed 
its mind and decided to maintain a small "biodefensive" 
research program at Detrick and lease some of its facilities to 
other government agencies, including the Department of 
Agriculture, which agreed to establish a unit there for the study 
of plant diseases. 49 At the time some critics charged that the 
Agriculture Department was not establishing a "new" unit, but 
was simply taking over the Anny's already functioning plant 
pathogen program. 

In early August 1972 the Soviet Minister of Health, Boris 
V. Petrovsky, was taken on a tour of Detrick and allowed to 
inspect the areas fonnedy devoted to top secret BW work. 
Reporters accompanying him had their attention called to the 
fact that the "guard post at the entrance now stands empty. "50 
In November 1977 I visited Fort Detrick and found the guard 
post manned. At the end of two days spent looking at some of 
the declassified files relating to the early history of Detrick, I 
was asked to drop in on the civilian chief of the section who 
questioned me closely about the nature of my interest in BW. It 
was very much a "permitted" visit and the areas open to me and 
two accompanying researchers were clearly limited. A directory 
posted on the wall of one office listed the installation's "ten­
ants, " most ofwhom were military medical research units, with 
some identified as belonging to the U.S. Anny Medical Re­
search Institute of Infectious Diseases (USAMRIID), which 
became the official custodian of Fort Detrick following the BW 
ban. At that time USAMRIID's commanding officer was Col. 
Dan Crozier. *51 

*In February 1963 Col. Crozier, who was then commanding officer of the U.S. 
Army Medical Unit stationed at Fort Detrick when it was openly the chief U.S. 
BW installation, co-authored an article in Military Medicine describing some of 
the latest techniques for killing target populations, including tandem disease 
doses designed to confuse medical workers. "Someof those becoming ill would 
exhibit the signs and symptoms produced by one organism, some, those of the 
second agent, while still others might present some of the features of each. A 
viral agent showing no response to specific therapy in combination with a 
bacterial agent which produces a disease with a high mortality rate if untreated, 
and with an incubation period which would allow the onset of symptoms to 
correspond to the beginning of the recovery phase of the viral disease, could 
n:sult in con~i,derable delay in the institution of proper therapy for the second 
disease.... 

http:research.48
http:secret.47


In 1978 USAMRllD became involved in a controversy 
over its insistence upon maintaining a seed culture of smallpox 
virus. In anticipation ofan official deClaration of the eradication 
of the disease, the UN's World Health Organization (WHO) 
asked that all laboratories keeping smallpox cultures either 
destroy them or turn them over to one of four UN designated 
repositories: the U.S: Center for Disease Control in Atlanta, the 
Laboratory for Smallpox Prophylaxis in Moscow, St. Mary's 
Hospital Medical College in London and the National Institute 
for Health in Tokyo. 

Military medical sources told Nicholas Wade that USA­
MRIID's desire to keep its smallpox culture was well found­
ed. 52 It was argued that because of the effectiveness ofvaccina­
tion, smallpox was not now a chosen BW weapon. However, if 
it were to be eradicated, vaccination would be discontinued, 
thus leaving future populations lacking an immunity. At that 
point smalllpox would become an excellent BW weapon and 
terrorists or a foreign power might use it to attack the United 
States. 

The Army, it was argued, would then need its culture for 
diagnostic purposes. The military informants stated that USA­
MRIID was reluctant to rely on the Center For Disease Control's 
(CDC) official sample of the virus because with the passage of 
time CDC might inadvertently destroy its stock. USAMRIID's 
concern seems excessive since a known sample of smallpox 
virus itself is not essential for serologic testing, nor is it needed 
for production of vaccine. 

There was a second holdout which did not wish to accede to 
the WHO request that it give 'up its smallpox virus sample. 53 

This was the American Type Culture Collection (ATCC) in 
Rockville, Maryland. ATCC said that it wished to maintain its 
culture for archival purposes and as a hedge against the possibil­
ity that CDC might somehow lose its sample. 

It does seem strange that USAMRIID and ATCC both felt 
that the United States required three smallpox cultures when 
most nations voluntarily gave up their samples. And, as we shall 
see, it is possible that there is still another smallpox culture 
being maintained in the United States-this time secretly. 

It has now been revealed that for years the CIA maintained 
a supply of toxins and bacterial and viral agents, most in small 
quantities, but kept in ready-to-use form. Those which deterior­
ated were constantly replenished, and it also developed its own 
arsenal of sophisticated delivery weapons. The stockpiled bio­
logicals were: anthrax, tularemia, encephalitis, valley fever, 
two forms of brucellosis, tuberculosis, two forms of salmonella, 
(one of which was chlorine resistant and thus suitable for over­
coming public water purification systems) and, finally, the 
ubiquitous smallpox. 

Washington Post, Sept. 20, 1970. 

In early 1970, following President Nixon's order for the 
destruction of biological agents, the CIA inventoried its stocks 
held "in support of operational plans." An August 23, 1975, 
memo by Thomas N. Karamessines, deputy director for Plans, 
reveals that the stockpile still existed, nearly six years after the 
destruction order. Karamessines is worried about the future of 
the agency's biologicals and states that even though the CIA's 
stocks are for research and development and are "unlisted," it 
is possible that the Defense Department might order their 
destruction. It was apparently felt that the stockpile was vulner­
able, even though officially unlisted, because it was maintained 
by the agency's Special Operations Division at Fort Detrick. 

Karamessines' memo for the CIA director, William E. 
Colby, suggests a way to save the agency's toxin and germ 
supply. He states that if the director desires to maintain the 
"special (BW) capability," the stockpile could be disposed of 
by transferring it to the "Huntingdon Research Center, Becton­
Dickinson Company, Baltimore, Maryland." He adds that he 
has already made contingency arrangements for such a move 
and that Becton-Dickinson has agreed to "store and maintain" 
the agency's biologicals and toxins for $75,000 per year. 54 

There is obviously something strange about this smallpox 
story. Army medical informants told Nicholas Wade that it was 
not a chosen weapon now but might be in the future. They 
argued, erroneously, that a smallpox culture would be needed if 
the United States were subjected to a future attack. Meanwhile, 
smallpox appears to have been one of the CIA's chosen BW 
weapon.s and apparently was considered of such value that it 
illegally kept its culture for nearly six years after all biologicals 
were banned. Further, in 1975 it was making contingency plans 
to continue to hide and preserve its sample. It is worth noting 
that the CIA's smallpox and other offensive biologicals were 
being stored and kept in readiness at Fort Detrick as late as 1975, 
some years after Detrick's offensive role was officially brought 
to an end. All of this might make more sense if the Amiy and the 
CIA knew something about smallpox that the rest of us, includ­
ing the civilian medical profession, doesn't know. Is it possible 
that our BW experts have discovered or developed a variant or 
mutant form of smallpox which they believe has potential as a 
B W weapon despite the widespread immunization against the 
disease?* 

*In the spring of 1951 reports of a severe plague (Black Death) epidemic in 
North Korea sparked a clandestine behind-the-lines raid by a V.S. medical tearn 
to ascertain the true nature of the illness. Documents released to me under the 
Priv acy Act reveal that the tearn discovered the disease to be an unusual outbreak 
of black or hemorrhagic smallpox, a virulent fulminating type of the disease 
usually causing death within a few days. Personnel manning the V.S. "germ 
watch" on North Korea had mistaken black smallpox for Black Death because 
agents reported that the victims turned black. 
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When the Army began transferring people from Detrick 
because the facility was seemingly slated for mothballs, many 
of the civilian scientists began moving to new jobs. Newsday 
reporter Drew Fetherston tracked down some of these former 
BW personnel in their new civilian or federal positions and 
asked them what they were doing. Some became upset when he 
telephoned and refused to talk. One became angry and declared 
that he was not going to tell him even the color of the pencil on 
his desk, or if, in fact, there was a pencil on his desk. From 
others the reporter got the impression that they were still work­
ing on BW.55 

Even when fully functional Detrick regularly farmed out 
research projects to various public institutions and private firms. 
The Senate Human Resources Subcommittee on Health and 
Scientific Research revealed in March 1977 that 277 outside 
contractors had been used on 740 research projects between 
1950 and 1970.56 The list included numerous universities and 
major private firms. There may be grounds for suspecting that 
the move to cut down work at Detrick was accompanied by 
initiating ties to lesser known-or even specially created­
research companies. 

Certainly this has long been a CIA device for hiding its 
unconventional warfare projects. 51 In the case of the CIA the 
linkage can sometimes be traced through personnel. While such 
ties by themselves do not necessarily provide proof of a connec­
tion, it is nevertheless worth following, as did Fetherston, the 
new careers of some of the key personnel who left Detrick when 
it was ostensibly slated for closing. 

A number of the laboratories mentioned so far as having 
ties with Detrick or of being involved in biological research are 
located in Maryland, not far from the former BW center. ATCC, 
which did not wish to give up its smallpox sample, is in Rock­
ville, Maryland. The Huntingdon Research Center, which 
expressed willingness to maintain the CIA's illegal stockpile of 
smallpox and other biological agents, is in Baltimore, while 
USAMRIID, of course, is using the old BW labs at Detrick. 
Science reported that Riley Housewright, former scientific 
director at Detrick and former president ofthe American Society 
for Microbiology (which served as one of Detrick's outside 
scientific advisory bodies), had become "vice-president and 
scientific director of Microbiological Associates, Inc., a private 
firm in Bethesda, Maryland. "58 

Attempts to trace BW activities through the expenditure of 
funds can be both frustrating and reWarding. Like the CIA, 
which has traditionally hidden some of its expenses in the 
budgets of other government agencies, Fort Detrick's financial 
arrangements were always murky. At times statements by some 
of the principals have given a clearer picture than have official 
figures. In 1959 Navy Capt. Cecil Coggins, described as Amer­

ica's first biological warfare officer and as a man who had "for 
many years been engaged in the field of mass casualty produc­
ing weapons," estimated that "33,000 scientists' years and 
nearly one-half billion dollars (had) been spent on biological 
warfare research problems. "*59 

On one occasion Army spokesmen were unable to tell even 
Congress how much was being spent. It was explained that 
expenditures were higher than the official appropriation because 
Detrick was engaged in contract work for other government 
agencies which paid for such projects out of their own budgets. 
If any of the Agriculture Department's plant disease work at its 
Detrick laboratory turns out to have a BW connection, the cost 
will show up only as part of Agriculture's yearly research 
expenses. 

On January 26, 1955, an unidentified CIA representative 
"signed out" a sample of whooping cough bacteria (Hemo­
philus pertussis) from Detrick. Internal CIA vouchers show that 
an unidentified doctor was subsequently reimbursed a few dol­
lars for the specimen, while other expenses were listed for 
contaminated clothing, vehicles and lumber, plus charges for 
dead animals, long distance phone calls and railroad tickets. 60 
The CIA is reported to have conducted other BW experiments, 
such as the successful introduction ofswine disease into Cuba. 61 
As we have seen it also kept toxins and biologicals at its Detrick 
depository long after President Nixon's order for their destruc­
tion. Shellfish toxin and cobra venom were still maintained in 
1975, six years after the ban, according to testimony before the 
Senate Select Committee on Intelligence. 62 Such CIA expen­
ses, as well as the BW-connected expenditures ofother govern­
ment agencies, properly belong in the total biological warfare 
budget. . 

In the first half of fiscal 1975 the government officially 
spent approximately six and a half million dollars on BW, all of 
it said to be on defensive efforts. 63 If, as some critics believe, 
the program to develop new biological weapons has not been 

*Although a medical officer, Dr. Coggins spent much of his naval career in 
intelligence and biological warfare activities. He developed an intelligence 
network in the Japanese community in Hawaii prior to Pearl Harbor and 
subsequently became a champion of the west coast Japanese-Americans, pro­
testing their war-time internment. During the latter portion of World War II he 
was in China as a member of SACO (Sino-American Cooperative Organiza­
tion), a Navy counterpart of the OSS which worked closely with Jiang Jieshi's 
secret police. In those days Coggins wore a Chinese Nationalist Army uniform 
and was known as Col. Kuh. He was one of the U.S. intelligence officers who 
learned about at least a portion of Japan's BW activities even before the end of 
the war. He knew about Japan's BW installation in Nanjing, the TAMA 
Detachment, and discovered that the program was directed by Gen. Ishii and 
that it operated under the guise ofa water purification plant. After the war he was 
stationed in Paris as a NATO staff officer in charge of atomic, biological and 
chemical warfare. Following his retirement as an admiral in 1959, Dr. Coggins 
became medical chiefofcivil defense in California. 

Washington Post, Jan. 9, 1977. 
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abandoned but has been concealed through the fanning out 
technique, then the real expenses must be in excess of the 
official budget. 

Such suspicions are strengthened by reports that some of 
the work has been moved abroad and has continued in the years 
since the 1969 ban. In 1974 the London New Scientist reported 
that the U.S. Defense Department had been paying two British 
doctors for research into genetically-related susceptibilities and 
intolerances of peoples in Africa and Asia.64 

Discussing the work of the Advanced Research Projects 
Agency (ARPA), which was described as "an elite group of 
civilian scientists conducting high rank research and develop­
ment of a revolutionary nature in areas where defense technol­
ogy in the U.S. appears to be falling behind, or in areas where 
[it] cannot afford the risk offalling behind," the New Scientist 
claimed that "within ARPA is Project Agile, a counter­
insurgency research program responsible for 'opening up' lim­
ited warfare technologies. With this in mind, and knowing that 
American herbicide weapons began as ARPA-fmanced 'food 
technology' research, we might look again at Pentagon interest 
in blood groups. " As we have seen, it was Gen. Ishii's concern 
over possible blood and genetic differences between Chinese 
and Americans which led to the fatal experiments on American 
prisoners during World War II. 

In 1975 a public controversy broke out in India when it was 
discovered that a study involving mosquitoes, malaria, dengue 
fever, yellow fever and migratory birds being conducted by the 
United Nation's World Health Organization was secretly funded 
by the United States Government. The Bombay magazine Sci­
ence Today stated that there was "serious concern" in Indian 
scientific quarters because of the fear that the project endan­
gered public health and was, "in fact, a camouflage for con­
ducting research on biological warfare: "65 

Indian scientists were also alarmed over some of the tech­
nical aspects of the research, such as the chemical sterilization 
of mosquitoes which, they claimed, was not a totally effective 
method and might result in dangerous mutations. They were 
further worried that the experiments might upset the disease 
balance in India, leading to possibly disastrous changes. Tem­

pers and suspicions were heightened when WHO could not 
produce for Indian scientists' inspection its report on the project 
because it "had been sent to the U. S. Army's MAPS (Migratory 
Animals Pathological Survey) office at Bangkok. " 

Some years earlier a piece of the story had come out when 
former Pennsylvania Sen. Joseph S. Clark charged that a Smith­
sonian Institution study of Pacific island migratory bird habits 
was connected with an Army biological warfare experiment. 66 
It was said that the Smithsonian was helping the Army find a 
suitable island in the Pacific for a bird-germ test. 

Eight years later a special study of Smithsonian operations 
criticized its directOl, S. Dillion Ripley, a biologist, for creating 
a one million dollar special fund which he used for pet projects 
and unexpected expenses, one of which was a migratory bird 
research project in India. On September 27, 1977, the board of 
regents relieved Ripley of day-to-day management responsibil­
ities and appointed an assistant director for internal administra­
tion.67 The Smithsonian refused to release the minutes of this 
meeting but assured me that it was a routine affair, just filling 
the post of under-secretary which had been vacant for the 
previous two years. 

However, it was a little late for Smithsonian officials to 
lock the bam door. Sen. Edward Kennedy's Subcommittee on 
Health and Scientific Research had already named the Smith­
sonian as one of the outside contractors providing cover for 
germ warfare experiments.68 Even more startling was the sub­
committee's revelation that the National Academy of Sciences, 
America's most prestigious scientific associatton, also led a 
Jekyll and Hyde existence.69 It, too, was a secret contractor 
aiding Fort Detrick's biological warfare work. Some disclo­
sures raise questions about the personal morality of some ofour 
leading scientists. 

While most members of the Smithsonian, the Agriculture 
Department, the U.S. Public Health Service (which provided 
the original shellfish toxin sample which Fort Detrick used to 
develop a new poison for the CIA)70 and the National Academy 
of Sciences were doubtless unaware of tIieir organizations' 
secret ties with the BW effort, those in positions of leadership 
knew. Some, who were renowned scientists who had devoted 
their public lives to disease control, were clandestinely working 
on "public health in reverse," using their considerable talents 
to devise ways and means to sicken and kill their fellow man. 

One of the difficulties, or advantages-depending upon 
how one looks at it-is that biological warfare preparations are 
so easily camouflaged as legitimate medical research. Gen. Ishii 
successfully hid his anti-science under the cloak of "water 
purification" and "vaccine production." Even BW attacks 
sometimes can be, and no doubt have been, passed off as 
"natural" outbreaks ofdisease. 

Denials and disclaimers concealed Japan's BWatrocities 
for nearly 50 years. For more than 30 years the United States has 
played the same game, covering up Japan's activities and dis­
sembling about its own. How much longer will it be before we 
know the full story of American development-and use-of 
biological warfare? * 
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Notes 

*This article is taken from a chapter in a book on biological warfare under 
preparation by the author. In the 1950s Mr. Powell, his wife, and Julian 
Schuman were charged with sedition and, subsequently, treason by the United 
States Government because oftheircritical reports of U.S. actions in the Korean 
Conflict. The sedition indictment ended in a mistrial and was eventually dis­
missed at the request of the Justice Department, while the U. S. Commissioner in 
San Francisco dismissed the treason charge after the grand jury failed to vote an 
indictment. 

I. When first news of the Khabarovsk trial reached Tokyo, U.S. spokes­
men expressed doubts as to the validity of the reports. On December 29, 1949, 
the Nippon Times reported that William J. Sebald, MacArthur's diplomatic 
chief, said it might be nothing more than fiction: "We have no way of knowing 
whether or not there really is a trial going on .... " Sebald also said that the 
extensive Russian propaganda on the germ warfare trial was "retaliatory" and 
had been lat;nched as a "smoke screen" to divert attention from U. S. demands 
that they account for Japanese prisoners-of-war. Other official American 
sources, who declined to be identified, charged that the 300,000 missing 
Japanese PWs may already be dead. 

On July 20, 1956, the New York Times stated in its obituary of Gen. 
Yamada Otozo, last commander of the K wantung Army and one of those tried at 
Khabarovsk, that "the United States .. never agreed that there had been 
evidence that the Japanese had resorted to germ warfare. The trial was viewed in 
some quarters as the Russians way of countering American demands for the 
release of Japanese prisoners. " 

In a telephone conversation on February 12, 1979. Dr. Mortimer A. 
Rothenberg, Scientific Director of the U. S. Army's biological warfare proving 
ground at Dugway, Utah, told me that the 535 page Soviet summary of the 
Khabarovsk trial was "a lot of baloney" and "just propaganda." 

Although the Government's files have since 1947 contained thousands of 
pages of documents attesting to Japanese use of BW, U.S. spokesmen have 
dissembled and misled the press and the public for more than 30 years by 
insisting that there' 'was no evidence" of Japanese BW. 

2. "Materials on the Trial of Former Servicemen of the Japanese Army 
Charged with Manufacturing and Employing Bacteriological Weapons," For­
eign Languages Publishing House, Moscow, 1950, p. 20. 

3. Although most U.S. documents and the Soviet trial summary (2. pp. 
105-107) give Ishii full credit for originating and developing the BW program, 
this may not be fully correct. It is possible that he was merely the chosen 
instrument to carry out the program. There are references indicating interest in 
BW at much higher levels. The "staff officer" of the Operations Division of 
Unit 731 (the main BW factory) was Lt. Col. Miyata who in real life was Prince 
Takeda (2, p. 40). David Bergamini says that Empress Nagako's father, Prince 
Kuni. "communicated to Hirohito a lasting enthusiasm for airplanes, tanks, and 
biological warfare." ("Japan's Imperial Conspiracy," William Morrow, New 
York, 1971, caption in photo section between pp. 80 & 81, also pp. 400-40 I). 

Ishii's friend at court was Gen. Nagata Tetsuzan, long Japan's top military 
man (2, p. 106 & 295), while the orders establishing the original two BW units 
were reputedly issued by the Emperor (2, p. 10 & 103). 

4. "Report of the International Scientific Commission for the Investiga­
tion of the Facts Concerning Bacterial Warfare in Korea and China," Beijing, 
1952, p. II. 

5. Ibid., pp. 195-204. Also, on March 31, 1942, Dr. Wang Shih-chieh, 
then Nationalist Chinese Minister of Information, reviewed this same report by 
Dr. Chen, and stated that a follow-up investigation of the Changde incident by 
Dr. Robert K.S. Lim, Director of the Chinese National Red Cross Society, and 
Dr. R. Pollitzer, epidemiologist of the (Chinese) National Health Administra­
tion and formerly of the League of Nations Anti-Epidemic Commission, had 
confirmed Dr. Chen's findings. 
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U,So Ambassador Clarence E. Gauss cautioned against either a yes or no 
decision in an April II, 1942 cable to the State Department. He doubted if the 
chief non-Chinese eyewitness, Mrs. EJ. Bannon, really saw anything come out 
of the plane because it was 5:00 a. m. on a "misty morning. " He quotes both pro 
and con views and concludes that the evidence "is not entirely conclusive." 
Ambassador Gauss, Dr. Theodor Rosebury, the well-known American bacter­
iologist, and other cautious observers felt that failure to produce plague bacilli 
from cultures of the material dropped from the plane weakened the Chinese 
case. Unfortunately, the full report, in which Dr. Chen reasoned that it was the 
fleas which were infected rather than the accompanying material, was not made 
readily available by the Nationalist Government. 

6. " A Bruise-Terror of the 731 Corps," Tokyo Broadcasting System 
television documentary produced by Yoshinaga Haruko and screened on No­
vember 2, 1976. Also see Note 8. 

7. See Note 2, pp. 25 & 31. 
8. Washington Post, November 19, 1976, dispatch datelined Tokyo by 

John Saar. 
9. I am grateful to Lt. Gen. Teng Shu-wei, of the Nationalist Defense 

Ministry's Medical Bureau, who searched the records still available in the 
Taiwan archives. His report is in substantial agreement with the records of the 
People's Republic in Peking, although less complete. 

10. See Note 2, pp. 23-24. 
II. Ibid, p. 357. 
12. Ibid., p. 266-67. 
13. Ibid, p. 357. 
14. Ibid., p. 289 & pp. 21-22. 
15. Bungei Shunjyu. August 1955 and Jimbatsu Ohrai, July 10, 1956. 
16. Terrible Modern Strategic War by Bumpei Kimura. I have not seen 

this book and am relying upon a brief description of it contained in a March 31, 
1959, letter from Tokyo attorney Morikawa Kinju to A.L. Wirin, chief counsel 

of the American Civil Liberties Union in Los Angeles. 
17. Sunday Mainichi, No. 1628,January27, 1952. 

IS. See Note S. 

19. SeeNote2,p.26S&p.415. 
20. Ibid., pp. 73-74, 307-14, 459. 
2 I. International Military Tribunal for the Far East, trial transcript for 

August 29, 1946, pp. 4546-4552. 
22. "Japanese Chemical & Bacteriological Warfare in China," SINTIC 

Item #213, Hq. U.S. Forces China Theater, Office of Assist. C of S, G-2, IS 
December 1944. 

The considerable material available is possibly only the tip of the iceberg. 
We know the names of only some of the units, 701 and 100 in Manchuria, the 
TAMA unit in Nanjing and the NAMI detachment in Canton. However, it is 
known that other units were located in Beijing [Jiujiang] and Shanghai and that 
some of the larger installations, such as Unit 731, Unit 100 'and the T AMA 
detachment had branch units mostl y in unidentified locations. 

23. Armed Forces Chemical Journal, September-October 1954, p. IS. 
24. Letter and report from Karl Compton to President Truman, October 4, 

1945. (Papers of Harry S. Truman, President's Secretary's File, Subject File), 
Truman Library, Independence, Mo. 

25. An undated 4S page secret report described as being the result of an 
investigation in Japan from January II to March II, 1946, and said to be in 
response to a December 26, 1945, order by Arvo T. Thompson of the Adjutant 
General's office in Washington. 

26. See Note 2, pp. 20-21. 
27. Copies of the Soviet interrogation of Karasawa and Kawashima, 

which were given to the United States by the Soviet prosecutors, were stamped 
"top secret" by the U.S. Anny and remained in this classification for some 30 
years. On July 8, 1977, the classification was downgraded and they were 
subsequently declassified and released to me by the National Archives. 

28. See Note 2, p. 443. 
29. I have not obtained a copy of the original in cable fonn but possess a 

February II, 1947, directive from the State-War-Navy Coordinating Commit­
tee to one of its subordinate committees requesting that it reply to the Tokyo 
message, and to which is appended a presumably correct clear language copy of 
the cable. 

30. SWNCC 351/ I message to SCAP. 
31. This "top secret" cable also reveals that the first of a group of BW 

experts eventually to be dispatched from Washington to Japan to direct the 
gathering of technical data from Ishii and others had already arrived, 
referring to "Dr. [Norbert H.] Fell's letters via air courier to Gen. [Alden C.] 
Waitt," who was then chief of the U.S. Anny Chemical Corps. Also see Note 
39. 

32. On March 27, 1947, Gen. Willoughby, MacArthur's intelligence 
chief, noted in a memo to the Chief of Staff: 

1. This has to do with Russian request for transfer of the former Japanese 
expert in BW. 
2. The U.S. has primary interest, has already interrogated this man and his 
information is held by the U.S. Chemical Corps classified as TOP SECRET. 
3. The Russian has made several attempts to get at this man. We have 
stalled. He now hopes to make his point by suddenly claiming the Japanese 
expert as a war criminal. 

On March 30, Gen. Willoughby returned to the subject in a memo to Col. 
Sackton, titled "Russ interrogation": 

... WD. interrogated Japs last year. Their product is "Top Secret" . ... 
We were warned not to let the Russians in on this. They have been at us for 
months. We stalled. Failing in this. the Russ now approaches this via the 
War Crimes Theory. This is a clear-cut fake; a trumped-up method to get 
their hands on these people and take them away. They were in the war five 
days. 

On April 10, Col. John B. Cooley wrote to Lt. Gen. K. Derevyanko, USSR 
member of the Allied Council for Japa'n, saying in part: 

Reference paragraph 3 ofyour Memorandum No. 1087, former Japanese 
General Ishii and Colonel Ota cannot be turned over to USSR as there 
appears to be no clear-cut war crimes interest by the Soviets in acts allegedly 
committed by the Japanese on Chinese or Manchurians. 

33. It is not clear who was the actual author of this cable as it has three 
names on it: E.F. Lyons, Jr., of the War Crimes Branch, c.F. Hubbert and Maj. 
T.M. Carrington. The Tokyo copy of this cable has an over-typed notation that 
Col. Carpenter is to "coordinate his reply with the IPS [International Prosecu­
tion Section] because of the possibility that some of [those] involved may be 
under consideration as major Japanese war criminals." 
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34. Carpenter also states that' 'none of our allies to date have filed war 
crimes charges against Ishii or any of his associates, " which is not surprising 
since apparently only the Soviets at this point had much knowledge of the BW 
issue or were aware of Ishii's identity. Carpenter then states that he has received 
the Kawashima and Karazawa affidavits from the Soviets and describes them in 
fairly innocuous terms, and further says that he has a statement from Dr. Peter Z. 
King (Nationalist China) describing four Japanese BW attacks which resulted in 
plague outbreaks. 

35. In this cable Carpenter says that at the time he sent the June 7 cable he 
had only Soviet summaries of the Kawashima and Karazawa affidavits, but now 
has full. translations and recites in some detail the evidence of BW attacks 
upon China. He explains that IPS decided not to include BW charges in the war 
crimes trials because "at the time of closing case" there was no way of 
connecting the principals with the work of the Ishii group. However, he warns 
that it is possible that the Soviets may try to introduce the issue during cross 
examination. 

36. Beginning in 1944, U.S. intelligence documents from the Pacific and 
from China, based on interrogation of captured Japanese soldiers and on inspec­
tion of medical equipment and documents, reveal a surprising amount of 
information about Japanese BW work. Many prisoners-of-war mentioned Ishii 
and other leading BW figures, although most knew of him only because of his 
reputation as a water purification expert. A surprising number, however, said 
that on the basis of second-hand information, they thought he was also working 
on BW. From such information, U.S. intelligence officers produced drawings 
and sketches of the "Ishii germ bomb" and maps showing the location ofa few 
of the suspicious water purification installations. It can only be presumed that it 
took several years to sort out and index this material as there is no indication that 
it was available to MacArthur's headquarters at war's end. Otherwise, the 
investigation begun by the Compton Mission presumably would have proceeded 
much faster. 

37. This memo also lists some of the material already obtained, including 
a "60 page report" covering BW experiments on humans written by "19 
Japanese BW experts" and says that other data confirms, supplements and 
complements U.S. research and "may suggest new fields for future research." 

3B. Hubbert's memo suggests a number of revisions for the War Crimes 
Branch position paper, many of which emphasize Col. Carpenter's negative 
approach to the idea of charging Ishii and his colleagues with war crimes. He 
points out that some of the accusations come from the Japanese Communist 
Party, that investigation in Tokyo "does not reveal sufficient evidence," that 
much of the evidence is hearsay or rumors or from anonymous letters. In 
introducing a summary of one of the Japanese affidavits, he quotes Carpenter's 
opinion that it would need checking for trustworthiness by an exhaustive 
investigation, noting further that it was given by a Japanese prisoner to Russian 
interrogators. He fails to mention that the Soviets had offered to bring both 
Kawashima and Karazawa to Japan to be interrogated by U.S. prosecutors. 

39. Cable from Washington to Tokyo on April 2, 1947, stating tha~ Dr. 
Fell will leave for Japan on April 15, and a cable from Tokyo to the War 
Department on June 30, 1947, warning that an "aggressive prosecution will 
adversely affect U.S. interests" and urging that Fell be shown previous cables 
because he is an expert and can appreciate the value of the 1<.jJanese BW 
material. 

40. Titled "Summary Report on B.W. Investigations," and dated 
December 12, 1947, it is addressed to Gen. Alden C. Waitt, Chief, Chemical 
Corps. 

A possibly significant note has been over-typed on a page in one of the 
appendixes Dr. Hill attached to his report. It appears opposite a list of eleven 
diseases used in aerosol experiments. The last on the list is Songo. The typed 
note reads: "Frank, Songo Fever is Hemorrhagic Nephroso-Nephritis Fever. 
Apparently the fever was called 'Songo' because three epidemics of the fever 
occurred in Songo, Manchuria. Experiments were conducted with cultures 
obtained during these epidemics. [signed] Sam." 

In the summer of 1951 when American and Chinese-Korean forces were 
battling along the 3Bth Parallel, hundreds of U.S. troops began coming down 
with a strange fever disease which baffled American Army doctors and caused 
concern because mortality rates ran as high as 20 percent. Various fever-type 
diseases were suspected before it was eventually discovered to be hemorrhagic 
fever by doctors who claimed to have searched Russian and Japanese medical 
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A vailable documents do not reveal whether any­
one knows even the names of the Chinese, Russians, 
"half-breeds" and Americans whose lives were pre­
maturely ended by massive doses of plague, typhus, 
dysentery, gas gangrene, hemmorhagic fever, ty­
phoid, cholera, anthrax, tularemia, smallpox, tsu­
tusgamushi and glanders, or by such grotesqueries as 
being pumped full of horse blood or having their livers 
destroyed by prolonged exposure to X-rays, or those 
subjected to vivisection. 

We do know, however, that because of the "na­
tional security" interests of the United States, Gen. 
Ishii and many ofthe top members ofunit 731 lived out 
their full lives, suffering only the natural diseases and 
amictions of old age. 
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"Blind Chinese Soldiers" 


by Hirabayashi Taiko 
translated by Noriko Mizuta Lippit 

On March 9, 1945, a day when by coincidence one of the 
biggest air raids took place, the sky over Gumma prefecture was 
clear. An airplane, which might have taken off from Ota, flew 
along with the north wind. 

Taking the road from Nashiki in the morning, I (a certain 
intellectual-turned-farmer) came down from Mount Akagi, 
where the snow in the valleys ofthe mountain was as hard as ice. 
From Kamikambara I took the Ashino-line train to Kiryu, trans­
ferred to the Ryoge-line and got off at Takasaki. I was to transfer 
again to the Shingo-line to go to Ueno. 

It was around four-thirty in the afternoon. Although the sky 
was still so light as to appear white, the dusty roofs of this 
machinery-producing town and the spaces among the leaves of 
the evergreen tokiwa trees were getting dark. The waiting room 
on the platform was dark and crowded with people who had 
large bamboo trunks or packages of vegetables on their shoul­
ders or beside them on the floor. It reverberated with noise and 
commotion. 

After taking a look at the large clock hanging in front of 
me, I was about to leave the waiting room. Just at that moment, 
a group of policemen with straps around their chins crossed a 
bridge of the station and came down to the platform. Among 
them were the police chief and his subordinate, carrying iron 
helmets on their backs and wearing white gloves. The subordi­
nate was talking about something with the station clerk who 
accompanied them, but it seemed that the word of the police 
chief, who interrupted their talk, decided the matter. The clerk 
crossed the bridge and then returned from the office with a piece 
of white chalk in his hand. Pushing people aside, he started 
drawing a white line on the platform. 

I was standing in front of the stairway with one leg bent; I 
had sprained it when someone dropped a bag of nails in the 
crowded Ryoge-line train. The clerk came up to me, pushed me 
back aggressively and drew a white line. As was usual in those 
days, the train was delayed considerably. The passengers, quite 
used to the arrogance of the clerks, stepped aside without much 
resistance and, to pass time, watched what was happening with 
curiosity. 

Shortly, a dirty, snow-topped train arrived. Before I no­
ticed it, the policemen, who had been gathered together in a 
black mass, separated into two groups. They stood at the two 
entrances of the car which I was planning to board. The white 
lines had been drawn right there. 

The car seemed quite empty, but when I tried to enter I 
found myself forcibly prevented by a policeman. I then realized 
that in the center of the car there was a young, gentle-looking 
officer sitting and facing another young officer who was obvi­
ously his attendant. With his characteristic nose, he was im­
mediately recognizable as Prince Takamatsu. 

With the strange, deep emotion which one might experi­
ence upon recognizing an existence hitherto believed to be 
fictitious, I gazed at this beautiful young man. My natural urge 
was to shout and tell everyone out loud, ", 'The Prince is in there. 
He's real!" Yet it was not the time, either for myself or for the 
other passengers, for such an outburst. Unless one managed to 
get into one of the cars- at the risk oflife and limb-one would 
have to wait additional long hours; how long, no one knew. 

I rushed to one of the middle cars immediately. Yet my 
motion was slowed by the wasteful mental vacuum that the 
shock of seeing the Prince had created. I stood at the very end of 
the line of passengers, looking into the center of the car and 
trying to see whether there was some way I could get in. 

After glimpsing the pleasant and elegant atmosphere in the 
well-cleaned car with blue cushions, I found myself reacting 
with a particularly strong feeling of disgust to the dirtiness and 
confusion of this car. Shattered window glass, the door with a 
rough board nailed to it instead of glass, a crying child, an old 
woman sitting on her baggage, a chest of drawers wrapped in a 
large furoshiki cloth, an unwrapped broom-a military police­
man appeared, shouting that there was still more space left in the 
middle of the car, but no one responded to his urging. 

I gave up trying to get into this car and ran to the last car. 
There were no passengers standing there. A soldier, possibly a 
lower-ranking officer, was counting with slight movements of 
his head the number of the plain soldiers in white clothes who 
were coming out of the car. An unbearable smell arose from the 
line of the soldiers who, carrying blankets across their shoul­
ders, had layers of filth on their skin- filth which one could 
easily have scraped off. 

I was looking up at the doorway wondering what this could 
mean; then my legs began trembling with horror and disgust. 

Looking at them carefully, I could see that all of these 
soldiers were blind; each one stretched a trembling hand for­
ward to touch the back of the soldier ahead. They looked 
extremely tired and pale; from their blinking eyes tears were 
falling and their hair had grown long. It was hard to tell how old 
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they were, but I thought they must be between thirty-five and 
fifty years old. On further examination, I observed that there 
was one normal person for every five blind men. The normal 
ones wore military uniforms which, although of the same color 
as Japanese uniforms, were slightly different from them. They 
held sticks in their hands. 

Judging from the way they scolded the blind soldiers or 
watched how the line was moving, I guessed they must be 
caretakers or managers of the blind soldiers. 

"Kuai kuaide! Kuai kuaide! (Quickly, quickly)," a soldier 
with a stick shouted, poking the soldier in front of him. I 
realized then that all of the soldiers in this group were Chinese. I 
understood why, even aside from the feeling evoked by their 
extreme dirtiness, they looked strange and different. 

All of the soldiers who were led out of the car were left 
standing on the platform. There were about five hundred of 
them. I doubted my own eyes and looked at them again care­
fully. All of them half -closed their eyes as if it were too bright, 
and tears were dripping from every eye. It was certain that every 
one of them was blind. 

The supervising soldiers who were not blind saluted sud­
denly and a Japanese officer with a sabre at his waist appeared 
from one of the cars. 

"What about the others?" he asked, passing by a soldier 
who was busy counting the number of blind soldiers. 

"They will come later sir, on such and such a train," the 
lower officer answered. 

"What on earth is all this about?" the sympathetic yet 
suspicious expressions of the passengers seemed to ask. A 
middle-aged woman even started crying, holding her hand­
towel to her eyes. It was obvious that both the commander and 
the lower officer wanted to hide the blind soldiers from the 
passengers, but it took a long time to get the rest off the train, 
and the number of onlookers gathering behind the fence gradu­
ally increased. 

At last those at the head of the line began climbing up the 
stairs of the station, while the train started moving slowly. I was 
standing on the steps of the car in front of the one which had just 
been emptied and was holding on with all my might. I could see 
the policemen who were guarding the soldiers whispering to 
each other. 

,'I guess they were used for a poison gas experiment or 
they are the victims of some sort ofexplosion," said a man with 
an iron helmet on his back, standing four or five persons ahead 
of me. 

"They don't have to carry out poison gas experiments in 
the motherland," a man who appeared to be his companion 
objected. Following up the companion's comment, I asked a 
woman of about forty who was standing next to me, 

"When did those soldiers get on the train?" 
"Let's see, I think at around Shinonoi." 
"Then they must have come from around the Nagoya 

area," I said to myself, although it did not give me a clue to 
understand anything. 

Soon the passengers forgot about it and began to converse. 
"I came from Echigo. I am on my way to Chiba with my 

daughter." The woman whom I had just' come to know started 
talking in a friendly manner. She told me that she was bringing 
her daughter to report for duty in the women's volunteer army 
and that her departure had been delayed for a week because her 

by Noriko Mizuta Lippit 

Precocious and talented, Hirabayashi Taiko had been de­
termined to be a writer since she was very young and had gone 
through strenuous struggles of the kind shared by contemporary 
women writers Hayashi Fumiko and Miyamoto Yuriko. From 
her early days she was exposed to and influenced by anarchism 
and socialism and her first and major works reflect her ideologi­
cal perspective and commitment. Although she herself was not 
active in the socialist or anti-Pacific War movements, she had 
been in close touch with them through three marriages, twice to 
anarchists and once to the activist proletarian writer Kobori 
Jinji. She had also been arrested. After the war, her writings 
moved away from the proletarian genre to an exploration of the 
experiences of women. Her major work, Kt5iu onna (A Woman 
Like This), one of five in a series of autobiographical works and 
the recipient of the first Nihon Jyoryii Bungakusha-kai Sho 
(Japanese Women Writers Association Prize), describes Hira­
bayashi's wartime life under emergency rule, her illness, the 
arrests of her husband and of herself, and her commitment to 
live despite these difficulties. "Blind Chinese Soldiers," a very 
short work, depicts common people thrown into confusion at the 
end of the war, too preoccupied by their struggle for survival to 
pay attention to Japanese atrocities against Chinese. Yet her 
clear perspective, which regards both ordinary Japanese and the 
Chinese as victims of the Japanese war effort, makes this short 
story a most articulate and moving anti-war story. 

could, then stay in the place they had reached, standing in line 
until they could buy tickets to continue their journey. They had 
come this far, she said, but the hardships they had been through 
were beyond description. 

I had been offended a moment ago by the unconcerned way 
in which this woman had answered my question about the 
Chinese soldiers, but I now thought I could understand it. The 
Japanese were too involved in their own affairs to be moved by 
such an incident. 

When the train left a sation some time later, I went into the 
car which had been occupied by the Chinese soldiers, hoping to 
sit down and rest. I returned soon, however, because the smell 
there was intolerable. 

The conductor came from the end of the train, announcing 
"Jimbobara next, Jimbobara next," as he passed among the 
passengers. By that time, the windows on the west side were 
burning with the rays of the setting sun, and the huge red sun 
was setting with the sanctity of the apocalypse. I realized that 
the car occupied by the Chinese had been taken away and that 
my car had become the last of the train. 

Yes, there was the Prince, still in the car ahead of us, I 
remembered. But I was too tired to tell anyone. 

After the war was over, I asked the merchants who had 
their shops in front of the Takasaki station whether they had seen 
the group of Chinese soldiers boarding the train again. They all 
said they had never seen them again. Perhaps they never re­*daughter had had an ugly growth on her neck. Since they could turned from that place. 


not get through tickets to Chiba, they would go as far as they (1946) 
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"Never Again!" 

Women Hibakusha in Osaka 


by Janet Bruin and Stephen SalatT 

History of the Hibakusha 
In August 1945, the United States attacked the cities of 

Hiroshima and Nagasaki with the most catastrophic weapon in 
history: atomic bombs that caused more than 210,000 deaths by 
the end of 1945 (35 percent of the Hiroshima population and 25 
percent in Nagasaki), and severe suffering for a large number of 
the more than 370,000 survivors. 

Although the two cities contained military bases and fac­
tories, most of their residents in 1945 were women, children 
and old persons who were not a direct part of the Imperial war 
machine. Victims of the bombings, over one-half of whom are 
women, are known by the Japanese term "hibakusha, " literally 
"A-bomb received persons." During the thirty-five years in 
which the war wounds of the rest of the world have gradually 
been healing, the hibakusha have been consigned to a vicious 
cycle of painful and terrifying disease, deep psychic wounds, 
social discrimination and poverty. A myriad of debilitating and 
deforming illnesses, often of permanent duration, followed in 
the wake of the bombs. Leukemia, cancer, tumors, anemia and 
blood degeneration, keloid scarring, 1 goiter, cataracts, embed­
ding of glass and other solid particles deep in body tissues, 
.. atomic bomb weakness symptoms," and sudden death from 
infection are still prevalent among the hibakusha. Invisible 
scars from traumatic loss of loved ones during and after the 
bombings even today cause constant pain. Fears for the safety 
and survival of humanity, intensified by the upward nuclear 
arms spiral, constantly beset the sufferers. 2 

Hibakusha in all of Japan's prefectures have organized 
A-bomb victims associations to grapple with and redress some 
of their medical, emotional and economic problems, but women 
survivors have not always been able fully to participate in these 
groups. A legacy of feudalistic thought, customs and social 
structures, with all its modem variants, has limited women to 
supporting roles in Japanese social, political and religious or­
ganizations. 3 In addition, the medical, emotional and social 
difficulties of female hibakusha have been difficult for men to 

understand. The women could not communicate freely about 
the diseases of the uterus and breasts common among them, or 
about their difficulties, as bomb victims, in deciding whether or 
not to marry ip a country where pressure on women to marry and 
raise children has been, severe. Nor could they speak openly 
about finding mates once the decision to marry was taken. 
Women widowed by the bombs or abandoned by their husbands 
after their beauty was marred could not readily discuss their 
solitary existence at the edge of economic survival. And perhaps 
most difficult to share have been their intense anxieties over the 
health and well-being of the "Nisei Hibakusha," the second 
generation of A-bomb victims. 

During the decade after the bombing, when many of the 
victims were beginning to bear children, questions about the 
effects of radiation on the fetus and on the second generation 
were inadequately formulated. Even today, information on radi­
ation effects is spotty, although the evidence is gradually be­
coming clearer.4 Most of the hibakusha who were pregnant at 
the time of the bombings lost their babies. 5 Of the few children 
who survived the uterus some were born microcephalic and 
retarded. Many of the women who conceived within five years 
after the bombing had miscarriages or stillbirths. The number of 
twin births among women who had children later on seems to 
be higher than usual. Of the children born to women hibakusha, 
the incidence of leukemia, anemia, retardation, soft and fragile 
bones, and a number of other ailments is higher than among the 
rest of the population. Even those mothers whose offspring 
seemed to be in good health were never free from the fear that 
their children could be stricken with a fatal or debilitating 
disease as a result of their exposure to radiation. 

Consequently, most of the women who survived the bomb­
ings worry about whether they made the right decision to bear 
life. Thirty-five years later, hibakusha mothers admit that they 
feel guilty when their children are stricken with diseases that 
might be attributable to radiation or other A-bomb effects. 
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Shizuko and Kazue's eventful meeting. 
Shizuko Takagi is a native of Osaka who went to college in 

Hiroshima in July 1945. Kazue Miura, who was born and raised 
in Hiroshima, joined her two sisters in Osaka after the rest of her 
family perished in the bombing. Shizuko and Kazue were mar­
ginally affiliated with the largely male Osaka Association of 
A-bomb Victims, but the two had borne their physical and 
emotional troubles separately and silently until a young woman 
activist in the peace movement brought them together in 1967. 
Soon the two women poured out their long dormant emotions of 
loss, shame, anger, gUilt and fear. 

Shizuko and Kazue felt extraordinarily relieved, and long 
hours and many tears later they decided that it was time to put an 
end to the years of silent suffering. There were perhaps 1,600 
women hibakusha in Osaka carrying the same oppressive bur­
dens who needed help, even if it were just someone to talk with, 
and Shizuko and Kazue began planning how best to find them. 
With the aid of peace organizations and informal contacts, 
Shizuko and Kazue secured a list of officially registered bomb 
victims in Osaka. They began visiting women in hospitals and at 
home and successfully attracted many of them to their early 
gatherings, where long-suppressed sentiments flowed into "riv­
ers of tears." After much trial and error and hard work, the 
Women's Section, Osaka Association of A-bomb Victims, was 
born in September 1967. 

Help for the Hibakusha 

News of the love, understanding, support and tangible 
assistance offered by the Women's Section spread, and the 
demand for its services increased. Recognizing the need for 
these services, the City of Osaka in 1969 made available a 
consultation room in the Municipal Social Welfare Hall, and 
awarded the Women's Section a modest annual grant to pay 
nominal wages to the consultants, all survivors themselves. The 
consultation room, partitioned into a business office and an 
inner roomlet cozily furni~hed in traditional style, represented a 
great victory for the hibakusha, and signified that the Osaka 
Municipality, the second largest in Japan, was at last willing to 
recognize publicly the plight of the hibakusha after so many 
years of keeping them in the shadows. 

Hibakusha-male as well as female-come to the 
Women's Section for personal counselling and for information 
about the complex web of medical, social and financial benefits 
available to them. Governmental insensitivity has compounded 
the wounds of the hibakusha, and survivors assistance was 
instituted by the Ministry of Health and Welfare only after 
protracted mass struggles. But even now, information about 
hibakusha relief measures is often withheld and the benefits 
themselves frequently denied, so the Women's Section has had 
to wage numerous legal battles on behalf of its clients. 

In addition to consultation room activities and advocacy, 
Women's Section members have taken on a memoir-writing 
project. The life histories of these women serve as historical 
documentation on the damages and after-effects of the atomic 
bombings and enable world audiences to see this solemn prob­
lem from a more personal perspective. After several dozen 
Osaka women had written and published their stories, they 
found it easier to stand on public platforms to demand their 

rights and give firsthand reports of the dangers the world faces if 
nuclear weapons are not banned. 

"We hibakusha are the only living proof of the disas­
trous effects of nuclear weapons," declares Toyoko Fuji­
kawa, Chairperson ofthe Women's Section, "and we are not 
getting any younger or healthier. The Japanese government 
has not yet taken responsibility for fully compensating usfor 
the pain we have suffered, and no one has guaranteed us and 
our children the peaceful life we believe we deserve. Our 
anger is focused not so much on what happened to us thirty­
five years ago as it is on the continued existence and develop­
ment of weapons which could make victims of the rest of 
humanity. So even though it is painfuL for us to recount our 
stories of misery, it is the least we can do to warn people 
about the grave threat to world survival which is being 
intensified by the arms race and the dire consequences of 
diverting the planet's precious resources to destructive ends. 
Our suffering will not have been in vain if it can help elim­
inate the threat of annihilation. There must never again be 
victims like ourselves. " 

Another major activity of the Women's Section has been 
the collection of data on the victims of the bombings. Research 
on approximately 700 hibakusha annually has provided valu­
able information for the campaign in Japan to enact a com­
prehensive A-bomb Victims' Relief Measures Law. 6 Their find­
ings, publicized in research reports and at local, national and 
international symposia, have important implications as well for 
people everywhere in an age threatened by the dangers of 
nuclear war and nuclear radiation. 

An international appeal 
Until the mid-1970s the work of the Osaka women was 

carried out for the most part locally. Section members partic­
ipated strongly in the campaign against the location of a Nike 
missile base in Osaka Prefecture, and came to institutionalize 
activites for hibakusha rights and nuclear disarmament by col­
lecting signatures in the streets on the 6th and 9th days of each 
month. The Women's Section was moved to broaden its scope 
by a tragic event which occurred on August 6, 1975, when 
Sumiko Mine lost her 17 year old son, Kenichi, from leukemia 
after several months of a heroic struggle for life. Sumiko had 
never suspected that her body was contaminated by radioactiv­
ity, even when her daughter died from leukemia in 1972. Her 
grief at having lost both children would probably have ended in 
suicide had it not been for the attention and support of Qther 
hibakusha. Kenichi' s was the eighth leukemia death among 
Osaka Nisei hibakusha since the women had begun collecting 
statistics. 

To Shizuko Takagi no case could be more shocking be­
cause her own son was also 17 and a soccer player like Kenichi. 
Shizuko and the Women's Section resolved to bring information 
to people all over the world about the death of this child, born in 
a time of peace and killed by a weapon used long before his birth 
in a time of war. Armed with petitions filled with signatures 
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calling for "No More Hiroshimas! No More Nagasakis!," 
Shizuko, elected to represent the Women's Section on the first 
all-Japan delegation to the United Nations, met with UN Sec­
retary-General Waldheim on December 8, 1975. In the name of 
the dead, the survivors, the world's children, and the genera­
tions yet to be born, she pleaded for a binding international 
agreement to prohibit nuclear weapons. 

Hibakusha looked forward to the UN Special Session on 
Disarmament of May-June 1978 with great hopes, since it 
marked the beginning of a new phase of UN involvement in the 
disarmament process. Although the Special Session did not lead 
directly to concrete disarn1ament measures, they were heartened 
by UN member states' recognition that" mankind must stop the 
arms race or face annihilation." This time, Shizuko's son, 
Nobuhiko, journeyed to New York as the youngest member of 
the SOO-strong Japanese Non-Governmental Organization dele­
gation. He helped to deliver 20 million Japanese signatures 
calling for the outlawing of the use of nuclear weapons as a 
crime against humanity, the convening of a World Disarmament 
Conference, and dissemination of infonnation about the horrors 
of the atomic bombing and the suffering of its victims. 
Women's Section members take great pride in their children's 
activities on behalf of peace, and it was with joy that they 
watched a television broadcast from New York as Nobuhiko 
addressed a crowd of many thousands saying: ,. I have come 
from Japan to declare that nuclear weapons must be banned." 

Political, economic, military and technological develop­
ments since the Special Session, however, have dampened their 
hopes and caused hibakusha great alarm. During the Interna­
tional Year of the Child in 1979, they intensified their efforts by 
publishing more data and memoirs, holding more meetings, and 
reaching out to groups around the world. Meeting with rep­
resentatives of the Women's International League of Peace and 
Freedom, Women Strike for Peace, and Voice of Women, they 
learned of the North American peace movement's role in bring­
ing to an end the war in Vietnam. They are hopeful that such 
groups will contribute to the development of a mass mobiliza­
tion to prevent a Third World War and the brutal destruction it 
would cause. 

As bearers and protectors of life, women traditionally have 
been advocates for peace, 7 and Women's Section members are 
acting on the belief that they have a great responsibility for this 
advocacy. During this, the UN Decade for Women, they have 
appealed to women all over the world to demand an immediate 
end to the arms race and diversion of the more than $400 billion 
spent annually on armaments to the health, education and welfare 
of the world's people. They urge North American women in 
particular to exert pressure on the US government to recognize 
the necessity of disarmament through international negotiations 
and the United Nations. 
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I. Caused by heat rays burned into the skin, keloid tissue leaves heavy, 
defonning scars. 

2. ' 'The hibakusha vividly remember the shocking sights and horrors of 
the bombing. They remember the deaths of family members and relatives, and 
being forced to desert their kin in trying to escape the flames. They are still 
tonnented by the memories of those experiences. images that return at every 
mention of nuclear weapons and tests .... But an increasing number of 
hibakusha have rehabilitated themselves by finding what the external conditions 
were that drove them into difficulties and suffering, and they therefore seized the 
aim for life: a world without nuclear weapons, human solidarity for peace." Dr. 
Shigeru Yamate, "The Anguish of Hibakusha," chapter in Proceedings ofthe 
International Symposium on the Damage and After-Effects ofthe Atomic Bomb­
ing of Hiroshima and Nagasaki, July 2 I-August 9,1977, Tokyo, Hiroshima 
and Nagasaki, p. 119. 

3. Ladies Auxiliaries (Fujin Bu) are attached to many traditional and 
modern Japanese organizations. members propagate common objectives among 
women at large, and help within the group, but do not as a rule share leadership, 
When a younger woman is able to gain an executive position, she may be 
expected to vacate her post by around age 25 dutifully to raise a family. 

4. Proceedings of the International Symposium. See especially "Sum­
mary Report on Medical and Genetic After-Effects of Atomic Bombing, pp. 
-' 2 -34, and "Working Document on the Medical Effects of the Atomic Bombs," 
pp. 83-96. See also the draft report of Dr. A.M. Stewart (Regional Cancer 
Registry, Queen Elizabeth Medical Center, Binningham, England), "Alterna­
tive Analysis of the Mortality Experiences of A-bomb Survivors," 23 October 
1979. 

5. Despite the need for more exact empirical data on the biological effects 
of radiation, and the efforts now being made to collect such information, it will 
be impossible to recover much of the past hibakusha childbearing experience. 
The infonnation contained in the remainder of this paragraph is from Kazue 
Miura, Survival at 500 Meters in Hiroshima (Osaka: Women's Section, Osaka 
Association of A-bomb Victims, December 1979) p. 19. 

6. "The Japanese Government, under the 1951 San Francisco Peace 
Treaty, surrendered the right to demand reparations for the A-bombings from 
the United States. Japan therefore bears the responsibility of instituting a 
hibakusha aid law providing for full state compensation." No More Hiroshimas!, 
Japan Council Against A- and H-bombs, Tokyo, March 1979, p. 8. The Diet 
promulgated in 1957 the Law for Health Protection and Medical Care for 
A-bomb Victims, which provides for biannual governmental medical examina­
tion and treatment. The 1968 Law for Special Measures for A-bomb Victims 
went somewhat beyond the primarily medical benefits of the 1957 law, and 
reflected the hibakusha demand for livelihood secUlity. A total of aproximately 
370,000 hibakusha have secured the Ministry of Health and Welfare's Health 
Notebook for A-bomb Victims, becoming eligible thereby for certain forms of 
medical treatment and financial compensation under these two laws, However, 
several tens of thousands of survivors have not yet obtained Health Notebooks, 
and second and third generation victims are not entitled to receive them. 

A powerful campaign has been launched by the Japan Federation of 
A-bomb Survivors' Organizations to gather 20 million signatures for the enact­
ment in the spirit of .. national indemnity" by the Diet of far more comprehen­
sive hibakusha relief legislation. 

7. The Declaration of the Second Mothers Congress of Japan, Tokyo, 
August 29, 1956 affirms that "As bearers of life, mothers have the right to help 
bring up and protect all life." The First Mothers Congress on June 9, 1955 
resolved: 

Let us call the world's attention to the real conditions of the atomic bomb 
victims and Join the forces working to protect these victims; let us further 
expand the movement opposing the preparations for atomic war. 

A Decade ofthe Mothers Movement (Tokyo: Liaison Committee for the Mothers 
Congress of Japan, 1966) pp. 303-304. 
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Life Histories KazueMiura 
The following excerpts from Women's Section life histories 
point to some ofthe difficulties which the Osaka atomic bomb 
victims have faced in their struggle to survive and live with 
dignity and purpose. The more extended case studies now 
becoming available further reveal the deep and terrible phys­
ical and psychic wounds of the sufferers, and provide com­
passionate literary documentation on the damage and after­
effects of nuclear weapons. The construction of these self­
portraits was in each case a significant step in overcoming 
the obstacles to social activism which faced the women of 
Osaka. The occupation given for each woman is that in 
August 1945, followed by her location at the time ofbombing 
and her age. (H.S.) 

SumikoMine 

Nagasaki, age 10 

I walked with my mother from our home in a village 
outside Nagasaki into the ruined city on August 11 to 
search for my older brother, who had not returnedfrom 
work there. For two days we searched the neighborhood 
of what proved later to be the hypocenter of the bomb 
explosion, until at last we found my brother, still alive. 
After we returned home, I developed diarrhea and began 
vomiting. 

Although weakened by radiation sickness, I was per­
suaded by family and friends in 1956 to marry, and I gave 
birth to a son in 1958 and a daughter the next year. We 
moved to Osaka in 1964, where my husband took up work. 
But he died ofa shipyard injury in 1967. Then my 12 year 
old daughter Junko perished of leukemia in 1972. I was 
left with Kenichi, in whom I was completely invested 
emotionally. 

In November 1974 Ken developed symptoms which 
were diagnosed by our neighborhood doctor as rheumatic 
fever. It was not until Ken's teacher ofEnglish visited him 
in hospital in December, when he learned of my early 
years in Nagasaki and Junko' s death from leukemia, that 
a closer examination was made at the teacher's urging. 
Ken had leukemia, and not much time was left. Despite 
encouragement given by his classmates, who presented 
him with one thousandfolded paper cranes donated by his 
friends, and despite my constant attention to his condition 
and his own fierce determination to stay alive, Kenichi 
died on August 6, 1975. His was the eighth leukemia 
death among the Nisei Hibakusha ofOsaka since 1967. 

My lonely struggle with griefand guilt was for a time 
unbearable. Never suspecting that my body was contam­
inated by radioactivity, questions such as: "Why did I 
marry, and give birth to these children? Why should I 
continue to live?" plagued me. Fortunately, the Women's 
Section, as it has done with numerous sadly depressed 
victims, gave me a reason for living and helped pull me 
out ofmy suicidal depths. 

Switchboard operator, 

Hiroshima Central Telephone Exchange, age 18 


When I finished school in 1941, I began to work as an 
operator in the Central Telephone Exchange. December 
eighth of that year was an especially busy day, on which 
Japan declared war against the Allies. As the war grew in 
intensity, the Telephone Exchange was staffed almost 
entirely by women, mobilized high school girls among 
them. 

The Telephone Exchange was located within 500 
meters of the hypocenter of the A -bomb explosion, and I 
was one ofthe few people who survived in this innermost 
zone. I was hurled to the floor by the fierce blast, and felt 
warm blood spurting from my nose and mouth. After a 
momentary silence, the shrill voices ofmy workmates rose 
to a mournful chorus. At one of the second floor exits, I 
found a girl who was thrown through a window and whose 
face ,fullofglass, was bleeding profusely. I held her in my 
arms, and led her out ofthe building. 

Beautiful Hiroshima was now a wasteland ofdebris. 
I desperately wanted to make my way home, 400 meters 
from the hypocenter, but the heatfrom the burning houses 
was too intense. I decided instead to go with my compa­
nion to her home in the north ofthe city. She was in such 
fear that she would not part her hands from mine, even for 
a moment. Stunned, expressionless, monsterlike people, 
young and old, cried outfor their mothers and beggedfor 
water. When I tried to comfort children, words would not 
come, only tears. 

The next morning I was able to return to the place 
where my house had stood so sturdily. It looked as if the 
house had been melted and coagulated. My father, mother, 
little brother and sister were nowhere to be seen, and I 
learned later that they had all perished during or soon 
after the bombing. There was nothing I could do but write 
"Kazue, Alive!" on the wall of the water tank, now 
completely dry. I walked back andforth between what had 
been my home and my place of work, ignorant of the 
terrible effects of residual radioactivity, looking desp­
erately for myfamily and friends. 

I was suffering intensely from diarrhea. I got weaker 
and thinner and felt like a ghost. At the hospital the 
doctors were sure I would die from the terrible, mysteri­
ous symptoms which had already claimed so many lives. 
But through the kindness ofa family friend, who took me 
to his quiet home by the sea and fed me fresh fish and 
oranges, I miraculously began to recover. 

In November, although I was still weak, I went to my 
two sisters in Osaka, carrying the ashes ofour parents in 
an urn wrapped in cloth hanging from my neck. My sisters 
nursed me back to health. They introduced me to a good 
man, and we married in 1948. 

My first baby was stillborn, as was the case with one 
ofmy older sisters who was A -bombed in Hiroshima. I was 
hesitant to have another, but we wanted children very 
badly. In 1950 I gave birth to a boy, and in 1953 I had a 
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girl. My daughter Maki is troubled by anemia and low 
blood pressure. 

As she grew older, Maki noticed that newspapers in 
the summer featured stories ofthe bombings and deaths of 
survivors. She came to hate all reminders ofthe bombing 
because of the pain it had caused me and her fear that I, 
too, would succumb. When she wasfourteen she looked me 
in the face reproachfully and asked: "Why did you give 
birth to me, Mom? You are a bomb victim, so you should 
not have brought me into the world." I had long anti­
cipated that question, but no amount ofemotional prep­
aration could have softened the blow ofthose few words. I 
told her that I had thought a lot before giving birth to her 
and didn't know whether she might get a bad disease, not 
wanting to mention leukemia . .'And what would you do if 
it happened to me?" she asked. What could I answer her? 
In painful honesty I told her that there was nothing we 
could do about it. That was the saddest and most heart­
breaking moment ofmy life. 

Maki is now married and has two children. She and 
the Women's Section members have been a constant source 
of help and encouragement to me, especially since my 
health has deteriorated. In late 1976 I began to suffer 
from symptoms ofanemia, and a gynecological examina­
tion revealed myoma of the uterus (a fibro-muscular tu­
mor). Now I had joined the ranks of the seriously ill 
Hibakusha, many of whom had been operated on for 
uterine cancer, myoma or cystoma (ovarian cyst). Gov­
ernment benefits are often withheld and denied to Hiba­
kusha, and it was only after this diagnosis that the govern­
ment granted me "Especially Serious Case" status. To 
my happiness, the Women's Section published my life 
story Survival at 500 Meters in Hiroshima in December 
1979, and I hope that it may serve to prevent any other 
human beings from experiencing the horrors of nuclear 
war. 

(Kazue Miura died on 25 April 1980 ofstomach cancer.) 

INTERNATIONAL CONFERENCE 
Soviet Union in the Third World 

Nov. 29 - 30,1980, Montreal, Canada. 

. In recent. years, the Soviet Union has invaded Afghanistan, supported Vietnam's 
intervention In Kampuchea, and increased its military presence around the world. 

• What ar. the Implication. of Soviet actlville. In the Third World? 
• I. the USSR a force for war or peace? 

All those interested in peace and liberation must deal with these urgent questions. 

This is the aim of this Conference: 
• Soviet global atrategy and the Third World 
• Economic relatlona between the USSR and the Third World 
• The experience of IIberaUon movement. In dealing with the USSR 

Representatives of national liberation movements and noted scholars will participate 
including Dr. Jame. Endicott, veteran peace actlvlat. ' 

WE SOLICIT YOUR PARTICIPATION 

For Information: 	Committee to Support the Peoples of the Third 
World (CAPT) 
P.O. Box 375, Outremont Station, Montreal, Que. 
H2V 4N3 
Telephone: (514) 279-4191 

Toshiko Nakamura 

Housewife, mother of six, Nagasaki 

I was cleaning our family's tiny underground air 
raid shelter on a hillside near our two story home in 
Hamaguchi-cho, when I saw a sudden flash and felt 
something pressed hard against my cheeks. The rest was 
sheer darkness. When I pushed my way out ofthe shelter, I 
saw a blaze envelop the whole neighborhood, including 
our home, where several ofmy six children were playing. 
The dwelling was crushed under the neighboring house, 
which in turn had fallen beneath the next house. 

I could not even approach home, and so I fled, 
alongside afew other ghostlike, totteringforms which had 
emerged from the flames, into a sweet potato field, where I 
had to spend the night. The next morning, I returned to the 
site ofmy house, but whatever objects I moved only raised 
clouds ofhot ashes. I went to the home of relatives, who 
told me that my face was scorched black and covered with 
scabs. As awful as that was, it didn't seem as important as 
being without my children. 

On the third day, a friend of my husband came to 
help me salvage the debris ofmy home. We discovered a 
white, round object, An elderly passing soldier told us 
that it was the skull ofa man in his thirties or forties. This 
must be my husband's, I realized. Dazed we dug up six 
more skulls, and my children's butterfly badges with 
them. 

How often I thought of killing myself! Livid spots 
appeared all over my body, and I frequently felt very sick. 
My hair fell out. But I had to begin earning a living, and 
so I became a seamstress. In 1948, when I had still not 
absorbed all the effects ofthe atomic catastrophe, I mar­
ried a man who initially promised to help me. After I 
realized that I could not trust him, we separated, but I was 
already pregnant. I decided to have the child, a baby girl 
who was a living image ofmy departed second daughter. 
The rest ofmy life will befor this girl, I resolved. 

Sewing, however, became unbearable because the 
beautiful clothes I was making brought painful memories 
ofmy children who were no more. 

I moved from city to city with my daughter, from 
Fukuoka to Sasebo and back to Nagasaki, working as a 
poorly paid hotel domestic, trying to keep her from going 
hungry while I was periodically hospitalized for A-bomb 
illness. 

My first-born daughter, a high school girl in 1945, 
had been put to work by the Imperial Government, and 
this qualified me for a pension under the Relief Measures 
Law for the Wounded, Diseased or Bereaved in War of 
19.52. But neither the City ofNagasaki nor the Ministry of 
Health and Welfare notified me ofmy rights, and if it had 
not been for the consultation program of the Women's 
Section, I would have remained ignorant of this benefit. 

In time, moreover, A Health Notebook for A-bomb 
Victims became obtainable by persons identified as Hiba­
kusha, which qualifies for limited compensation under 
Hibakusha legislation. I went to the Nagasaki City Office 
to secure my Notebook, and the official in charge said to 
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me sarcastically: "We envy you Hibakusha. Your Note­
books will provide you with everything you need, won't 
they?" That made me very angry I threw down the Note­
book crying ''This Book will not restore my family. Give 
me back my husband and my six children!" 

PeopLe called me stubborn, and as such I fought my 
way through. My daughter compLeted high schooL and 
took courses in CosmetoLogy. She Left Nagasaki to work in 
Osaka in Late 1965. I wanted to acompany her, but had to 
undergo Long hospitalizations after bLood appeared in my 
phLegm. It Was not until 1968 that I was weLL enough to 
come to Osaka. Here, my doctor tells me that there is a 
tumor in my gullet. But I won't give way to this disease so 
soon. How couLd I, after my miracuLous survivaL through 
the hoLocaust ofthe bomb? 

My daughter and I are managing now, but she says 
thoughtfully: "I feeL kind of guilty when I think of my 
happy Life with you, mother, while all my sisters and 
brothers were killed by the A-bomb." I am worried by her 
weak heaLth, and am determined not to die until she opens a 
beauty shop ofher own, and meets a good young man to 
provide for her continued happiness. 

The gatherings of the Women's Section have given 
me the opportunity to come across my dear oLd Nagasaki 
diaLect, and to give fuLL expression to the feelings I have 
had ever since that fataL day. When I made up my mind to 
publish my Life story in Unvanquished, We March, the 
magazine of the Women's Section, my daughter at first 
tried to stop me, because she was afraid that it wouLd 
renew my sorrow. But when she saw my insistent Look, she 
agreed. 

My memories are inexhaustible. I am determined 
that the crueLty of war never be repeated. Nobody will 
ever cheat me into beLieving the the glory ofwar. 

Fumiko Nonaka 

Labor team, Hiroshima, age 24 

I was working in downtown Hiroshima a little after 8 
am, when a woman near me cried: "Here comes a B-29 
bomber!" The instant I Looked up at the sky, my face was 
pierced by an intense flash of Light and I feLt my whoLe 
body shrink. My skin was aLL of a sudden shredded and 
hanging Like dried squid roasted on afire. But at least my 
jacket and underwear saved my inner organs. 

I lost consciousness. I don't know how much time 
passed before I returned to my senses. Someone must have 
heLped me to reach a temporary first aid station. My face 
was swollen beyond recognition, the burnt flesh of my 
arms, hands and fingers was hanging out of my sleeves 
and drooping down my fingertips, and I was temporarily 
blind. 

My husband searchedfor me in aLL the makeshift aid 
stations, andfortunately, when at last on August 9 he saw 
my misshapenjigure, he spotted my wedding ring. To my 
joy he shouted in my ear' 'Are you Fumiko?" 

I was Later taken on a truck to a navaL hospitaL in the 
nearby port ofKure. There, when the doctor removed the 
tightLy sticking bandages from my face, the pain was so 
severe that it made my eyes water. My husband later toLd 
me that while I was in the hospitaL he was often tempted to 
kiLL me because he couLd not stand to see me suffering so 
much pain. 

My parents, brother and sister, and severaL other 
reLatives came to the hospitaL with two urns offirewood, 
prepared for my death and cremation. But instead they 
carried me back on a stretcher and tenderLy cared for me 
at home. I couLd open my mouth onLy wide enough to 
swallow three grains of rice at a time, and my mother 
patientLy sat at my bedside feeding me the nourishment I 
needed to stay alive. My brother-in-Law carefully removed 
the darkened skin with tweezers from my face and limbs, 
washed my skin with saLt water, and coated it with cook­
ing oil. 

When I couLd finally move my body, I returned to the 
dwelling of my husband. It was then that he found it 
difficuLt to live with such an ugLy, feebLe woman. Some of 
his friends suggested that he divorce me. He did go off 
with another woman, who bore him a son in 1946, but 
their reLationship did not Last, and he brought the child to 
me. I raised the boy with aLL my might, as if he were my 
own. However in 1950 my husband again abandoned me 
for another woman, taking the child with him. 

Left aLone, I joined a government program forthe 
poor as a Laborer for Less than 400 yen ($1) per day in 
Niigata. There were many days when I couLd hardLy stand 
up under the Load, but I was at Leastfortunate to have the 
heartwarming encouragement of my fellow union mem­
bers, who offered me the blood I needed for anemia 
transfusions. I still had to undergo scar removaL, mouth 
widening and skin graft operations, some without anes­
thesia. 

My husband came home again, unemployed, and my 
wages now had to support the child. Butagain my husband 
left me and went this time to Hiroshima, He died there in 
the A-bomb Hospital around 1960, a victim probably of 
the radiation he absorbed while searching for me in the 
ruins. 

I moved to Osaka, originally to get away from where 
my husband was, and to find a more suitable climate for 
my convaLescence. Through the Women's Section, a doc­
tor ofthe Osaka Red Cross HospitaL supported my applica­
tionfor medicaL compensation, and the Ministry ofHeaLth 
and Welfare awarded me a modest allowance. This was 
partly for what the doctor caLLed' 'ugLy Looks caused by 
serious burn scarring." ALthough I am relieved by this 
pension, my bLood boils in anger whenever untutored 
children gazing at me say "Hey, look at that woman's 
face!" 

Taking part in the meetings of the Women's Section 
has come to be the main purpose ofmy life. I am gLad to be 
alive to work for peace. How great was my joy whenfor 
the first tiffle I spoke on the Section's behalf in public! * 
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T.A. Bisson and the Limits 
of Reform in Occupied Japan 

by Howard Schonberger 

In his memoirs former Prime Minister Yoshida Shigeru 
identified a group within the American occupation bureaucracy 
as "radical elements-what might be called 'New Dealers' ­
who sought to utilize occupied Japan as an experimental ground 
for testing out their theories of progress and reform. " He claimed 
that such "mistakes of the Occupation" as the decentralization 
of the police, passage of the Labor Standards Law, the purge, 
the anti-monopoly program, and so on resulted from the 
literal and overzealous interpretation of Washington directives 
by the' 'New Dealers." Government Section ofthe headquarters 
of the Supreme Commander of Allied Powers (SCAP), the 
Prime Minister recalled, housed more than its share of officials 
who had little understanding of actual conditions in postwar 
Japan or the practical needs of government. Thomas Arthur 
Bisson, "an enthusiastic New Dealer with advanced views 
regarding ways and means of democratizing our financial 
world, " for example, had helped draft a purge plan for Japanese 
business which, had it been enforced, "would have played 
havoc with our national economy. " Working with the "realists" 
in SCAP, Yoshida boasted he "never lost an opportunity to 
demand the revision and readjustment" of key Occupation­
sponsored reforms and had been able "to temper the, at times, 
rigorous demands made by the Government Section. " I 

That Yoshida singled out Bisson for special criticism re­
flected not only Bisson's prominence as a SCAP "New Dealer" 
but his subsequent importance as a left-wing critic of the "New 
Japan." From April 1947, when he left Japan, until 1954, when 
his publishing career came to an abrupt end, Bisson authored two 
books and numerous articles which emphasized the failure of 
the Occupation to achieve the announced democratic aims of its 
initial post-surrender policy toward Japan. By the late 1940s 
that interpretation of the Occupation undercut efforts of Ameri­
can and Japanese policy-makers to have Japan serve as a model 

of stable capitalist development for an Asia in revolution, It also 
clashed with the dominant historiography on Japan emerging in 
the United States which, not surprisingly, was congruent with 
the outlook of American policy-makers, Without using Bisson's 
name but having him prominently in mind, Edwin 0, Reisch­
auer, the Mt. Fuji of American historians of Japan, was among 
the very first to take issue with "those of leftist sympathies" 
who argued during and after the Occupation that the "reform of 
Japan must be thoroughgoing-even ruthless if necessary." 
For Reischauer, the "pessimistic" left-wing view that the Oc­
cupation failed to achieve democracy in Japan rested on the 
misconception that "everything about pre-surrender Japan was 
bad." The "slight readjustment of the rules and temporary 
weighing of the scales in favor of the peaceful and democratic 
forces over the militaristic and authoritarian forces," accomp­
lished by the Americans during the Occupation, Reischauer 
concluded, was all that was necessary for "reversing the history 
of the 1930s" and restoring a democratic polity in Japan. 2 

Today Bisson's career and writings are either forgotten or 
clouded by 'the inaccurate and politically inspired stereotypes 
that developed during the early Cold War in Japan and the 
United States. What follows is a brief sketch of Bisson's career 
prior to the Occupation, his critique of Occupation planning by 
Japan Crowd officials in the State Department, his role in the 
Occupation, and an analysis of his major books on the Occupa­
tion. Bisson's encounter with the McCarren Committee in 1952 
and its tragic aftermath are touched on in the conclusion. In a 
small way, this essay seeks to correct the prevailing distortions 
about Bisson's life, introduce his work to a new generation of 
Asia scholars, and emphasize his positive contribution to an 
understanding of the roots of contemporary American and 
Japanese imperialism in Asia. 
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I 
I The Making of a Concerned Scholar 

I 
When he joined SCAP in 1946, T.A. Bisson, as he gener­

ally signed his publications, was 45 years old and recognized as 
one of the leading American authorities on East Asia. His 
interest in the region had been sparked by four years in China as 

I a Presbyterian missionary. Escaping the chaos and repression of 
the Nationalist Revolution under General Jiang Jieshi, Bisson 
returned to the United States in 1928, nearly finished a Ph. D. in 
Chinese Studies at Columbia University, and then joined the 

j prestigious Foreign Policy Association (FPA) in 1929 as Re­
search Associate on the Far East. 3 

In more than a decade with the FPA, Bisson wrote over a 
hundred scholarly and popular articles and two books on con­t 
temporary developments in China and Japan. His writings I

I rested on a foundation of careful study of newspapers, govern­
ment documents, as well as first-hand observations made during 
1937 in Japan, Korea, and China (including four days of meet­
ings with Chinese Communist leaders in Yenan). Though often 
suffering from an excessive empiricism, Bisson's scholarship in 
the 1930s was of the highest standard and usually won him 
praise from scholars and statesmen alike, even those who dis­
agreed with his evident commitment to the success of the Chinese 
revolution against Western and Japanese imperialism. 4 

Primarily out of his personal experience of and profes­
sional interest in East Asia, Bisson became actively associated 
with the American Left during the 1930s. The founding of the 
American Friends of the Chinese People (AFCP) appears to 
have provided him with the initial focus for his growing radi­
calism. Although the AFCP embraced participants of any politi­
cal stripe who subscribed to its program of support for' 'the 
Chinese People's fight for national liberation [andl resistance to 
Japanese invasion," it was probably controlled by the United 
States Communist Party (CP). Phillip J. Jaffe, managing editor 
of the AFCP's official organ, China Today, and a self-described 
"very close fellow traveler," invited Bisson to serve on the 
magazine's editorial board. 5 Using the pseudonym Frederick 
Spencer from 1934 to 1937 for his articles in China Today, 
Bisson lambasted the Nanjing government, lauded the courage­
ous leadership of the Chinese Communists, and demanded that 
Japan and the United States surrender their imperialist priv­
ileges in China. 6 

The outbreak of the Sino-Japanese war and the formation 
of a united front government in China prompted Bisson, Jaffe, 
and others in the AFCP to launch a less "partisan" and more 
academically respectable journal than China Today. As an editor 
and contributor to Amerasia from 1937 until 1941 Bisson muted 
criticism of Jian Jieshi, favored American aid to the united front 
government of China, worked to cut off trade in war materials to 
Japan from the United States, and pushed for collective security 
of all the Powers against Japanese imperialism. While these 
ideas appeared in Bisson's FPA publications and his two books, 
they were perhaps most pronounced in Amerasia and the con­
tinuing China Today. 7 

As with thousands of other Americans, United States entry 
into World War II changed Bisson's life. His scholarly interest 
shifted from China to Japan. By the end of January 1942 Bisson 
was ensconsed in the Washington offices of the Board of Econ­
omic Warfare (BEW) headed by Vice President Henry Wallace. 
Drawing on his research skills and vast knowledge acquired at 

the FPA, Bisson plunged into a major study on the most effec­
tive strategy for blocking the flow of essential war supplies to 
Japan and disrupting the Japanese economy. When the BEW 
succumbed in 1943 to intense bureaucratic wrangling and 
charges by Representative Martin Dies of the House Un-Amer­
ican Activities Committee (HUAC) that 35 employees, includ­
ing Bisson, were members of fellow-traveler organizations, 
Bisson returned to his home in New York. 8 

) 
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T. A. Bisson, January 1978 (Photo by Schonberger) 

A two year stint at the end of the war as an associate editor 
of PaCific Affairs, the prestigious journal of the Institute for 
Pacific Relations (lPR), placed Bisson at the center of the 
controversies raging over post-war American plans for Asia. 
Bisson recognized that the war had shattered the hold of the old 
order, fanned revolutionary fires, and left the United States 
alone as the dominant outside power in the region. In the 
outpouring of reviews, articles, and books from Bisson's pen 
while at IPR, one theme predominated, namely that American 
policy-makers, through a combination of ignorance and malev­
olence, would thwart the legitimate aspirations for self-deter­
mination of Asian peoples. 
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Agnes Jaffe, Philip Jaffe, T. A. Bisson, George Fitch. 

Photos on Pp. 28, 29, 30, 31 are from T. A. Bisson, Yenan in June 1937: Talks 
with the Communist Leaders (Berkeley: University of Cali fomi a, 1973). Printed 
with permission. 

The Japan Crowd Gadfly 
The principal target of Bisson's wrath during the closing 

phase of the war in the Pacific was former Ambassador to Japan 
Joseph Grew. Scion of a wealthy New England family and 
cousin of J.P. Morgan, Grew led the powerful, ultra-conser­
vative Japan Crowd in the State Department and served as 
Acting Secretary of State for three critical months in the spring 
of 1945. Grew, Eugene Dooman, and others engaged in the 
wartime planning for the Occupation of Japan were pessimistic 
about the Nationalist cause in China and thought Secretary of 
State Cordell Hull and some Old China Hands were foolish to 
attempt to anchor post-war American policy in Asia on a China 
rent by civil war. Rather, Grew and the Japan Crowd favored the 
re-integration of Japan as a Cold War ally of the United States 
and the dominant capitalist and anti-revolutionary power in 
Asia. Grew anticipated a brief Occupation in which the militarists 
and extremists would be purged and the so-called moderates 
under a refurbished Emperor institution would rule. 9 

Bisson was not the most renowned challenger of the Japan 
Crowd's plans for the Occupation or their reading of Japanese 
history that served to buttress those plans. (The work of Owen 
Lattimore and Andrew Roth were much better known. to) But 
Bisson offered perhaps the most sophisticated and thoroughly 
documented critique of the Japan Crowd's views. It began with 
what he considered their simplistic notion that Japanese im­
perialism was the result of a milifarist takeover of the Japanese 
state beginning in 1931. Drawing heavily from the work of his 
friend, E. Herbert Norman, Bisson traced the authoritarian and 
imperialist Japanese state system baek to the Meiji Restoration 

of 1868. That state system embraced continuing shifts in power 
of the business interests, party leaders, the military, bureaucrats, 
and the landlords. "Neither the absolute supremacy nor the final 
liquidation" ~f any of these groups was tolerated, Bisson wrote 
in Pacific Affairs in 1944. Instead, the coalition strove as a 
whole to "buttress its dictatorship at home," primarily through 
the theology surrounding the Emperor, and by pressing "Ja­
pan's 'manifest destiny' overseas." Consequently, for Bisson, 
no one of these groups was inherently moderate or extremist. 
When Japan moved to fascism and imperialist aggression in the 
1930s, Bisson argued, "the decisive elements in all of the 
groups [were J in agreement on the program and. . . the steps to 
be taken." Grew and the Japan Crowd were fostering, perhaps 
willfully Bisson suggested, the delusion that the United States 
had" allies within the gates of the Japanese regime amongst the 
'moderates' when in fact these moderates were, in their foreign 
policy, cautious imperialists willing to move [their] pins for­
ward on the map when additional territory had been occupied" t 1 

One of the principal tenets of the Japan Crowd's thesis was 
the need to preserve the Emperor system. For Bisson, however, 
the Emperor was the staunchest bulwark of the ruling coalition's 
dictatorship, supplying the master race ideology for Japan's 
aggression and sanctioning full-blooded repression at home. 
That Grew would pass off the Emperor as a neutral who could be 
used by the Allies, "as a puppet without political responsibility 
of any kind, " was a gross misreading of history. 12 

The sharpest difference between Bisson and the Japan 
Crowd was over their reading of the role of the zaibatsu in 
Japan's ruling coalition. From research for his FPAReports and 
for the BEW Bisson became convinced that even at the height of 
the influence of the military, Japanese Cabinets were largely 
under the control of the zaibatsu and thatthe industrial capitalists 
bore primary responsibility for leading Japan down the road to 
war. In his third book, Japan's War Economy, published in 
1945 Bisson carefully documented the increasing size and ways 
zaibatsu leaders used state power to dominate all facets of 
Japanese economic and political life. He let loose with the most 
biting sarcasm he could muster against the Japan Crowd's' 'lush 
mythological growth" and "strange tales" of zaibatsu execu­
tives as men of peace, mortal enemies of the militarists, and 
friends of the United States in the preface. To look to the 
zaihatsu to rule Japan in a peaceful, democratic manner for 
American benefit was, for Bisson, a "grand delusion." 

The epitome ofmodern Japan is not the "militarists," but the 
Zaibatsu. If the latter is permitted to control the restoration 
of Japan's economy, his buddy, the "militarist," will be 
found trotting at his heels again when the job is finished. 13 

Bisson wanted a new and democratic Japan after surrender. 
That meant a "totally new set of government organs, manned by 
totally new personnel, encouraged to develop by the United 
Nations if the 'revolutionary overthrow' of the old system was 
not carried through by the Japanese people first," Bisson wrote 
in Pacific Affairs in 1944. To effect real and lasting results, 
Occupation policy would have to exclude the "moderates" so 
favored by the Japan Crowd because by definition they were 
cautious supporters ofthe Old Japan. Instead the United Nations 
must seek authentic' 'liberals" with a history of total opposition 
to the old regime or at least non-cooperation. The new leaders, 
Bisson wrote, must be men and women in Japan "who led 
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political parties, trade unions, or peasant organizations that 
were suppressed prior to 1941; [who] have spoken publicly and 
unequivocally against the war, and have perhaps languished in 
jail for their temerity." After listing a few distinguished names 
-Kanju Kato, Yukio Ozaki, Nosaka Sanzo, Baroness Ishimoto 
(among them several Communists)-Bisson concluded that 
only such Japanese could establish a political order in Japan 
"based on the will of the people and dedicated to democracy and 
peace." 14 

The immediate aftermath of the end of the war in the 
Pacific fed Bisson's worst fears regarding American policy in 
Asia, particularly Japan. Occupation authorities seemed to be 
carrying out the Japan Crowd's program of preserving the 
Imperial system, defining war criminals so narrowly as to ab­
solve the zaibatsu and civilian bureaucrats, and in general 
placing more emphasis on stability and order than democratic 
reform. But in an October 1945 article in the New Republic 
Bisson suggested that the departure of Grew and other Japan 
Crowd figures at the end of the war had prompted the State 
Department to make a "tardy revision" of Occupation policy 
which, if implemented, could secure real democracy for Japan. 
The Basic Directive of the Occupation sent to General Douglas 
MacArthur in September included not only limiting Japanese 
sovereignty to the main islands and the destruction of Japan's 
military establishment, but promotion of policies which would 
encourage the wider distribution of income and wealth, the 
development of labor unions, the revamping of the educational 
system, the purge of economic and political leaders associated 
with militaristic policies, and so on. Above all, the Basic Direc­
tive seemed to leave open the possibility, in Bisson's view, for 
reversal of the most serious mistake of the Occupation, namely 
the attempt to carry out reform through the Emperor and his 
bureaucracy. "Only Hirohito' s enforced abdication and trial 
will be sufficient to drive home to the Japanese people, "Bisson 
wrote, "the realization of defeat which is so patently absent ... 
And once Hirohito was off the scene, Bisson insisted, the more 
difficult task of uprooting the Emperor system would have to 
follow. Without that the democratic forces in Japan would not 
survive the withdrawal of occupation troops. 15 In short, Ameri­
can Occupation policy was still in flux. Much depended on who 
was in Japan and how they interpreted their somewhat vague 
directives. 

Occupationaire 
Whatever his reservations about American policy towards 

Japan, Bisson left the [PR in October 1945 and spent the better 
part of the next two years-first as a member of the United 
States Strategic Bombing Survey mission and then as the top 
economic analyst for Government Section ofSCAP-attempting 
to realize his vision of a new and democratic Japan. 

Bisson's first months in Japan in the fall of 1945 for the 
Bombing Survey provided him with insight into the scramble of 
the Old Guard ofJapan to maintain power, the political awaken­
ing of the Japanese people, and the increasingly reactionary role 
of Occupation officials in the sharpening struggle between the 
Old Guard and the people. In interviews with several of the 
zaibatsu leaders about whom he had written in Japan's War 
Economy, Bisson observed their repeated attempts to blame the 
military for the war, their raising of the specter of communism, 

and their parrying of questions linking them to the Emperor and 
control of Japan's war economy. 16 Outside his Tokyo office, 
Bisson witnessed the intense popular reaction against the Old 
Guard and its policies. Nothing was being done forthethousands 
of students and the unemployed who were marching in the 
streets demanding government food relief, Bisson wrote home 
to his wife, "yet billions of yen [were] being shoveled out to 
Zaibatsu concerns in contract cancellation payment-and Mac­
Arthur [is] refusing to recognize it as a problem." The air was 
electric with strikes, demonstrations for food, and protests 
against the government, and wittingly or not, Bisson saw Occu­
pation authorities siding with the Old Guard. "The Konoye­
Kido clique, [the Emperor's close aides] is getting in soft at 
HQ," he wrote. 17 

Before returning to the United States with the Bombing 
Survey team to celebrate Christmas with his family and com­
plete the draft of his report, Bisson agreed to join SCAP's 
powerful Government Section (GS). On March I he rejoined 
friends in Tokyo for what he thought was a three month assign­
ment but which eventually lengthened to fifteen months. During 
his hectic tenure with GS, Bisson was primarily involved in 
three major reform areas-the zaibatsu dissolution program, 
engineering the passage of the .. MacArthur Constitution" 
through the Diet, and an abortive plan to get SCAP to enforce a 
workable, anti-inflationary economic stabilization plan. 

The political and bureaucratic context in which he had to 
work on these reforms became distressingly clear to Bisson in 
his first weeks back in Tokyo. The old line political parties, as 
he had predicted, had swept the first general election and an 
ultra-conservative Cabinet, including many whom Bisson re­
garded as war criminals, was established under Prime Minister 
Yoshida Shigeru. Even worse. in Bisson's opinion. indirect 
rather than direct rule by the O~cupation gave enormous lever­
age to the bureaucrats in the Japanese Government ministries to 
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resist or ignore the whole refonn program. In addition, since the 
administration and enforcement of the American-sponsored leg­
islation was in the hands of the Japanese, unless the Americans 
had a rigorous surveillance system, even those measures that 
passed the Diet intact could easily be subverted. in charge of 
surveillance, however, was Major-General Charles Willoughby, 
head of G-2, an admirer of fascist General Francisco Franco, 
and more concerned about left-wing infiltration of the Occupa­
tion by people like Bisson than in eliminating the reactionaries 
of Japan. Not surprisingly, the most "indelible impression" 
Bisson had of the Occupation was the day-in and day-out non­
cooperation he met by the Japanese and their allies within 
SCAP. IH 

Given his recognized expertise in the machinations of the 
;,aibatsu, Bisson's first assignment was to devise an economic 
purge directive. a key part of the broader program for breaking 
up concentrations of economic power known as zaibatsu disso­
lution. Bisson immediately became embroiled in a squabble 
with Economic Scientific Section (ESS) which had been ini­

tially assigned the job of writing the "economic purge," but had 
not proceeded on the grounds that a purge of Japan's most 
experienced business personnel would delay vital economic 
recovery. For Bisson, however, the reason for ESS delay was 
that its staff had too many representatives from American big 
business with close ties to the financial and industrial elite of 
Japan. 19 In any case, under pressure from the GS initiative, ESS 
worked up its own economic purge proposal that was consider­
ably less sweeping than Bisson·s. At first Bisson was encouraged 
by what he thought was the strong support he received both from 
his Chief, General Courtney Whitney, and from MacArthur for 
the GS economic purge. But as spring passed into summer 
without any action, Bisson realized that the real problem was 
less with ESS and more with MacArthur. MacArthur, he be­
lieved, knew that to approve any economic purge would lead to 
a fight with the Yoshida Cabinet and that would delay passage of 

SCAP's pet project, the new Constitution, then winding its way 
through the Diet. "The job here is sort of stymied now, " Bisson 
wrote to his wife on July 3, 1946, "with most of the real things 
crying to be done stalled until the Constitution gets through and 
lest we upset the reactionary Yoshida Cabinet. "20 

The Constitution question, which increasingly occupied 
Bisson in the summer and fall, fully reinforced Bisson's long­
standing suspicions of the Japanese Old Guard. He had mis­
takenly thought that the GS draft of the Japanese Constitution 
imposed on the Shidehara Cabinet in February had settled the 
matter. But careful study by GS language officers of the phras­
ings of the Japanese text indicated considerable deviation from 
the intent of the Americans. Bisson was appalled by the ef­
frontery of the Japanese Cabinet negotiators. For example, in 
the preamble to the Constitution and in the first article defining 
the status of the Emperor were several references in the English 
language text to the "sovereignty of the people's will." The 
Japanese had translated people as "kokumin." In a lengthy 
memo to General Whitney in mid-July, Bisson and two other 
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GS staffers argued that the proper translation of people in that 
context was "jinmin," for" kokumin" meant in English "na­
tion" rather than people and carried with it the connotation that 
the Emperor's will was melted into the will of the people. To 
Bisson the concept of democracy required that the people have a 
separate will from the Emperor's will. He could not imagine the 
use of the word "kokumin" in the Constitution being accept­
able to SCAP. 

Similarly, the Japanese had translated the English word 
"sovereignty" to a Japanese word meaning "supremacy." By 
these two seemingly inconsequential changes (people into na­
tion and sovereignty into supremacy), Bisson explained, "sov­
ereignty is not located in the people as the basis of the state, but 
has been shifted to kokumin comprising the people, the Em­
peror and the government. " That paved the way, he feared, for 

30 



i 

) 


the Emperor to exercise a part of the sovereign power rather than 
exist, as intended by GS, as merely a symbol of state carrying 
out ceremonial functions. The final compromise accepted by GS 
did not please Bisson: though people remained kokumin, su­
premacy was changed back to the original sovereignty. 21 In 
fact, the whole struggle over the Constitution-there were 
some 30 similar word changes or amendments by the Japanese 
to the American draft-was an illustration for Bisson of the 
"continuing stranglehold over the machinery of government 
which the predominantly reactionary bureaucrats" exercised. 
And even the largely successful defense of the American draft of 
the Constitution did not end Bisson's doubts. The Constitution, 
he told his wife, was "blemished" from the outset by its 
. 'permanent entrenchment of the Tenno [Emperor] system, 
even though modified in some respects. "22 

By October 1946 with the Constitution finally passed by 
the Diet, Bisson thought he would be able to devote his full 
efforts to pushing through the long-delayed economic purge, 
and other aspects of the Zliibatsu dissolution program. It was not 
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Finally and despite expressed policy, the Japanese government 
was sharing scarce raw materials among all users rather than 
channeling supplies to plants which were essential. As a result, 
the favored companies were seeking larger profits by remaining 
idle, speculating in raw materials, and concentrating on re­
habilitating their plants to build up their equity. Although there 
were SCAP directives and Japanese laws and ordinances pro­
hibiting all of these corrupt and inflationary practices, none of 
them were enforced. 23 

Bisson linked the government's deliberate inflationary pol­
icies to a campaign by the Old Guard to sabotage the democratic 
objectives of the Occupation. Unless SCAP acted quickly, he 
warned, one of the first casualties of the inflation would be the 
zaibatsu dissolution program. The various tax levies and in­
demnities against the big stockholders in the zaibatsu com­
panies that were part of the dissolution program had become 
practically meaningless as businessmen simply pad the govern­
ment in increasingly devalued yen. Holders of these zaibatsu 
stock were also reaping additional gain by the upward evalua­

to be. The inflationary crisis in the economy overshadowed 
everything. In a remarkable memorandum to General Whitney 
at the end of October, he argued that monthly inflation rates of 
70 and 80 percent were the result of conscious and deliberate 
policies of the zaibatsu and government leaders. 

Whenever possible the Japanese authorities ... are 
attempting to maximize government outgo. Virtually every 
section in SCAP . . . can produce examples ofpadded bud­
getary allotments for which approval has been sought. These 
authorities are at the same time attempting to minimize 
income, [for example} permitting normal taxes to be paid 
from relatively worthless restricted deposits. Price rises for 
commodities are not only permitted by the Japanese 
authorities whenever possible but are actually fostered by 
them. The most recent example is the case ofrice .... 

tion of their assets as the inflation progressed. And economic 
conditions in general were causing the liquidation or absorption 
of numerous small firms. "In the aftermath of an inflationary 
bout." Bisson concluded. "the largest and strongest" firms, 
namely the zaibatsu combines. would emerge as powerful as 
they ever were. SCAP dissolution program or not. !4 

Other SCAP reform efforts were also being undermined by 
the inflation, Bisson felt. "For the wage and salary earner, the 
effects of the present inflation are already serious: they would be 
disastrous if it became a runaway inflation." He accurately 
predicted a wave of labor disputes and strikes. In short, as 
inflation weakened labor and generated unrest while strengthen­
ing the economic power of the old ruling elements, it was 
necessarily thwarting the proclaimed SCAP objective of estab­
lishing a stable and popularly controlled government. 25 

Although Bisson gained the support of many within SCAP 
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for a detailed and carefully integrated economic stabilization 

program with provisions for adequate enforcement, a month of 

meetings and discussion with General Courtney Whitney and 

MacArthur proved fruitless. SCAP recognized the seriousness 

of the inflationary problem, Whitney wrote in a curt statement, 

but it was' 'thought that the Japanese government should have 

exclusive responsibility for the necessary stabilization mea­

sures." 26 


Just as Bisson had predicted, the inflationary crisis quickly 

grew worse and spilled over into the most serious political 

confrontation of the Occupation. A broad coalition of labor 

unionists, socialists, and communists-5 million strong-called 

for a general strike to be held on February I, 1947, as the 

culmination of a campaign against the Yoshida Cabinet and its 

economic policies. On his own initiative, Bisson argued within 

SCAP "in favor or permitting the general strike," recalled 

Chief of Labor Division Theodore Cohen. Cohen resented the 

advice. "I told him [Bisson] he was crazy. It was impossible to 

have a general strike and still have a continuing government. ' '27 


At the eleventh hour, MacArthur intervened to forbid the strike, 

defending his action on the economic grounds that the strike 

would have damaged the economy. But such an argument, 

Bisson felt, "blandly ignored the more basic fact that the source 

of the economy's trouble lay primarily in the Yoshida Cabinet's 

reckless spending policies. "2M 


One of the fallouts of the aborted general strike was Mac­

Arthur's announcement that there would be another national 

election in April. For Bisson that would be his last remaining 

hope for a government committed to democratizing Japan. 

"With luck," he wrote home, the effects of the purge laws and 

the unpopularity of the Yoshida Cabinet, "could produce a 

liberal Diet and in tum a decently progressive Cabinet. This is 

the sine qua non. If the present Cabinet, or one like it continues 

to hang on, most of our reforms will be vitiated. If a liberal 

Cabinet comes in, much may yet be salvaged." By "liberal" 

Bisson meant the election of the Social Democrats, the only 

moderately left wing party with enough popular strength to win 

power. A combination of factors seemed to give the Social 

Democrats an edge in the forthcoming election. Popular resent­

ment against the conservatives was still strong, the Old Guard 

parties were split into two competing parties, and the Social 

Democrats under Tetsu Katayama were united. 29 But SCAP 

actions two weeks before the election, Bisson argued at the time 

and later, had the net effect of staving off the worst for the 

old-line political leaders. Incredibly, MacArthur granted Yoshida 

permission to revise the very election law SCAP had earlier 

sponsored in a way that allowed for a small constituency single­

ballot voting in which rich party coffers had the maximum 

effect. SCAP officials were fully aware of the consequences for 

the upcoming election of Yoshida's proposal, noting that it was 

"in comparison to the existing system, definitely advantageous 

to the parties now in power, and unfavorable to minority rep­

resentation and to women." According to Japanese newsmen, 
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the revision of the election law alone cost the Social Democrats 
an estimated 50 seats in the lower House of the Diet and meant 
that they lost the possibility of forming their own Cabinet. 30 In 
the final outcome, Socialist Prime Minister Tetsu Katayama led 
a weak and squabbling coalition Cabinet for eight months, 
wrestling throughout with the worst phase of the inflationary 
spiral, and surrendering to the return of uninterrupted conserva­
tive rule in Japan to this day. 

Even before the April election which he observed in Kana­
zawa, the birthplace of his wife, Bisson was personally and 
politically anxious to leave Japan. The solid friendships he had 
developed with Canadian diplomat and Japan scholar E. Herbert 
Norman and others no longer compensated for the increasing 
frustration of his work and the long and unanticipated separation 
from his family. Though not mentioned in his letters, there was 
also another factor. Bisson and the so-called "New Dealers" in 
the Occupation were being increasingly hounded by G-2 men. 

The longstanding conflict within GHQ between G-2 and 
GS broke out into virtual civil war after General Willoughby 
circulated the results of his staff investigations on "left-wing 
penetration ofGHQ." The G-2 reports, dated January 15, 1947, 
focused primarily on GS personnel, including Bisson. Drawing 
on the findings of the Dies Committee investigation of the Board 
of Economic Warfare, FBI information on Amerasia, and early 
China Lobby charges against the IPR, G-2 concluded that prior 
to coming to Japan Bisson was "at least a sympathizer" if not a 
member of the Communist Party. Since he was hired by GS, 
"Bisson has worked hard to lower confidence in the Yoshida 
Cabinet and evidence can be cited to prove the fact that he is the 
main person who formed the left-wing group within GS." G-2 
found Bisson to have had contact with the "left-wing cell" in 
the Tokyo Press Club which included Mark Gayn (Chicago 
Sun-Times) and Gordon Walker (Christian Science Monitor). 
"Moreover Bisson also had a very close relationship with An­
drew Jonah Grazhdantsev [Grad] who is ... well known as 
having extreme left-wing views." Bisson and Grad, the report 
claimed, were members of the leftist IPR and held their GS 
positions on the recommendation of Edward C. Carter, "well­
known as a communist sympathizer." Finally G-2 charged 
Bisson with leaking secret information to his closest Japanese 
friend, Harvard-trained economist Shigeto Tsuru, who "had 
been arrested before the war by the Japanese police by reason of 
liaison activities with the Japanese Communist Party." Ignor­
ing the enraged protests of GS personnel, Willoughby defended 
the report on Bisson and others for presenting facts that were 
. 'irreversibly true. I insist there are subversive elements in this 
headquarters. Weare exposed to the danger of international spy 
activity and its regional strategy [in Japan]. "31 

Occupation Critic 

From this poisoned atmosphere of SCAP Bisson finally 
escaped in April 1947. He had been in regular correspondence 
with William Holland, research director of IPR, about both 
reorganizing a Japanese Council of IPR and research and aca­
demic opportunities in the United States. Through Holland's 
good offices Bisson obtained a research grant from the Rocke­
feller Foundation during 1947 and a position as a visiting lecturer 
at the University of California at Berkeley, Department of 
Political Science, beginning in the fall of 1948. 12 For six years 



after his return from Japan Bisson continued to write numerous 
articles and reviews and finished two books-outgrowths of his 
Occupation experience and probably his most important writings. 

Prospects for Democracy in Japan, published in 1949 
under IPR auspicies, was a deft, hard-hitting critique of U.S. 
Occupation policy up until mid-1948. In the welter of self­
congratulatory, "success story" literature by American stu­
dents of the Occupation, Bisson's Prospects stood as one of the 
few significant works until the late 1960s to question seriously 
American policy and the meaning of Japanese democracy. 33 

Based on his first-hand observations in Japan, Bisson concluded 
that the United States 

failed to achieve the announced democratic aims ofits initial 
post-surrender policy toward Japan, primarily because 
those aims could not be achieved through the instrumentality 
ofJapan ,s old guard. With the economic machinery ofJapan 
left in the hands of Japanese bent on sabotaging industrial 
recovery, there was a continuedfinancial drain on the United 
States . .. This situation gave American Army and banking 
interests a plausible excuse to deplore the heavy financial 
burden . .. Instead ofurging that SCAP cease to rely on the 
old regime and endeavor to develop a genuinely new and 
democratically-minded leadership in both government and 
industry, the {American} military-industrial interests rep-
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resented by the {mission ofGeneral William Draper, a vice­
president of the Wall Street firm Dillon, Read} took a very \ 
different stand. Their proposed solution of the problem was 
to restore Japan to what was. in essence, her pre-World War 
If industrial status, with one notable difference, Japan's 
economic life would continue to be ruled by the Zaibatsu . .. 
but henceforth American capital would be a partner of the 
Zaibatsu in prewar-style international cartels, or would sim­
p!.}' take over certain key Japanese industries by means of 
large direct investments. 34 

Although American capital would never play quite the 
dominant role in Japan which Bisson predicted, clearly he did 
not think that prospects for real democracy in Japan after 1949 
were very good. It was self-evident that the United States bore 
major responsibility for the fact. 



The last and best known of Bisson's books, Zaibatsu 
Dissolution in Japan, was also the most scholarly and politically 
cautious. Published in 1954, it is a tour de force of economic 
and political analysis replete with tables and statistics carefully 
illustrating each argument. Following a historical survey of the 
growth and political influence of the zaibatsu up to surrender, 
Bisson emphasized the inherent social and political weaknesses 
of the Occupation-sponsored dissolution program and hence the 
relative ease with which zaibatsu executives and their allies 
evaded its most significant aspects. Though seeking to rid Japan 
of the despotic power of a small privileged group over economic 
life, the dissolution program rested on concepts of free en­
terprise and individualism that had no popular roots in Japan. 
Not a single political party during the occupation supported it. 
The conservative Liberal and Democratic parties that dominated 
post-war Japanese politics paid only lip service to free enterprise 
ideology and the principle of dissolution; they were historically 
the parties of the zaibatsu combines and wedded by habit and 
self-interest to a monopolistic business order. The Communists 
and the Social Democrats, the two other major parties, also 
opposed the free-enterprise program. The Social Democrats 
(the "only real democrats in Japan, as the occupation defined 
the term' ') who had the potential for gaining and holding control 
of the government favored dealing with the zaibatsu combines 
through a program of public ownership. In choosing to dissolve 
rather than nationalize the zaibatsu combines American policy 
makers destroyed the Social Democrats raison d' etre and played 
into the hands of the leaders of the Liberals and Democrats who 
believed that the combines stood the best chance of survival 
under a dissolution program. 35 

The core of Zaibatsu Dissolution in Japan is a detailed 
analysis of how conservative business and government leaders 
in Japan, aided after 1947 by their counterparts in the United 
States, effectively emasculated the original dissolution pro­
gram. The Occupation did score heavily in cutting away the 
monopolistic power of the ten leading zaibatsu families and the 
holding companies at the apex of the Japanese corporate pyra­
mid. But the net effect of even these most thoroughly carried out 
phases of the larger reform was far less drastic than appeared. 
By 1952, "the old networks had emerged in recognizable form 
land1new concentration of economic power had taken the place 
of the old. " A look at the extensive redistribution of the shares 
of the holding companies and some of their subsidiaries, for 
example, showed that, early SCAP efforts at dispersal notwith­
standing, there was an increasing trend toward concentration of 
stock ownership as the Occupation ended. In 1951, eight per 
cent of stockholders held 68 per cent of all shares. 36 Manage­
ment control, Bisson also concluded, rested in the hands of 
these large stockholders. The Occupation effort to purge top 
business executives had been only partially successful. It never 
touched on the influence which purged business leaders, work­
ing behind the scenes, continued to exert on the policies of their 
successors. When the depurging began in 1949, these men 
"returned with greater rather than less prestige" to their old 
positions and began publicly attacking the whole dissolution 
program. 37 

If ownership and management had not changed much by 
the end of the Occupation, neither had the most important part of 
the corporate structure, the large operating subsidiaries just 

below the holding companies. Prewar American investors in 
Japan, backed by an alarmed group of fonner Wall Street 
bankers in key policy-making positions in Washington, under­
cut the implementation of the 1947 law for the break up of 
"excessive concentrations of economic power." The old zai­
batsu banks managed to escape deconcentration entirely. 
Though the big commercial banks were divorced from the 
industrial and commercial units of their old combines and re­
named, Bisson accurately predicted that a handful of them were 
"in a position to substitute for the old top holding companies as 
a nucleus around which fonner subsidiaries could gather in the 
effort to retain or recapture unity of operation. "38 Deconcentra­
tion of industrial combines under the new law affected only a 
few firms and was not particularly severe. The following indus­
trial groups were subjected to the deconcentration law, but by 
195 I three firms in the pig iron industry accounted for 96 per 
cent of total output; three finns in the aluminum industry ac­
counted for 100 per cent of total output; two finns in the glass 
industry accounted for 90 per cent of total output; and three 
firms in the beer industry accounted for 100 per cent of total 
output. Only the liquidation of trading firms, including the two 
largest ones, Mitsui Bussan and Mitsubishi Shoji, was vigor­
ously carried out by Occupation authorities. But despite the 1948 
Anti-Monopoly Law, a classic process of competition, bank­
ruptcies, absorptions, and mergers occurred so that by mid­
1952 nine trading firms dominated the field and concentration 
was still continuing. In fact the only question at the end of the 
Occupation concerning concentration in all sectors of the J apan­
ese economy was how far the process of recombination would 
gO.39 

For Bisson, the Occupation dissolution program had clearly 
failed to create or maintain a competitive economy and new 
concentrations of wealth and power had emerged. Whatever 
changes the dissolution program had wrought in Japan's busi­
ness life, he contended, were "incidental rather than primary." 
Without much elaboration, Bisson located the fundamental rea­
son for this failure in the unwillingness of American policy­
makers to conduct "an operation seriously designed to shift 
political power into new hands." The attempt to build a free 
enterprise economy through political parties linked to zaibatsu 
interests was doomed from the start. 40 

Admitting to the many difficulties of nationalizing industry 
and agreeing that the Social Democrats were not an ideal party, 
Bisson nevertheless concluded that public ownership and con­
trol of zaibatsu combines, mediated through the Social Demo­
crats, "offered the best assurance available that the Occupa­
tion's democratic objectives in business and in other respects 
would be attained." The Occupation failed to gear its economic 
policy to the political reality that the Social Democrats, the 
largest popular party, favored nationalization not dissolution as 
the method for dealing with the zaibatsu. In adopting a dissolu­
tion program the Occupation "weighted the odds against the 
one party through which liberal political as well as economic 
change might have been achieved.' ·41 Left unsaid, though 
clearly implied, was that Yankee zaibatsu, through their influ­
ence on the Truman Administration, would never have con­
sented to a program of nationalization or its political requisites 
in Japan. 
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The McCarren Committee Tragedy 

Zaibatsu Dissolution in Japan was written during the most 
difficult years of Bisson's life. Despite his outstanding record of 
publications and distinguished reputation as a scholar of con­
temporary Asia, Bisson might have felt vulnerable at Berkeley 
without the Ph.D. or tenure under ordinary circumstances. But 
beginning in 1949 circumstances at Berkeley and around the 
country for left-wing scholars, especially those in the Asia field, 
were far from ordinary. The collapse of Nationalist China, the 
Soviet explosion of an atomic bomb, the conviction of Alger 
Hiss for perjury, the outbreak of the Korean War, all provided 
ammunition to those anxious for a purge of' 'subversive" influ­
ences from American life. When the Senate Internal Security 
Subcommittee chaired by Senator Pat McCarren set out in 1951 
to prove that the IPR had been a captive organization of the 
Communist Party (CP) with treacherous influence on American 
East Asian policy, Bisson inevitably was called to testify. 42 

For two days at the end of March 1952 a hostile McCarren 
Committee questioned Bisson about his role in China Today, his 
trip to Yenan, what he knew of Philip Jaffe's CP ties, why he 

had called Nationalist China "feudal" and Communist China 
"democratic" in a 1943IPR pUblication, what his relationship 
was to Japanese Communists while serving in the Occupation, 
and much more. Senator James Eastland was not impressed by 
Bisson's answers, accusing him of always turning up "on the 
red side of things. " Once during Eastland's questioning, Bisson 
lost his temper and said, "I have just been called a traitor. " 
Eastland cut him off. "You have not been called a traitor, I said 
there was a question of whether you were a traitor. "43 

A badly shaken Bisson could not put the Washington 
experience and the attendant publicity behind him State Senator 
Hugh M. Burns, chairman of the California Un-American Ac­
tivities Committee, subpoenaed Bisson in the fall of 1952 for a 
one day closed session at the State capitol. "After Sacramento," 
his wife recalled, "Arthur looked horrible. The nervous tension 
had built up so. "44 Undoubtedly, Bisson's anxiety was related 
to the review by the Board of Regents of the University of 
California of his contract for the 1953-54 academic year. Ac­
cording to the only written account of Bisson's dismissal from 
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Berkeley, in the spring of 1953 the Chairman of the Political 
Science Department was "ordered by the University Administ­
ration to release Bisson from the faculty. "45 In all probability 
that order originated from the Board of Regents or a higher state 
official using undisclosed information supplied by California's 
"little HUAC" and the proceedings ofthe McCarren Committee. 

At age 52, acceptance of his zaibatsu manuscript by the 
University of California Press in hand, T.A. Bisson found 
himself without a job and unable to get one.Everywhere he 
turned the doors were closed. After a year of odd jobs and 
unemployment, Bisson was hired by the small religious West­
ern Women's College ofOhio in Oxford, long known to his wife 
and her family. There Bisson became chairman of the interna­
tional relations program and one of the most popular professors 
on campus. After a year on the academic blacklist, he found it 
attractive to teach at Western even though he earned a far lower 
salary than at Berkeley and never again had the time or facilities 
for further major research. 46 

Despite the trauma of the McCarren hearings and the loss 
of his job at Berkeley, Bisson did not swerve from his anti­
imperialist political perspective. Occasionally he regained the 
old punch of his younger years. The U.S. bombing raids on 
North Vietnam propelled Bisson into the anti-war movement 
sweeping college campuses. He sponsored the Inter-University 
Committee for Public Hearings on Vietnam, wrote a slashing 
critique of American policy in the widely distributed Public 
Affairs Pamphlet series, and contributed four pieces to the 
Western Round-Up, the student newspaper on his campus. 47 In 
his last published work, which appeared appropriately in the 

T. A. and Faith Bisson, January 1978 
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Bulletin ofConcerned Asian Scholars in 1974, Bisson furiously 
assailed the "American-Japanee 'Co-Prosperity Sphere'" in 
Asia. The United States and Japan, he concluded, 

pose as democracies, defenders of the ''free world," but 
from end to end ofthe imperium they furnish arms and money 
to military dictators that betray local national interests, 
suppress the rights offree press and assembly, and shoot 
down students who seek to defend the true interests ofcountry 
and people. [This1 is not a matter only ofVietnam or Laos or 
Cambodia (it is just that in these cases imperialist force is 
directly applied), but also in Thailand, Indonesia, the Philip­
pines, Taiwan, and South Korea where the ends desired can 
be achieved indirectly through the local military dictators. 
To the shame ofall decent minded Americans, it is the United 
States that is the organizer and leader of this outrage, not 
only in its own right but also in carefully nursing Japan along 
so as to have a proper aide in handling the new co-prosperity 
sphere. 48 

Even as his health deteriorated Bisson maintained a lively 
interest in current world affairs, particularly the struggles of all 
Third World peoples against the "modem imperial dispensation 
(of) the United States. "49 But more and more Bisson turned in 
his final years to rereading literary classics from his vast home 
library, to enjoying the natural beauty of the Canadian home­
land he adopted in 1969, and to gathering with his local friends 
who had little inkling of the reputation or controversies sur­
rounding his life. At the age of78 on July 7, 1979, Bisson died 
of heart failure in the Waterloo, Ontario area hospital. 50 

The demise of the scholarly career of Thomas Arthur 
Bisson and the oblivion to which his writings were cast high­
lights the determination of American policymakers after 1947 to 
develop Japan as a counter-model to revolutionary China for the 
unstable and developing countries of Asia. Inevitably this task 
, 'required overtly or covertly enlisting America's Japan special­
ists in the task of cultural imperialism" and in providing a 
"selective portrayal" of Japanese history. 51 For the Occupation 
period that meant emphasizing such aspects of Japanese de­
velopments as the creation of bourgeois parliamentary democ­
racy and integration with international capitalism while con­
comitantly discrediting interpretations like those of Bisson that 
focused on the continuation from the pre-war period of un­
balanced economic growth, inequality, exploitation, lack of 
freedom, even militarism. 

It was hardly accidental that the conclusion of the peace 
and security treaties between the U.S. and Japan, locking Japan 
into the "free world" orbit, coincided with the McCarren hear­
ings effort to paint as "Red" Bisson and many other of the best 
minds in the Asian field. The questions which Bisson asked, 
even the terms he used, were rendered taboo by the McCarren 
Committee assault. Subsequent Japan scholarship, heavily sup­
ported by the U.S. government, became preoccupied with the 
"successful" aspects of Japanese development and went about 
. 'creating a counter-ideology or counter theory to Marxism. "52 

Only recently, in the wake of the Vietnam War and rising fear of 
the American and Japanese imperiums, have Occupation "New 
Dealers" and leftist critics of the "New Japan" like T.A. 
Bisson begun to emerge from the long-neglected and buried 
history of the first generation of concerned Asian scholars. 
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The Ingratitude of the Crocodiles 

The 1978 Cambodian Black Paper 


by Serge Thion 

Translated by William Mahder 

Our political bestiary is growing. One new entry is "the 
[Soviet] paper polar bear," whose mustache Deng Xiaoping 
tickled while "touching the [Vietnamese] tiger's buttocks." In 
a long document published in September 1978, the Cambodian 
government denounces the Vietnamese as being "even more 
ungrateful than crocodiles." Entitled Black Paper; Facts and 
Evidences ofthe Vietnamese Acts ofAggression andAnnexation 
Against Kampuchea, this text airs the whole range ofgrievances 
of the Khmer communists against their former Vietnamese 
comrades. For this reason, it merits careful examination (since 
its authors are not usually very talkative) and a critical assess­
ment of its implications. I 

The first chapter exposes "the annexationist nature of 
Vietnam" by arguing that, historically, the Vietnamese have 
never stopped trying to "devour" Cambodia. We are first told 
of the conquest of Champa, the Hinduized state close to Malay 
culture which ruled over what today is central Vietnam. Then 
came the conquest of the territories of the great South, the 
Mekong Delta, which had been under Khmer Suzerainty. This 
is not a difficult thesis to sustain. No one-certainly no Viet­
namese-would dispute that the southern territories, what the 
Europeans later named Cochin China, were formerly part of the 
Khmer empire. However, this incontestable truth hardly seems 
to have been recalled out of concern for historical accuracy. To 
understand this centuries-old feature of Vietnamese history, this 
Drang nach Suden, we must remember that we are dealing with 
a feature of Chinese civilization which heavily conditioned 
Vietnamese civilization. For a long time this military and 
administrative expansion was carried out at the expense of the 
Vietnamese themselves in their Tonkin enclave. Besides want­
ing to occupy all the countries "between the four seas," the 
Chinese saw solid profit in maritime commerce and were 
irresistibly attracted by exotic objects from the South Seas. For 
evidence of this, one need only refer to the excellent Sinologist, 
Edward Schafer. 2 

Attention 

We have published a number of articles on the 
inter-communist conflicts of southeast Asia: 
Steve Heder (11:1), Torben Retboll (11:3), and 
Anthony Barnett, Laura Summers, Ben Kiernan 
(11:4). Here in Volume 12, No.4, we print four 
more statements by Serge Thion (France), Gar­
eth Porter (Washington, D.C.), and again, Ret­
boll and Kiernan (Denmark and Australia, re­
spectively). We also wish to invite other readers to 
participate in this very important dialogue. We 
are seeking essays which present new evidence 
and documentation, approach the questions from 
a fresh perspective, and proceed in a comradely 
fashion. 

The Editors 

We should also remember that neither the Chams nor the 
Khmers of antiquity were just innocent victims. The Chams 
were tough; they carried out a naval expedition against Tonkin 
and even against Angkor, which they totally sacked. One can 
still see them waging war on the sculpted frescoes of the Bayon 
temple. The Khmer empire never missed a chance to expand at 
the Chams' expense or to impose a vassalage tax on them. The 
reason the Angkor empire decayed was a weakness in its political 
system. Its successors let its immense territory be broken up to 
the advantage of more enterprising neighbors, and, despite its 
much greater economic potential, it shrank away. It is rather 
paradoxical to see the Cambodian communists speaking the 
same old language as the defunct monarchy, as if to absolve it of 
its past incompetence and put the blame on its eternally evil 
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neighbors. The Black Paper wishes to convince us that the 
reason Vietnamese are expansionist is because of some mysteri­
ous "nature." As if Cambodians were not expansionist when 
they had the means. 

To take just a few details: "The Cham race was totally 
exterminated by the Vietnamese" (p. 3). The defeat and annex­
ation of Champa in the 17th century certainly entailed major 
massacres. Nonetheless, a population of Chams numbering in 
the tens of thousands still lives in Vietnam today. Despite 
undeniable pressure to assimilate, they exist. They existed in 
even greater numbers in Cambodia, since many Chams sought 
refuge there after losing their independence. This community, 
which had converted to Islam, dominated certain areas of the 
country and totalled roughly 200,000 people. It suffered a lot 
from the Indochina War; some of its leaders went along with the 
shady games of Lon Nol, who dreamed of re-establishing Cam­
bodian influence over the high plateau of Vietnam by using the 
Chams as intermediaries with their Montagnard cousins. Other 
Chams took an active part in the resistance. The Pol Pot regime 
apparently was suspicious of them and forbade them not only to 
practice their religion (which happened to all Cambodians), but 
also to dress in their customary way. Above all, the regime's 
officials assert that their country is 99 percent Khmer, thus 
denying the very existence of the Chams, the hundreds of 
thousands of Chinese and Sino-Khmers, the small groups of 
Burmese and Laotians, the Montagnards and other Khmer mi­
norities (Kuy, Pear, Samre, etc.). Here, allegedly, is a happy 
country without any problem of "national minorities. " 

Another revealing point: the Black Paper says that in 1715 
the Vietnamese "through their adventurers practically control­
led" the Cochin China provinces of Ha Tien and Rach Gia to 
which it gives their old Khmer names as it does to the other 
provinces of what is now South Vietnam (p. 4). Perhaps it was 
distraction that caused them to neglect one important bit of 
information: these adventurers were Chinese emigres fleeing 
the new Manchu dynasty; and their leaders carved out a personal 
fiefdom in those underdeveloped regions at the tip of the penin­
sula. Intriguing with both courts, Cambodian and Vietnamese, 
they ended up under the banner of Hue. The Chinese, all kinds 
of Chinese, have always been present, in all sorts of ways, in 
this area. There has not been a political game played out there 
within the last 2000 years that has not had the local Chinese 
mixed up in it-and with Zong-guo, the Middle Kingdom, 
always watchful of what is going on across its borders. 

For the authors of the Black Paper to say (ibid., p. 4) that 
the "whole nation and people of Kampuchea have always 
fought against Vietnamese invasions and annexations" is to 
throw a crude veil over all the requests for intervention, addres­
sed to both Bangkok and Hue, by Khmer princes fighting for the 
throne. When all is said and done, national sentiment is a rather 
recent thing in Cambodian history, and the little survey of the 
past presented in the Black Paper is a web of anachronisms. 

The most surprising thing in this rewriting of history is 
perhaps the attribution to the Vietnamese of the measures taken 
by the French colonial authorities to unite (with their colony, 
Cochin China) territories or islands which had belonged to 
Cambodia or had in fact escaped any political suzerainty, like 
the highlands of South Vietnam. The French authorities 
obviously saw an advantage in expanding the colony-a politi­
cal structure they had well under control-at the exI'ense of the 

protectorates (Cambodia, Annam, Tonkin), where, especially 
at the beginning, they had only superimposed themselves on an 
indigenous authority which was still endowed with its ancient 
legitimacy. According to the Black Paper, "The process used 
by the Vietnamese consisted of nibbling away at the territories, 
encroaching upon the borders and purely and simply establish­
ing geographical maps by themselves. In fact all agents of the 
cadastral department were Vietnamese. The French just signed" 
(p. 7). It is hard to believe that the same people who had this 
finicky and strict French colonial government on their backs 
could imagine it so naive. As in a good many other places in this 
document, we see here a veritable political paranoia, which 
attributes to its evil neighbor all the ills of the universe. 

A small paragraph entitled' 'The sordid use of Vietnamese 
girls" is an example of this. 

The French called Kampuchea Krom [or lower, Southern 
Cambodia] "Cochinchine." This name is made up of the 
Vietnamese words Co-Chin-Xin. "Co" means "Miss," 
"Chin" is the name ofa girl. and "Xin" means "ask for. " 
Thus, "Co-Chin-Xin" means "Miss China asks for. " 

The Black Paper goes on to tell the story of a Khmer king who 
married a daughter of the sovereign of Annam who is supposed 
to have requested permission in 1623 for his compatriots to 

A lot of smart pedants straightaway renounced the 
dirty colonialist word Cambodia for a rejuvenated 
Kampuchea, free of its past, for better or worse. Can 
such a grotesque rush to this cheap symbol be at­
tributed to ignorance? 

settle in the Saigon area to do business. The Annamites soon 
thereafter colonized the area, according to the Black Paper, and 
the V ietnamese army came in to put the finishing touches to the 
occupation in 1699. 3 

The interesting thing is not that this account is a mixture of 
historical facts and legends. Rather, it is that this kind of 
episodic word game is given as irrefutable proof of the "sordid 
use" of young girls. The translation of the three Vietnamese 
words is in fact correct (disregarding the tones). The problem is 
that the word "Cochinchine" is not Vietnamese! It came into 
French usage from Portuguese, the language of the first Euro­
pean navigators in this area of the world. We know, moreover, 
that it designated different parts ofthe Indochina coast-Tonkin 
and Annam-and that the French use of the term in the 19th 
century extended it to central and southern Vietnam, to the point 
where the delta region was called "basse Cochinchine" [lower 
Cochin China]. The term basse went out of use because Annam, 
(from the old Sino-Vietnamese name that the Empire was given 
before the 19th century) became the customary name of the 
Center. 

But the Portuguese must have found this name somewhere. 
In fact, its origin is given by one of the first Western travelers in 
the country, the Jesuit Father Christoforo Borri. In 1618 he 
wrote: 
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mistake (the Mali Empire was in another part of West Africa), 

But having worked their way into Annam with the aid of the 
Japanese to do business there, the Portuguese, from the 
same word Coci {=Cochi} of the Japanese and from this 
other word, Cina {=China} created a third, word, Cocin­
cina, applying it to that kingdom as if they had said Cocin of 
China to distinguish it better from Cocin [=Cochin}, a city in 
India also frequented by the Portuguese. 4 

As for the first part of the word, one can recognize the Japanese 
pronunciation of the two characters that the Chinese pronounced 
Kiao Che and the Vietnamese Giao Chi. This was the name of 
the Viet country, i.e., approximately Tonkin, at the time of the 
Chinese colonization, the first ten centuries of our era. To be 
more precise, this was the name of the capital of the Chinese 
protectorate, probably in the Hanoi area. It was customary to 
call a country by the name of its capital or the dynasty that ruled 
it. This is how the name "China" came to us. 

The lack of eagerness, not to say complete inertia, of 

the Vietnamese Communist Party leaders about mak­

ing public the basic documents of their relations with 

the Khmers is regrettable. All there is in the Kam­

puchea Dossiers I and II published in Hanoi in 1978 is 

emotional reportage, virtuous editiorials and diplo­

matic notes. The heart ofthe problem is systematically 

side-stepped. The Black Paper has innumerable de­

fects, but at least it has the merit of trying to recount 

the history of relations between the two communist 

parties, in abundant detail. It is a partial, biased his­

tory which nonetheless carries weight because of its 

ounce of truth compared with the awkward silence 

from Hanoi. 


Let us spend a moment on this problem of appelations. 
There are some linguistic usages that are particularly revealing. 
The reader will have noticed that I continue to use the word 
"Cambodia." In the constitution they gave the country on 
January 5, 1976, the victors of 1975 baptized their state" Dem­
ocratic Kampuchea," rejecting the tenn republic, which was 
too closely associated with Lon Nol, and at the same time 
renouncing the principle of a kingdom. They did not spell out 
their reasons but in the documents translated by them, the word 
"Cambodia" has not reappeared. 

A lot of smart pedants straightaway renounced the dirty 
colonialist word Cambodia for a rejuvenated Kampuchea, free 
of its past, for better or worse. Can such a grotesque rush to this 
cheap symbol be attributed to ignorance? Who can not see that 
Cambodia and Kampuchea are one and the same word, that they 
simply come from different phonetic contexts? When what used 
to be French Sudan rebaptized itself Mali, albeit a historical 
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this was at least a real change, the recovery of a political past 
which had been abolished by a colonial presence. But the 
Cambodia case is nothing like this. The tenn Kambuja is found 
in Sanskrit writings around the seventh and eighth centuries, 
when the ruling dynasty settled in Angkor. Previously, the 
country had been known only by the name given it in Chinese 
annals, Chen La. 

The Portuguese navigators again tried to find a written 
form that corresponded to what they had heard, and came up 
with Cambogia. The first French missionary in the country tried 
to do the same thing: in 1783, he wrote "Kamphoxa."5 It was 
the French version of the Portuguese transcription that was 
adopted by the first travelers and Orientalists. But also, how can 
one render the true sound of the Khmer word? The transcription 
"Kampuchea" is just about as far removed from the original. It 
is an approximation which, moreover, has been in use for a very 
long time. Prince Sihanouk, who often mixes French and Khmer 
in his speeches, had used it quite a lot. Similarly, he named a 
monthly magazine that he ran Kambuja, which is the Sanskrit 
transcription later modified to suit Cambodian phonetics. Should 
we end this squabble over transcriptions by proposing a new one 
just a bit closer to the original, and henceforth write "Kamp­
poutchi"? 

As to the origins and meaning of the word itself, we are 
rather in the dark. Khmer myths claim a certain Kambu as an 
eponymous ancestor who is said to have united with a serpent 
goddess. There are many reasons to think that this is a case of the 
Khmers remoulding mythical material which, like much of the 
local culture, originates in India. Although we do not know 
anything about the local origins of this name, in the geography 
of classical India it is quite well known that there was a region of 
the northwest periphery, perhaps roughly what is Afghanistan, 
named Kamboja. It seems highly probable the Indianization, 
reinforced by the subsequent diffusion of Buddhism, transferred 
to Southeast Asia a geographic representation based on India 
and' its Gangetic center. (The name Mekong is probably a 
doublet of Ganges.) In his remarkable work on Cambodian 
chronicles, Michael Vickery demonstrates the existence of this 
transfer by the fact that other regions of Bunna and Thailand 
were called Kamboja during certain periods: '''What is certain is 
that in medieval Bunnese and Thai traditions "Kamboja" does 
not refer to Cambodia, and that the confusion is not due to the 
fact that the Khmers once ruled over central and southern Siam, 
as Coedes believed, but rather results from the displacement of 
classical geography. "6 

One could give a thousand examples of this kind of phen­
omenon. Greeks and Romans easily transposed their own 
toponyms to the peoples they subjugated. The Crusades brought 
us a good number of Biblical place-names which became scat­
tered over the map of Europe. Europe's colonial expansion 
littered the world map with New Scotlands, New Hebrides, 
New Caledonias, New Yorks, New Amsterdams, etc., not to 
mention the bewildering toponymy of the United States. That 
the Northwest part of classical India should thus be transferred 
at an early time to the Northwest of what was undoubtedly the 
first center of Hinduization in the Indochina peninsula, in the 
lower Mekong Delta, seems highly probable. This is how his­
tory mocks fledging nationalisms. After all, what does France 
owe a few handfuls ofGennanic warriors who crossed the Rhine 
in 454? Nothing, just its name. 



Before finishing with these name traps, I would like to 
focus for a moment on a statement in the Black Paper: 

Yuon is the name given by Kampuchea's people to the Viet­
namese since the epoch ofAngkor and it means "savage." 
The words "Vietnam" and "Vietnamese" are very recent 
and not often used by Kampuchea's people. (p. 9) 

All press commentators, without exception, have adoptd this 
assertion that the ordinary name used by the Khmers to refer to 
their neighbors is pejorative. This fits perfectly with the asser­
tion, also repeated a thousand times, of the hereditary antagon­
ism that divides them. Not very convinced, I questioned various 
Cambodians. Apart from the word "Viet," which is a foreign 
word (like the French term "les Britiches"), there is no other 
word besides "yuon" in Khmer to refer to the Vietnamese. 
Moreover, no one finds the word pejorative in itself. It 
designates in a neutral way-but the connotation is obviously 
the reflection of the sentiments of the speakers towards the 
Vietnamese. And with things as they are .... 

Though I do not know if it is mentioned in the Angkor 
inscriptions (Cambodia and Vietnam did not have a common 
border then since Champa was between them), the antiquity of 
the term can be accepted. It exists in Thai, and Cham. This is 
where we can find the key to it, thanks again to Edward Schafer: 

In a few villages of Binh Thuan in southern Vietnam, no 
longer in touch with their former Chinese neighbors, are the 
remnants of the once rich and powerful Chams, now trifling 
enclaves among the Vietnamese, whom they contemptuously 
style yu'o'n- that is, Yavana (to use the Sanskrit original), 
or, ultimately, 'Ionians' - a term suggesting subnormal, 
devilish men. 7 

These inhabitants of lona, or lonaka (i.e., Ionia, Greece), 
cropped up rather abruptly on the borders of the Indus, brought 
there by Alexander in 326 B.C. The commotion was felt in the 
rest of the subcontinent. These intruders were not your ordinary 
barbarians; they came with an organized army, a script and a 
government, not to mention the arts which produced the magnif­
icent Gandara sculptures. Transplanted onto the Indochina 
coast, where, in their words, they civilized the naked tattooed 
savages, the pilgrims and merchants from India quickly realized 
that to the north lay a threat to their trading posts and settle­

ments- the threat of an organized force equipped with an army, 
a script, a government, a technology, a body of art, etc. The 
term Yavanna fitted them like a glove. It designated the Chinese 
colony Giao Chi before it freed itself to become Vietnam. We 
know that the Chinese army made several incursions in response 
to Cham attacks. In the common cultural flux of Hinduization, 
the Cambodians just adopted the term which was already de­
tached from the area to which it originally referred. The inno­
cent editor of the Black Paper, absorbed in his desire to show 
that the Cambodians have hated the Vietnamese from time 
immemorial, could certainly not have known that he was repeat­
ing a term historically marked by ambiguity, i.e., both admira­
tion and hate, and born out of the clash of two ci vilizations that 
are different but equally full of themselves. 

According to the Black Paper the "manoeuvers used by 
the Vietnamese" to annex Cambodian territory were of several 
types, including the sordid use of young girls and drawing 
maps, as we have seen. But there were others as well. In 
1966-67 the Hanoi and Viet Cong authorities are said to have 
been planning to bring hundreds of thousands of Vietnamese 
nationals into the country and settle them along the rivers and in 
the border zones. It seems the Black Paper is alluding here to the 
refugees who fled the escalation of the war in South Vietnam 
that followed the introduction of American combat units. This 
paragraph, which describes the settling of the Vietnamese, 
contains a phrase which I find interesting: "If measures had not 
been taken, they would have totally annexed the districts of 
Saang and Koh Thom. " (p. 7) 

Naturally, the Black Paper never states what everyone 
knows, which is that Vietnamese nationals were almost all 
expelled from Cambodia immediately after the Communist 
Party took power. They are estimated to have totalled 300,000, 
of whom some were evacuated by special river convoys which 
came from Vietnam for this purpose. But the reference to 
Saang, which is not far from Phnom Penh, recalls another 
evacuation, the one Lon Nol troops provoked in 1970 when they 
launched their anti-Vietnamese pogroms. Saang had been taken 
by the guerrilla forces and, to get it back, General Sosthenes 
Fernandez' troops advanced behind rows of Vietnamese hos­
tages from the local Catholic community. * The others were 
shoved into camps. Does the Black Paper, in recalling "the 
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measures taken" to avoid "the total annexation" of Saang, 
wish to congratulate the Lon Nol regime? 

Another practice of the Vietnamese which the Black Paper 
later re-examines at length is "the use of the flag of the revolu­
tion. " There must be reasons for the relentlessness of their evil 
neighbors. First of all, of course, there is poverty. These Cam­
bodians-the ultranationalists who wrote the Black Paper­
whose country is one of the poorest in the area, whose ag­
riculture is distinguished by its archaic techniques and by yields 
which are among the lowest in the world, believe themselves to 
be the object of economic desire. Let us return to the political 
factor: 

As they had made the revolution, the Vietnamese enjoyed 
some prestige in Southeast Asia. At that time, the interna­
tional community gave them aid and support. Europe sup­
ported them. China helped and supported them. The Viet­
namese have taken advantage of this support and used it as 
political support in order to carry out their scheme ofexpan­
sion and annexation. They wanted to dominate all of "In­
dochina" ... They want to take possession ofKampuchea in 
order to use her as a springboard for their expansion in 
Southeast Asia ... " (pp. 10-/1). 

The Black Paper mentions an anecdote: in 1965, at the time of 
the first visit by a CPK (Khmer Communist Party) delegation to 
a foreign country, the Khmers say they called Ho Chi Minh 
..Comrade President," which reportedly made him and his 
entourage livid with anger: the Vietnamese insisted he be called 
"Uncle Ho. " 

A strange story. It is hardly possible to reconstruct the real 
incident which lies behind this delirious account. But we can see 
that the Khmers thus want to reject any avuncular relationship 
inherited from the communist "family's" past. For Uncle Ho, 
in Vietnamese, is the oldest uncle, the one who is owed the same 
respect as one's father. In their relations with the Cambodian 
communists and with the Cambodians in general, have the 
Vietnamese always managed to avoid a slightly paternalistic 
attitude to which solidly-rooted prejudices might easily have 
made them prone? I do not think so. In this story, as in many 
others, in the Black Paper and in other documents, there are 
traces of hurt feelings. The blame lies with the Vietnamese, who 
were always stronger. 

We all know that relations between communist powers are 
generally characterized by flippant cynicism. The revelation of 
Sino-Soviet relations and the Yugoslav stories about the 1948 
confrontation taught us a lot. The way the Chinese dumped the 
Albanians, like brushing an insect off their sleeve " set off some 
interesting revelations in Tirana. Around 1965 and later, the 
Vietnamese would have needed an almost inconceivable supply 
of urbanity to treat their Khmer comrades without a hint of 
condescension, given their own prestigious past, long experi­
ence of struggle and political-military resources that bear no 
comparison with the several hundred ragged guerrillas, who had 
experienced more hardship than success. In an April 1970 
internal document, an officer from a Viet Cong-North Viet­
namese security unit stationed in Cambodia notes that 

Forces are available but the ideology and sense oforganiza­
tion of our [Cambodian] friends are poor. Therefore, we 
must be patient in providing help for their movement. (Be­
cause their capability oflearning is slow we must use expla­
nations that suit their level ofunderstanding when we request 
their help, they request us to provide them with weapons, 
medicine, food, provisions. etc.). 8 

Finally, after the economic and political factors, comes the 
military factor: the Vietnamese need a powerful base to subju­
gate Southeast Asia. "One might object that the Vietnamese 
have no possibility of building up military bases, because they 
are not as rich as the United States imperialists" (p. 10. But, 
the Black Pa[fer goes on, they created their own armies in the 
neighboring countries. "In Kampuchea, for instance, between 
1946 and 1954, they had several times created separately an 
army composed of Khmers in their pay in order to use them as a 
tool of their policy of annexation" (ibid.). This phrase gives a 
curious feeling of deja-vu. This is not only Sihanouk's thesis, 
but was also that of the French military command in Indochina, 
which found the fact that the Vietminh came to attack them in 
Cambodia as well as in Vietnam in poor taste and used to 
denounce their "Annamization. "9 

To avoid a long digression, suffice it to recall here that 
there was no revolutionary Khmer movement apart from the one 
involved with the Vietminh, and which was largely Vietminh­
trained and officered. The communists of the time participated 
fully in it and the young intellectuals who were studying in Paris 
during this period, and who had joined the French Communist 
Party (PCF), wanted to send a delegation to the rebels. The 
delegation went and some of the presumed authors of the Black 
Paper played a role in it. This army "composed of Khmers" 
was "separate" only for the Cambodian right and its French 
protectors. This kind of declaration, which borders on the ab­
surd, also represents a rather curious reversal of perspective. 
After the Khmer guerrilla delegation was denied right of rep­
resentation at Geneva, with the agreement of the Eastern coun­
tries (first given by Zhou Enlai), the Communists' hopes relied 
entirely on the tenuous thread of proletanan internationalism, 
i.e., that the foreign policy of the countries called socialist 
might guarantee the Geneva Accords and thus the political 
representation of the Khmer left. They looked to Hanoi for this 
safeguard but nothing came. The international context, the 
difficulties in launching collectivization and, in an inverse and 
complementary way, the opportunities to construct a bureauc­
racy, all were such that the VCP (Vietnamese Communist Party) 
was in no way inclined to take risks at that time, or for its 
brothers in the South, alone against Diem's repression. The 
former resistance fighters in the South were hunted down and 
cornered before they could precipitate a movement and thus 
force the Hanoi leadership to accept its existence. It was then 
taken over by high-ranking cadres dispatched to the South, five 
years after Geneva. 

In South Vietnam this bitterness and deception which fol­
lowed Geneva were erased. But this was not the case in Cam­
bodia. The VCP did not commit itself to action until after the 
coup d'etat of March 18, 1970. In the meantime, the Khmer 
communists had lost trust in them. Today we can see that they 
have also lost their memory of those difficult times. 

* Sosthenes Fernandez belongs to a very tiny minority of Christians descending 
from Khmer-Iberic marriages in the 17th and 18th centuries. 
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Chapter II of the Black Paper deals with "Ho Chi-Minh's 
Indochinese Communist Party's" strategy of an Indochina fed­
eration. "The choice of the name of a party has its political 
significance," it says, after stating that "The Vietnamese Party 
was founded in 1930, under the name of the 'Indochinese 
Communist Party.' "(p. 16) This is false. It is not very difficult 
to find out that the party founded in February 1930 came from 
regrouping three Communist cells, all Vietnamese, which the 
Comintern had asked to unite. Nguyen Ai Quoc, the future Ho, 
did the federating and gave the new party the name "Viet­
namese Communist Party." It was later, in November on Com­
intern orders and herded along by Tran Phu, a militant fresh 
from Moscow who was to be elected Secretary General, that the 
party changed its name and became "Indochinese." The Com­
intern's directive was clearly aimed at unifying the different 
groups which were challenging each other for recognition by the 
"Center"; this recognition only came in April 1931, after 
Moscow was satisfied that the program conformed to Comintern 
strategy.IO From Moscow's point of view, it would have 
seemed absurd to decree the existence of one party or of several 
different parties for a territory which drew its unity from coloni­
zation. There were certainly social, cultural, linguistic and even 
national differences, but what country is devoid of them? En­
tities like the Soviet Union, China, India and Indonesia were 
endowed with a single party, even if, like India or Indonesia, 
they did not have a tradition of a centralized state. The decision 
to create a single party for Indochina seems to have been 
determined by ordinary common sense. And perhaps, more­
over, we should not expect a Moscow bureaucrat of the time to 
distinguish between a Vietnamese and a Cambodian. Even 
today any Asian in the streets of Moscow runs a heavy risk of 
being considered a dangerous' 'Chink. " 

Though scornful ofthese details, the Black Paper correctly 
notes that the Indochinese Communist Party (ICP) statutes 
called for the creation ofa' 'totally independent Indochina, " but 
it neglects to mention that the phrase is followed, in the 1930 
text, by the following formula: "Indochina to be completely 
independent; National self-determination to be recognized," II 
phrases which certainly lack precision, and which can even be 
considered standard clauses (we know what happened to Men­
shevik Georgia, which was self-determined by the Red Army in 
February 1921); but if one wants to go back to the texts to prove 
intent, one must recognize that those which date from the 
foundation of the party prove only one thing: the Indochinese 
colonial space was the space of the anti-colonial struggle. The 
future lay in the "institution ofthe power of worker and peasant 
soviets," which is still being awaited, in Vietnam as well as in 
Cambodia. 

From the time it was formed, the Communist Party won out 
over the traditional and bourgeois nationalist movement in Viet­
nam. This is why in August 1945, when Japan's attempt at 
hegemony collapsed, it was in an excellent position to present 
itself and be welcomed as the representative of national legiti­
macy. The VCP is one of the few communist parties, along with 
those in Yugoslavia and China, to bring off this feat; bourgeois 
nationalism was never again to succeed in challenging the 
party's plans, and in 1975 was forced to leave the scene, 
completely discredited. On the other hand, this ability to ride 
nationalism limits control to the territory of the nation in ques­
tion. The Indochinese Communist Party, by the very principle 

that served at its impetus, had to confine itself to Vietnam. The 
Black Paper notes that it was totally absent from Cambodia 
from 1930 to 1945, but it is indifferent to the fact that after 1951, 
when the ICP split up into three national parties (of which two, 
the Lao and the Khmer were rather embryonic), the Vietnamese 
never again spoke of an "Indochina Federation." Coming from 
bureaucrats known for their obsession with compiling report 
after report, the fact seems significant to me. 

The war against the French made the whole of Indochina a 
theatre of operations. The Black Paper is entirely correct in 
reminding us that, in Cambodia, operations on the Vietminh 
side were directed by a Vietnamese committee presided over by 
Nguyen Thanh Son. The country was divided into several op­
erational zones and an intense effort at political organization 
was carried out among the Khmer population. It had some 
success, which contradicts those who believe in the supposed 
hereditary hatred between Khmers and Vietnamese. It needs to 
be said again that whether in 1885, 1950, 1970, or, it seems to 
me (at least in certain areas), in 1980, Khmers and Vietnamese 
have fought side by side against their enemies, the French, then 
the Americans, and now Pol Pot. This is why, when the Black 

Thanks to the British journalist William Shawcross, 
who obtained them through the Freedom of Informa­
tion Act, I had the chance to see the American military 
maps. They show, month by month, the places that 
were subjected to massive B-52 bombings. One might 
have expected the bombings to have had strictly mili­
tary targets and to be concentrated on the sanctuaries, 
communication lines and rear areas where fighters 
were likely to be regrouping and gathering their forces 
to attack Phnom Penh. But the bombing pattern is 
hallucinating: it is concentrated on the most densely 
populated areas, on the paddies of the central plain. 

Paper states that the Vietminh, with a support base among some 
of the Khmers Krom in Cochin China, "kidnapped severa1* 
Khmers in order to train and supervise them, with a view to 
furthering their strategy of an 'Indochinese Federation' in Kam­
puchea" (p. 16), we can not believe a word of it. This is just a 
logical trick to be able to say that, at the time of the Geneva 
Agreements, all the Khmer cadres in the resistance were Viet­
namese puppets, trained in their school. 

Curiously enough, the Black Paper does not mention one 
of the arrangements set out in the Accords: the re-grouping of 
the guerrilla forces and the departure for North Vietnam of some 
two to three thousand fighters. The main leader of the Khmer 
resistance at the time, the former monk Mean, alias Son Ngoc 
Minh, also went to Hanoi. All those men who came back to 
Cambodia from 1970 onwards and took up important positions 
in the war against the Lon Nol regime and the U.S. intervention 
are ignored here. Further on, they are called "agents" of the 

* The English-language version of the Black Paper has "many" instead of 
"several. .. 
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Vietnamese, as if it were impossible for a Khmer militant to be 
persuaded that the general line of the Vietnamese revolution is 
correct, and even that it is the best in contemporary Indochina. 
The policy of denying cadres the right to make a free assessment 
of the situation, eliminating and "unmasking" these militants 
and in a good number of cases killing them has undoubtedly led 
to serious convulsions within the CPK, of which we find only a 
muffled echo in the Black Paper. In any case it is people who 
followed this trajectory who are now trying to run the govern­
ment in Phnom Penh. Admittedly they arrived in Vietnamese 
army trucks, but this is because they had to flee their country and 
leave their organization in order to survive. Ifyou want to drown 
your dog, you say it has rabies, but then you should not be 
surprised if it bites. 

The end of this chapter surveys in broad outline the period 
1954-1970. From the beginning of the 1960s on, this period was 
marked by the installation of Viet Cong elements on the Cambo­
dian side of the border. This fact is universally known, although 
the Vietnamese, to my knowledge, have never explicitly ac­
know ledged it . 'We have not respected the territorial integrity of 
Cambodia," says one of the internal documents cited above. All 
the Western intelligence agencies agreed that this' 'occupation" 
did not go deeper than a few kilometers, mostly in lightly 
populated areas. This is why the astronomical figures given by 
the Black Paper are so astounding: 150,000 Viet Cong in 1965 
(undoubtedly the equivalent of the whole liberation army), 
200,000 in 1966, "between 1.5 and 2 million" (p. 18) in 1970. 
This is totally absurd. 

It is explained by an ingenious theory: the Viet Cong had a 
mistaken political-military line. "It consisted of waging the 
struggle on the spot," of "controlling the population, and 
keeping them on the spot. " In the Southern part of Vietnam, the 
members of the Vietnamese party who lived in the strategic 
hamlets were all enlisted in the army of the Thieu clique. 
Seventy to eighty percent of the youth, members of the Viet­
namese party's organizations, were enlisted in the enemy's 
army. The remaining 20 to 30 percent complied with the enemy 
and gave up the struggle. There was nobody to lead the struggle 
of the popUlation who, as a whole, were under the control of the 
U.S. imperialists and the Thieu clique (p. 18). The Pentagon 
brass would surely have been delighted to learn this bit of news. 
Without going on about such blatant falsehoods, we can try to 
find out what they mean. To say that all the Vietnamese were 
stationed in Cambodia both prepares the way for the statement 
that they were only able to win the war thanks to the assistance 
of the Khmer communists, who can thus denounce the ungrate­
ful crocodiles, and explains it by their mistaken line. The Khmer 
military officers did not try to keep the population on the spot; 
they evacuated them. In a war which, more than in Vietnam, 
had front lines, evacuation ofthe population from areas recently 
conquered or threatened amounted to political control. We 
know that this measure, applied to the entire urban population, 
served as an instrument of the specifically political victory. It is 
also the tactic used by the CPK resistance against the invasion of 
the Vietnamese army. it was also the tactic used by Kutuzof 
against Napoleon, but now it is the paddy-fields and bamboo, 
and without the Russian winter. 

The Black Paper then lists the advantages the Vietnamese 
resistance fighters derived from being in Cambodia: sanctu­
aries, particularly for various leadership bodies; supplies bought 
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VIET MINH 
(Ligue pour I'lndependance de I'lndochine) 

- 1941 ­

INTRODUCTION 

La colonisation fran~aise en Indochine a toujours rencontre une forte 
opposition de la part des habitants en particulier dans les pays anna­
mites (Tonkin, Annam, Cochinchine) qui formaient, avant la conquete, 
Ie royaume du VIET-NAM. Le fait s'explique d'un elite par les abus 
intolerables de I'administration coloniale, de I'autre par une forte cons­
cience nationale que dix siecIes d'independance avaient donnee au peuple 
annamite. De lit de nombreux partis politiques clande.tins, dont I'ardeur 
<tait entretenue par I'wergie de la repression, qui faisait regner en Indo­
chine une atmosphere permanente de revolution (1). 

Le 22 septembre 1940, Ie. Gouvernement fran~ais autorisa les troupes 
nippones it debarquer en Indochine. L'ensemble de la population fran­
~aise diu pays, dont les convictions fasclstes ~aient evidentes (2) colla­
bora avec les Japonais jusqu'en 1944, annee pendant laquelle s'organisa 
la resistance francaise. La resistance proprement indochinoise datail de 
plus loin. Elle avail pris naissance des 1940 et s'opposait it la fois au 
colonialisme francais et au fascisme japonais. Le mouvement commenca 
en octobre 1940, par l'insurrection de Bac-Son, dans Ie nord du Tonkin. 
D'autres soulevements eclaterent en Cochinchine, dans la region de Saigon 
en novembre 1940 et dans Ie Nord, Annam it Do-Luong en janvier 1941. 
L~administration franco-japonaise les ecrasa dans nne repression effroya­
ble. 

Les revolutionnaires constituerent alors la Ligut. pour l'lndependance 
(VIET-NAM CACH-MENH DONG-MINH, en abrege, VIET-MINH) qui 
reunissait dans nlD front unique. les principaux partis politiques clandes­
tins existant dans Ie pays : 

- Ie parti du Nouvel Annam~ 


- l'association des jeur.es revolutionnaires, 

- Ie parti communiste indochinois. 

- la section indochinoise de I'association internationale antifasciste, 


on the spot or through the local government; communications; 
and especially supplies through the port of Kompong Som 
(Sihanoukville), which greatly lightened the perilous Ho Chi 
Minh Trail trade. These benefits were considerable, but they 
were due to a tacit agreement with the Sihanouk regime which 
could not help but reinforce the latter in its policy of repression 
of the left. 

The chapter ends on an enigmatic point: "In 1966, the 
Communist Party of Kampuchea [CPK] consolidated and 
strengthened its position of independence, sovereignty and self­
reliance, and clearly discerned the true nature of the Viet­
namese." (p. 22) To start with the chronological point, nothing 
of note happened in 1966. The CP, which only consisted of a 
few hundred stalwarts, had bases in a few rural and peripheral 
mountainous areas, but was not conducting armed struggle. Its 
leadership was in the Northeast-i.e., judging by the balance of 
power, under the protection of Viet Cong troops. 
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- les associations pour Ia liberation nationale formees par 

1) les paysans, 

2) les ouvrier., 


3) Ies jeunes, 

4) les militaire., 

5) Ies femmes. 


Un congr.. national reuni au debut de I'annee 1941 adopta un pro­

gramme politique et un programme d'action que nous reeditons ici. 


L'action du VIET MINH eta it entierement oriente. vers Ia liberation 
de I'Indochine fie I'occupation japonaise. Pendant Ia guerre, ses repre­
sentants s'<taient mis en relations avec Ie Gouvernement de Tchoung­
King et e"prime I'espoir que les Nations Unies reeonnaltraient leur 
aspiration a I'iodepeodaoce et leur fouroiraieot une aide materielle. De 
son cote, Ie VIET MINH organ is ait Ie sabotage et la guerilla contre 
l'efrort de guerre japonais. 

Apres la victoire des Allies dans Ie Pacifique, Ie VIET MINH arracha 
des armes au" Japonais et parvint /a se constituer une armee. II prit Ie 
pouvoir en renversant Ie gouvernement installe a Hue par les autorites 
nippones en mars 1941'> (1) et en deposant l'Empereur BAO-DAI. 

Le nouveau GouvernemEnt s'etablit a Hanoi, oil il proelama I'inde­
pendance de la Republlque du VIET NAM et un comite e"ecutif fut 
oomme pOOlr Ia zone sud, /a Saigon. Le VIET MINH prit en mains toute 
I'administration du pays (Tonkin, Annam, Cochinchine) et montra sa 
popularite en organisant des manifestations monstres dont l'une, a Sai­
gon, reunit plus d'un million de personnes. 

Ces faits peuvent etonner Ie public francais. auquel la propagande 
a presente Ie VIET MINH comme une sorte de creation japonalse. lis 
sont connus depuis longtemps du public anglo-saxon. 

L'histoire du VIET MINH, qui represente la Resistance indochinoise 
authentique a ete celIe de tous les mouvements de resistance nes en 
Europe de I'occnpation allemande. Elle presente cette particularite que 
l'Indochine Otant occupee depuis trois-quarts de sieele par les troupes 
franfraises ; Ie mouvement de Jibe-ration De fut Qu'une organisation plus 
coherenle des mouvements qui existaient deja avant la guerre et repre­
sentent la conscience politiquf; diU pays, dans ce qu'elle a de plus pro­
fond et de plus sincere. Le peuple annamite a vu elairement des 1940 
]'identite du fascisme et du colonialisme et la necessite d'une lutte 
pour un regime democratique qui seu], pent lui assurer nne independance 
effective. Le VIET MINH concretise la volonte unanime aussi bien de 
la masse que de l'elite et son autorite incontestee sllr l'ensemble du 
pays temoigne de la profondeur des aspirations qu'jl cxprime (2). 

DELEGATION GENERALE DES INDOCHINOIS 
14, rue du Helder, PARIS (9") 

So why 1966 in particular? The previous year, a CPK 
delegation headed by Saloth Sar, alias Pol Pot, went to Hanoi 
for the first time. This was the beginning of massive U.S. troop 
intervention in the South. One can assume that, despite their 
confidence, the Vietnamese leaders were a bit worried by this. 
They must have emphasized to their Khmer comrades the abso­
lute necessity of having elbow room in Cambodia, whose stra­
tegic importance had become crucial. According to the CPK, 
the Vietnamese at the time recommended patience, saying that 
after victory in the South, which was certain, they would come 
to their aid. In short, still the same post-Geneva line: stay calm; 
we need the Sihanouk regime and when our national interests­
which are those of the revolution-are satisfied, we'll look out 
for yours. But this attitude, disheartening as it must have been to 
people hiding out in the underground to survive, became even 
more and more toned down. It is tempting to date the real 
rupture from this period-by which I mean the Khmer com­
munists' decision for a political line deliberately contrary to 
what Hanoi wished. We have a CPK document which dates the 
Central Committee's decision to adopt the name "Communist 
Party of Kampuchea" from September 1966. 12 If this analysis 
is correct, CPK history as written today by Pol Pot must be 
considered a "revision." The date 1960 that he gives as the 
origin of the CPK's independent line, but which no facts sup­
port, must be the date when a new generation of communists 

, 

moved into leadership positions, a generation which came out of 
the experience with the French CP and only distinguished itself 
slowly from the "Indochinese" past of the party set up in 1951. 
The turning point of 1965 made them realize that they were 
running a major risk of being sacrificed again, that continuing to 
support Sihanouk's policy of neutrality while being hunted 
down by his henchmen was not a position that could be sus­
tained forever. Between the egotism of the Vietnamese and the 
nationalism that was Sihanouk' s forte, only some sort of ultra­
nationalist leftism could provide a way out of the impasse into 
which Indochinese solidarity led. The whole ambiguity of the 
situation is summed up nicely in this sentence form the Black 
Paper: "From 1967 on, the people and cadres vigorously op­
posed all these activities of the Vietnamese, but the leaders of 
the Kampuchean revolution always recommended to them that 
they develop solidarity and mutual aid with the Vietnamese" 
(p. 19). 

Chapter III in fact deals with "the struggle between Kam­
puchea and Vietnam over the question of the political line from 
1954 to 1970." The reasoning goes like this. There were the bad 
guys; the people installed by the Vietnamese were "the old 
cadres they had trained before the 1954 Geneva Agreements and 
that afterwards belonged to the Pracheachon group, " the legal 
party of the former resistance movement (p. 24). "Once the 
1955 elections were over, the enemy started their repression. 
The people trained by the Vietnamese were scattered. Some of 
them abandoned the struggle and some others turned traitor and 
went over to the enemy. "(p. 29) This is undeniable: the Party's 
general secretary, Sieu Heng, went over to the Sihanouk regime 
in 1959. 

On the other side there are the good guys. "But there were 
some real Kampuchean revolutionaries who faced up to the 
situation. They continued to carry out their revolutionary tasks. 
Some of them took responsibility for activities in the capital and 
prepared for the 1955 elections. In order to carry out these 
preparations successfully, some revolutionaries came from the 
countryside to make contact with those in the capital, which 
allowed the Phnom Penh leaders to get to know cadres from all 
over the country. Through these contacts and acquaintances, the 
Phnom Penh revolutionary leaders ipso facto played the role of 
liaison committee for the whole country" (p. 29) 

Here we have an outline history of the formation of the Pol 
Pot group and of the origins of the experiences that shocked the 
whole world and made Cambodia a famous myth: if anyone is 
massacred somewhere, it is a new Cambodia. (I shall come back 
to this mythic aspect.) The hard reality is the intellectual and 
political confusion that reigned in Phnom Penh after 1954. The 
small Khmer left was still inexperienced. After being formed 
hurriedly in a situation of guerrilla war, it had to jump into an 
election campaign with its advisors away in Hanoi. The Black 
Paper is essentially the Pol Pot group's version of history, the 
version of the men who came to control the leadership of the 
CPK during the 1960s and controlled the military apparatus 
during the 1970-1975 war, ran the country from 1975 to 1978 
and have been waging guerrilla warfare against the Vietnamese 
forces. The best known are Pol Pot; leng Sary, who is in charge 
of foreign relations, Son Sen, head of the military apparatus; 
and others like Nuon Chea, the party's deputy secretary general. 
There are also other important figures whose pre-1975 political 
careers are not well-known. 
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urt!"'J"y, 
II ee I'CSII eIICIOftI qudqucs uns 'I 

dessin publie dans Pheeng phs eng en 1969, au centre, 
Ie prince Sihanouk, ill gauche Ie general Nhiek Tioulong, 
actuellement a la retraite et en semi-exil, et a droite. Ie 
general Lon Nol, actuel chef du gouvernement. 

"Chasing Khmer Rouge rats" inPhseng-Phseng, 1969. 

Apart from throwing discredit on the Pracheachon, the text 
shows that the Pol Pot group was part of it at that time, which is 
confirmed by other sources, and that they therefore were a long 
way away from their later positions, which did not separate and 
crystalize until around 1965-66. In my opinion the determining 
influence on this change was the version of Maoism which was 
vulgarized and "Linbiaoized" by the Cultural Revolution in a 
late paroxysm of the Stalinist vulgate. 

The Pol Pot group dates its own emergence to 1960, the 
moment of the formation of the Communist Party, or, more 
precisely, of the change in name of the former People's Revo­
lutionary Party. I have stated my doubts about the date of this 
change. It was hardly to be expected that the confusion would be 
cleared up since the party secretary general at the time was Tou 
Samouth, a former bonze recruited by the Vietminh in Cochin­
china in 1946, the president ofthe United National Front in 1950 
and thus a typical product of the policy of the Indochinese 
Communist Party so fiercely criticized in the Black Paper. 
Saloth Sar, the future Pol Pot, who was without a doubt a key 
person in the Phnom Penh organization, was named deputy 
secretary general. He owed his promotion to party secretary 
general Tou Samouth's disappearance in murky circumstances. 
Pracheachon dissolved in 1962. It was at this very moment that 
the Pol Pot group went to the forest, to the zone which was 
where the Ho Chi Minh Trail came into Cambodia. 

According to the Black Paper, it seems the Vietnamese 
communists did not approve of what was happening. "In 1961 
. . . they worked out a pofiticalline for the Communist Party of 
Kampuchea and handed over this document in Vietnamese to 
the leaders of the Communist Party of Kampuchea. This docu­
ment mentioned neither the struggle against U.S. imperialism 
nor class struggle" (p. 25). 

They were against the analysis of the Communist Party of 

Kampuchea concerning the division ofKampuchean society 
into classes. They claimed that Kampuchea had not yet 
reached the stage of a society divided into classes. They 
asserted that Kampuchean society had the same character­
istics as that of Laos . . . They also opposed the line of 
waging armed struggle and political struggle in combina­
tion. (pp. 24-25) 

It would obviously be of the greatest interest if the authorities in 
Hanoi would publish this document and several others of the 
same ilk mentioned in the Black Paper. The lack of eagerness, 
not to say complete inertia, of the VCP leaders about making 
public the basic documents of their relations with the Khmers is 
regrettable. All there is in the Kampuchea Dossiers I and II 
published in Hanoi in 1978 is emotional reportage, virtuous 
editorials and diplomatic notes. The heart of the problem is 
systematically side-stepped. The Black Paper has innumerable 
defects, but at least it has the merit of trying to recount the 
history of relations between the two communist parties, in 
abundant detail. It is a partial, biased history which nonetheless 
carries weight because of its ounce of truth compared with the 
awkward silence from Hanoi. To those who ask for more detail, 
the Vietnamese respond with nothing, or at least nothing seri­
ous. Nor is repeating the Western press' worst output, like the 
Reader's Digest book on the atrocities in Cambodia, in a radio 
series (jeuilleton) and in Nhan Dan, the party daily, the way to 
convince people you are serious. * 

For, basically, the discussion is not without interest. How 
should we understand Cambodian society? Is it composed of 
classes? Which ones? This is a vast subject on which to reflect. 
What we know of the Cambodian communists' class analysis, 
most of which comes from Pol Pot's major speech ofSeptember 
30, 1977, which made public the existence of the CPK, is 
appallingly weak. It uses the Soviet schema of the 1930s, which 
was mechanically adopted by the other Asian communists be­
fore and after World War II, 13 but which is even more simplified 
and rigidified in its Cambodian version. Eighty-five percent of 
the country is made up of poor and medium-poor peasants. The 
exploiting classes constitute the rest, but they include a lot of 
patriots who joined the revolution. This is the 1975-78 version; 
we do not know what the 1960 version was like. But, when one 
knows how this kind of sociological analysis can be used to 
justify the party line, especially when it is in power, we can 
imagine that the discussion must have been charming-and a 
long way from Marx. 

In 1965, a delegation led by Pol Pot went to Hanoi-as 
mentioned-and to Beijing, but the Black Paper passes over 
this latter interesting detail in silence. The CPK line "worried 
the Vietnamese because, if the Kampuchean revolution went 
on, this would affect their collaboration with the ruling classes 
in Phnom Penh" (p. 25). This is more than likely. The dis­
cussion seems to have been bitter, and without appreciable 
results for the moment. 

They then intensified their activities against the Communist 
Party ofKampuchea. In the East and Southwest revolution­

* For a report on this Reader's Digest book, see Torben Retboll, "Kampuchea 
and the Reader's Digest." in the Bulletin ofConcerned Asian Scholars, Volume 
1 I, NO.3 ( 1979). pp. 22-27. 
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ary bases, the Vietnamese carried out activities aimed at 
creating confusion and division in the ranks of the Kampu­
chean revolution. They both acted themselves and also man­
ipulated Khmer elements whom they had been organizing for 
a long time and had infiltrated into the ranks of the Com­
munist Party of Kampuchea. They also conducted many 
divisive activities abroad. They distributed Lenin's "Left­
Wing" Communism, Infantile Disorder so that the Hanoi 
Khmers** would intensify their attacks against the KCP. 
(p. 26) 

The Black Paper here raises a poisonous question which it 
is undoubtedly impossible to resolve. The Vietnamese com­
munists had allies in the ranks of the CPK. Many of them were 
former members of the ICP, whose political motives were 
without any doubt honorable. In a tiny, scattered party without a 
press, threatened by repression and with precarious communi­
cations, homogeneity was an inaccessible goal. The small group 
that ran the party certainly did not have the means to get its own 
way completely. The same situation continued to prevail aft!!r 
1975 and this explains how directives from above, from the 
Ankar loeu [top-level organization], were so diversely applied, 
even according to refugees. For a long time, therefore, there 
have been-have always been, it seems-serious clashes 
within the party. The Black Paper unwittingly confirms this 
with its long list of conspiracies and plots which are now 
invariably attributed to the wickedness of the Vietnamese. 

But, leaving aside the actions of real opponents, can we 
dismiss the accusations of Vietnam-inspired manipulation and 
interference which Pol Pot complains about now? The Cambo­
dian version is more likely, but they do not offer a shadow of 
proof. And when they state that certain "agents" of the Viet­
namese were simultaneously in the pay of the CIA (which is 
something they had not previously made public), and they claim 
to have found this out only from confessions by these" agents," 
we have a right to find all this fairly suspect. It would be better to 
wait until we know more. Perhaps some day we will find out 
what is in the archives of Pol Pot's political police which fell 
into the hands of the Vietnamese in January 1979. 

Chapter IV brings us close to events fresher in our mem­
ories: "Vietnamese attempts at smashing the independent polit­
ical line of the Communist Party of Kampuchea from 1970 to 
1975." What emerges first is that around the summer of 1969, 
undoubtedly just as Sihanouk was setting up a very rightist Lon 
Nol-Sirik Matak government, the CPK leadership had foreseen 
that a coup d'etat was going to take place to the advantage of the 
Americans. They had therefore "elaborated a document fixing 
the Party's line of the National United Front" (p. 31). In this 
document the leadership criticizes "the statements of the in­
tellectuals who have joined the maquis and attacked Samdech 
Norodom Sihanouk" (ibid.). It seems that this is an allusion to 
the three members of the National Assembly who went under­
ground in 1967, Hou Yuon, Khieu Samphan and Hu Nim. 
According to Sihanouk, in villiages in areas where they had 
some influence, their supporters passed round tract.s, little dit­
ties and even playlets castigating Sihimouk's corrupt regime and 

** In 1954, some Khmers fled to Hanoi for refuge with the Vietminh. 
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Sihanouk himself. These three intellectuals (in Cambodia, this 
is almost a political label) and the others in their sphere of \ 
influence had a political trajectory quite different from that of 
the Pol Pot group, even though they had the same origin: student 
life in France and 1950s PCF influence (the good old days). 
They are the only ones who attempted to carry out a Marxist­
style analysis of Khmer society and make it more widely 
known. The Pol Pot group produced no analysis or text before 
the major 1976-78 triumphal speeches in stilted, stereotyped 
language. 

While the Pol Pot group worked in Pracheachon (and, 
more discreetly, in the Democratic Party) and little by little lost 
its illusions about the impact of this kind of work, the group of 
Marxist intellectuals joined the Sangkum, the party organized 
by Sihanouk, and ended up becominf;! ministers (with limited 
power). (find it hard to believe that such an operation was 
concerted, that one group fled to the forest while the other had 
its eye on ministerial portfolios within a coordinated general stra­
tegy. The divergence was real. One need only read the journal 
published in 1959--60 by Khieu Samphan, L' Observateur: the 
tone could be called reminiscent of Khruschev , with homilies on 
peace, peaceful coexistence, the beauties of the construction of 

I 

~~I!! 

Les Khmers dolvent valncre les Viets 
Freres de san&, khmer! 

En ce moment, Sih&nouk, Ie traitre, autorise les VietcoD&' 
i\ envahir Ia terre khmere et a tuer les Khmers. Mais 
les Khmers, cette race courareuse, dolvent s'unir pour lut­
ter bardiment. La race khmere De se Iaisse vaincre par 
personne. Quoi qu'D arrive, les Khmers ne qultteront pas 
leur pays. 

Levez-vous, hommes et femmes, et vous, enfants et vieD­
lards. Or&,anisons-nous pour defenclre Ia terre de nos anci!­
tres. Unissons-nous pour chasser Ia race des bandits viet­
COD&' hors de notre territolre. 

L'union des Khmers est la survie des Khmers! 
L'union des Khmers est Ia victolre! 
L'unlon des Khmers est la victolre sur Sihanouk 
Ie traltre! 
L'union des Khmers est la victolre sur les VietcGnr! 
Vlvent les Khmers unis! 
(Traduction du tract distribue dans les rues de PJmom. 

Penh Ie 5 avrIL) I
!

Leaflet distributed in the streets of Phnom Penh in April-May 1970. 27 
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socialism, etc.-nuanced, of course, because of the censor, but 
with an influence of the PCF that is still quite marked. 

Then comes the Cultural Revolution in China. The Phnom 
Penh milieu, which was heavily Chinese, was receptive to it. 
Several of these intellectuals were militants in the Khmer­
Chinese Friendship Association, which circulated propaganda 
put out by the embassy on Mao Zedong Boulevard. The upsurge 
in youth protests, the Samlaut peasant revolt and the closing of 
the Association by Sihanouk drove these intellectuals under­
ground in 1967, where they found the tiny CPK apparatus in the 
hands of Pol Pot supporters. There followed a "rectification of 
errors" (p. 31). But I tend to believe that at least some of them 
held ultra-Maoist positions and that they kept a certain auton­
omy, indicated by a congress in the maquis in May 1970 of a 
"Union of People's Struggle Movement," which was curiously 
short-lived since it was never mentioned again. In my opinion, 
what happened was that a third tendency within the CPK, the 
ultra-Maoist faction, was then formed, which coalesced for a 
long time with the moderately Maoist group of Pol Pot, and 
which seems to have lost its influence only around 1977, after 
the fall of the Gang of Four in Beijing. As for those who, like 
Khieu Samphan, survived all these crises physically and politi­
cally, they must have been able to bend with the wind and yet be 
tough when needed. 

The elaboration of this policy of a United National Front 
would soon prove to be of crucial value. Were the Vietnamese 
against it? The Black Paper does not blame them. It would have 
been surprising if the Vietnamese had been against it, coming 
from a party that had its greatest successes by practicing a 
frontist policy (Vietminh, NLF). Near the end of 1969, when 
another delegation from the CPK travelled up the Ho Chi Minh 
Trail for a new journey abroad. the main Vietnamese criticism 
was over the launching of armed struggle, on a reduced scale, 
which the CPK had decided on at the beginning of 1968. In 
Cambodia, things had started to heat up and the emerging 
government of Lon Nol and Sirik Matak closed the port of 
Sihanoukville to profitable trade which supplied the Viet Cong 
on the borders. The Black Paper indicates that in the discussion 
between the two parties, the Vietnamese tried to "get the CPK 
to give up the armed struggle" (p. 32). This is exactly what 
Sihanouk was publicly asking of the Vietnamese and which was 
the aim of the trip he took to Moscow and Beijing during which 
he was overthrown. He wanted the allies of Hanoi to pressure 
the Vietnamese into withdrawing their troops from the border 
zones and stop deploying the "Vietminh Khmer. " Neither he 
nor anyone outside the Indochinese communist movement 
could imagine the gulf that already separated them. 

We have a good example of the dialogue of the deaf that 
went on in Hanoi that winter. The Vietnamese asked the CPK 
delegation: 

Where and how will the CPK procure arms, ammunition and 
other materials? How will it get doctors and medicine? 
Where and how will it find the necessary finances? The CPK 
delegation did not take account of the objections raised by 
the Vietnamese because the CPK had the situation well in 
hand before the decision to start armed struggle. If the CPK 
carried on armed struggle, it was because the concrete 
situation did not allow it to do otherwise. If it did not, it 
would be condemned to disappear. But if it persisted in this 
struggle, its continued existence would be assured (p. 33). 

Perhaps this modest attitude toward its objectives indicates 
that, basically, the two parties were not discussing the same 
thing. The Vietnamese were faced with problems of fighting to 
seize power; presumably they thought the means to take over 
political power in Cambodia were very slim and they considered 
Khmer strategy adventurist. As for the Khmers, after a few 
initial successes in 1968, they were hunted down hard in 1969 
and were fighting to stay alive. The presence of the Vietnamese 
on the borders, even if the aid which went with it was very small 
or even non-existent, nonetheless was a guarantee of safe 
refuge. Since 1963, moreover, the ruling organs of the CPK 
were based where the Ho Chi Minh Trail hits Cambodia. It 
should be noted too, that at the time, the CPK never called for 
the departure of the Viet Congo 

In any case, the relations among the leaders of the two 
parties seem to have been very strained: "The Vietnamese used 
open threats against the Communist Party of Kampuchea and all 
the membeliS of the CPK delegation were unanimous in saying 
that the Vietnamese were furious and were capable of doing 
away with them" (p. 34). We are still waiting for the Viet­
namese account of these conversations, as well as of the other 
CPK-VCP negotiating sessions, of which there were many after 
1970, until 1976. Closed, xenophobic and "savage" though 
they be, at least in the Western press' portrayal, the Khmers 
have said more and spoken more frankly than the Vietnamese in 
this whole affair. 

The Black Paper then tells us that, at the time of the coup 
d'etat and Sihanouk's arrival in Beijing, the CPK delegation 
was also there en route from Hanoi. The prince seems to have 
avoided the CPK delegation, and negotiations were carried out 
through the Chinese. We learn also that "the CPK delegation 
examined and modified the political program of the National 
United Front drawn up by Prince Sihanouk," (p. 35) adding 
that in the prince's appeal of March 23 to overthrow the traitor­
ous regime and form the FUNK "there was no question of 
socialism or communism in this document" (p. 38). This must 
be considered a sure sign of the success of the united front 
policy, since elements as far removed from socialism and com­
munism as the prince could be integrated into it. But foreign 
observers, and a good number of Cambodians, too, considered 
there was an enormous element of deception in this policy's 
success. Again in February 1975, at the time when the decision 
seems to have been made to evacuate the cities immediately 
after the forthcoming military victory, a FUNK congress reaf­
firmed its intention to establish a regime with a democratic, 
liberal, almost social-democratic appearance. Nothing in the 
public declarations indicates the kind of pressure that was to be 
applied to make Cambodia give birth to the new communist 
society desired by the Pol Pot group and the ultra-Maoists 
(although it is impossible to separate their roles in the decisions 
of this period). Some will point out that the Vietnamese did the 
same by not giving any substantial power to any members of the 
"third force" recognized by the Paris Agreements: neutralist 
patriots, victims of Thieu and the Americans, yet representative 
of a large part of South Vietnamese public opinion. 

The question raised here is not of only historical interest. 
We have the same situation again today. On January 5, 1979, 
immediately after a party congress, and before leaving Phnom 
Penh, Pol Pot launched an appeal to resist the invaders. He 
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returned to a theme which had been abandoned for several years: in the middle of the embraces, Vo Nguyen Giap, ever boorish 
a united front, a union between the "democratic" (i.e. con­ and undiplomatic, let this remark escape: 'This is a historic 
trolled by the CP) and "patriotic" forces (the others, especially occasion that allows our three parties to unite once again' " 
those in Sihanouk's sphere of influence). This proposal created (p. 50). The proud Cambodians must have shuddered. They 
some malaise among Cambodian emigres. The non-commu­ saw right away that even though the Vietnamese were grappling 
nists have already paid dearly to learn how limited their place with serious difficulties, they "did not for a moment give up 
was to be under Cambodian communism. Those who consid­ their ambition to annex and devour Kampuchea" (p. 51). Try 
ered this turnaround by Pol Pot to be the result of Chinese negotiating with such sensitive people .... 
influence rather than a sound evaluation of the balance of power However, there were urgent affairs to discuss. The Viet­
were confronted by the staggering news coming from Prince namese made a number of proposals, the most important of 
Sihanouk in Beijing. According to Han Nianlong, Chinese which was the establishment of joint military commands­
vice-minister of foreign affairs, Beijing was recruiting troops to "which would be joint in name only," adds the ever perfidious 
be armed, equipped and transported in Cambodia by the Chi­ Black Paper (p. 52). The Khmers obviously refused. There 
nese from among former Khmer Serei, old Son Ngoc Thanh then follows a murky story of a telegram from the guerrilla zone 
heavies in the pay of the CIA and the Thai and Saigon intelli­ which was given to Pol Pot in truncated form, which it is hard to 
gence services. This Holy Alliance of a new sort promised some know quite what to think about. Further negotiations took place 
pretty good bloodletting. in Cambodia upon the return of the leaders. We learn inciden­

tally that the Vietnamese offered a hospital with 200 beds and a 
When does Chinese interference in this aspect of Cambo­ full staff, including cooks. "The Vietnamese even wanted to 

dian communist affairs date from? The Black Paper says teach Kampuchea how to cook rice," adds the Black Paper 
March-April 1970. hysterically (p. 54). On the same delirious tone, among the 

types of cooperation proposed by the Vietnamese the text men­When the CPK delegation was in Beijing, the Chinese com­
tions aid in organizing women, which elicits this vengeful barb: 

rades told it that Pham Van Dong [who was also there] had 

informed them of the serious difficulties encountered by the Even with regard to work among women, the Vietnamese 

Vietnamese and that he had asked them to intercede with the Nguyen Thi Dinh offered to come and educate the women of 

CPK so that the latter would agree to help them. The Chinese Kampuchea, to teach them how to work.lnfact, this Nguyen 

comrades themselves were perplexed. They had always Thi Dinh did not know how to do anything, either housework 

heard that the Vietnamese had helped Kampuchea. The CPK or mass political work, nor military work. What the Viet­

delegation told them about the real situation: the Vietnamese namese really wanted was to control the people of Kam­

had no territory at home [in Vietnam] and were taking refuge puchea like they did at the time ofthe fight against the French 

in Kampuchea. They had set up there their organs ofleader- colonialists" (p. 55). 

ship and command, quarters for their troops, hospitals, etc. 


I will not pass judgment on Nguyen Thi Dinh's competence at ... The Chinese comrades discovered the truthfor the first 
housework, but I recall that she was Deputy Chief ofStaffof thetime, because the Vietnamese had carefully hidden it from 
Liberation Armed Forces in the South and that she was anything them until then (p. 50). 
but ignorant of "military work. " 

How much credit can we give to this statement? Is it 
possible that the Chinese were never kept informed about what 
was going on in the sporadic guerrilla war in the forests of 
Cambodia? They were playing the Sihanouk card, too, like 
everyone else, but could there have been no contact with the 
fraternal party? This is hard to believe. But we can also accept 
the Black Paper's· statement if we see this as the beginning of a 
real rapprochement, an active commitment on the part of the 
Chinese. With the CPK in the stronger position in the under­
ground organization, the Chinese could see a new card being 
added to what was already a very good hand containing: Siha­
nouk, the master trump; the Viet Cong, a major trump, being 
resupplied through Chinese merchants in Phnom Penh via deals 
financed by the Chinese embassy; and down to the Lon Noloii•• 
card, which they played as long as possible. The Chinese 
involvement in the affairs of Indochinese communism was to 
have heavy consequences since it is the direct origin of the 
military flare-up in the peninsula in 1978-79. This is a subject 
on which the CPK has been totally silent. It does not fit very well ----:::::-----~ ~ --~-----~---:?;--~.:--=-~..:;...
with the doctrine of "sovereignty-relying only on one's own 

~--~~""- -', ----­forces. " 
On the way back, when they stopped off in Hanoi after the Pousse-toi-tlo"c "" peu, tu n'as pas besoin tle toute cette place!

March 18 coup d' etat, the Khmer delegation found a completely 
REALITES CAM80DGIENNI!S - 4 avril 1970changed atmosphere. Hugs and kisses instead of grimaces, "but 

49 



The Black Paper is very discreet about the positive results 
which must have emerged from the many negotiations. From 
the evidence of what happened on the ground in 1970, there was 
very considerable political, administrative and military collab­
oration. Here it is passed over in complete silence. It is also true 
that it extended to large areas where the CPK's hold was mini­
mal and where the Viet Cong's partners were more likely to be 
Sihanoukists ofdiverse allegiance who in Cambodia were called 
"Khmers Rumdoh" (liberation) to distinguish them from the 
Rouges, the "Khmers Krahom." The existence of this wing of 
the resistance, which was gradually eliminated, is never men­
tioned in CPK literature. Unless this is what the Black Paper is 
referring to when it speaks of a "parallel army" organized "in 
secret" in the East and Southwest, which the CPK demanded 
should be handed over to them. It apparently amounted to only 
four batallions. Some of these troops were perhaps auxiliary 
forces of the sort that the Vietnamese maintained along their 
communication lines for various protection and supply duties. 
For the same purpose, the Vietnamese had organized a certain 
number of their nationals residing in Cambodia. According to 
the Black Paper, they were more "cruel" in their repression 
than their compatriots from North Vietnam because they knew 
the Khmer language and the inhabitants. . . The CPK launched 
a struggle against them both in an official way and by mobilizing 
the popular masses to organize large demonstrations against 
them" * (p. 56). It is not very clear what the text is referring to 
here. 

Collaboration must have been thorny. Military and medi­
cal training schools set up by the Vietnamese were closed on the 
orders of the Khmer party. "In fact, the party had already 
opened military and medical training schools for the whole 
country. These schools devoted more time to political education 
than to technical training" (p. 57). Note that at the time, the 
CPK had had only a very brief military experience. As for 
medicine, the less said the better. The health situation was 
catastrophic in 1975-76 and producing simple traditional medi­
cines did not relieve the situation much. Malaria in particular 
wrought serious havoc. But it is undoubtedly better to die at the 
hands of a quack if at least he has a good political education. 

The following episode, which is meant to show once again 
the malice of the Vietnamese, seems to be taken from a second­
rate thriller. In November 1970, a meeting took place between 
Pol Pot and his associate Nuon Chea, and two high Vietnamese 
officials to discuss problems' 'of development of solidarity and 
cooperation. " The negotiations were held in the Northern zone 
and were organized by the CPK secretary of that region, Koy 
Thuon, a member of the central committee, vice-minister of the 
economy and finances of the royal national union government 
[GRUNK]. We do not know much about the content of these 
discussions, which lasted eight days. The Black Paper states: 
"As to their offers of aid to Kampuchea, ** the Kampuchean 
side politely told them that it was completely self-sufficient, 
both in state power and in the army. At the same time, the CPK 
already had a fairly large quantity of weapons and in each zone 

* The English-language version of the Black Paper here speaks of "strong 
official protests." 

** This phrase is missing in the English version of the Black Paper. 


there were already numerous:j: batallions" (p. 58). This is with­
out a doubt the biggest and most blatant lie in the whole text. 
Everyone, from Sihanouk to Lon Nol, the Americans and the 
Khmer Rouges whom I interviewed on the spot in 1972, all said 
that a major part of the weapons came down the Ho Chi Minh 
Trail. But this is not the really interesting part about the story. 

Koy Thuon was arrested in April 1976. He confessed, 
reportedly in written form. These confessions conform perfectly 
to the classic pattern of Stalinist psychopathology. Koy Thuon 
was born in 1928 in the province of Kompong Cham and was a 
former pupil of Son Sen at the Pedagogic Institute and appar­
ently followed him underground in 1963 or 1964. There is no 
trace of him again until 1970, when he surfaced as a member of 
the central committee of the clandestine CPK, and was also a 
member of the FUNK central committee, a deputy minister and 
secretary of the Northern area. In 1973 he welcomed Sihanouk 
to Angkor as secretary of the area but he was not part of the 
Democratic Kampuchean government set up on April 14, 1976. 
There are rumors that he tried to stage a pro-Vietnamese coup. 

His "confessions" have not, of course, been published; 
but the Black Paper tells us that he had been an agent ofthe CIA 
since 1958, that he joined the party in 1960 and that, on the 
orders of a double agent in the service of the CIA and the 
Vietnamese communists, he wanted to poison Pol Pot during the 
November 1970 meeting, thanks to his wife "who was doing 
the cooking on that occasion" (p. 59). However, it does not 
appear that he actually tried because this story only surfaced in 
1976. Other facts thus become "clear": the reason the revo­
lutionary forces did not succeed in taking Kompong Cham 
during their vigorous 1974 offensive was because the operation 
was led by Koy Thoun, who was a CIA agent. Will we be 
disingenuous enough to lend credence to this murky story? The 
CIA undoubtedly had its informers; but we old skeptics were 
immunized a long time ago by Victor Serge and others. Who 
will tell us the real story of Koy Thuon? He well personifies 
what is tragic in the history of Khmer communism, the last-born 
of the communist parties which have got into power. 

For good measure, the Black Paper criticizes the behavior 
of Vietnamese soldiers stationed in Cambodia. Passing over a 
grotesque story of discontented soldiers overturning the chicken 
soup offered them by some nice village people, there is not 
much under this heading except for an incident that occurred in 
July 1973 in the Southwest, not far from Kampot, in which six 
village people are said to have perished, burned alive in a house. 
This quickly degenerated into a military confrontation and the 
Viet Cong withdrew toward the Vietnamese border after senior 
political officials intervened. Perhaps what is most interesting is 
what the Black Paper does not say. In this same sector, serious 
incidents between Khmer Rouges and Khmers Rumdoh oc­
curred in November and December 1963 which also degen­
erated into military confrontations. At the bottom of it all lay a 
campaign by the communists against Sihanouk and their desire 
to control the paddy crop. The villagers chased out the com­
munists, who were only able to have their way the following 
year. 15 One cannot help but think that there is a connection 

::: The word "severa'" appears in the English version instead of "numerous." 
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between these two series of incidents, and that they fonn the 
framework of the slow and sometimes difficult takeover of the 
guerrilla apparatus by the communists, and especially by the Pol 
Pot group. In this game the Viet Cong were trouble-makers 
since they also gave their support to the Sihanoukists, whom 
they considered an essential component of any political settle­
ment in Cambodia. The Chinese, then as now, thought the 
same. In its own way, the small group of CPK hard-liners also 
recognized this, which is why they tried to eliminate the Siha­
noukists during the war (the reverse was undoubtedly true 
locally) and the Lon Nol supporters after the war, since, ulti­
mately, they were the same political class. Apart from the 
fervent supporters of Ngoc Thanh and some of the communists, 
who in Cambodia was not a Sihanoukist at one time or another, 
to a greater or lesser extent? In 1959 Khieu Samphan respect­
fully dedicated his thesis to Monseigneur Sihanouk. Hou Yuon 
did not do this. 

We shall stop here on this brilliant sophism: "The CPK 
representative told the Chinese comrades that the Kampuchean 
revolution is independent and sovereign but that if the Kampu­
chean revolution had bound itself to Vietnam, it would not have 
been able to carry on the fight because there would not have 
been unanimity within the party" (p. 62). This chapter ends 
with the year 1975 showing that without the victory of the 
Khmer communists, the poor Vietnamese would have had trou­
ble taking Saigon. Suddehly, "their plan to seize Kampuchea 
automatically collapsed" (p. 64). 

The next brief chapter (5) deals with the Paris negotiations. 
Without getting into the explanations the BLack Paper gives on 
the profound reasons of the Vietnamese for negotiating, one can 
accept the assertion that they exerted considerable pressure on 
the Khmers to get them, too, to negotiate with the Americans 
and Lon Nol. It had been known for a long time, and the Khmers 
Rouges had let it be known more than once, that they did not 
want another Geneva. They thought, not without reason, that 
the Lon Nol regime was collapsing from within and did not have 
long to go. Why give up on a sure thing? 

One thing which can never be repeated too often is the 
appalling price the country paid for what was, basically, a 
refusal to allow a political solution to be dictated from outside, 
which was modeled on the American-Vietnamese compromise, 
and which was a short-lived mutant anyway. Besides, the 
Americans did not want a real compromise. In order to try to 
enforce their solution, between January 27 and August 15, 
1973, Kissinger and Nixon concentrated all the air strike power 
at their disposal in Southeast Asia. Thanks to the British jour­
nalist William Shawcross, who obtained them through the Free­
dom of Infonnation Act, I had the chance to see the American 
military maps. They show, month by month, the places that 
were subjected to massive B-52 bombings. One might have 
expected the bombings to have had strictly military targets and 
to be concentrated on the sanctuaries, communication lines and 
rear areas where fighters were likely to be regrouping and 
gathering their forces to attack Phnom Penh. But the bombing 
pattern is hallucinating: it is concentrated on the most densely 
populated areas, on the paddies of the central plain. By devastat­
ing the fields and villages with giant bombs, the economy was 
certain to be severely hit. Phnom Penh, surrounded by a deva­
stated void, was condemned to live solely on the river and air 

supplies decided upon annually by the Americans, depending 
on the good will of Congress. 

I am not one of those who think that the reasons for the 
1975 evacuation of the cities were primarily economic or hu­
manitarian. I think that political considerations were predomi­
nant. But who can be surprised that these bombings, straight out 
of the tradition of Tokyo, Dresden and Hiroshima, had some 
consequences, economic and political and psychological? 

The last chapter deals with the period following 1975. 
Curiously, it is the least infonnative. It begins thus: after April 
1975 "the Vietnamese had to leave Kampuchea and return to 
their own country. the CPK told* the Vietnamese to withdraw 
before the end of May 1975 and at the latest the end of June 
1975. But in fact they withdrew partially," (p. 73). As in the 
previous chapter, the BLack Paper neglects to say here that, with 
the exception of the border zones that they traditionally used as 
sanctuary, the Vietnamese troops withdrew from Cambodia 

around the end of 1972 and the beginning of 1973. This was one 
of the clauses in the Paris Agreements and the reports of the 
American intelligence agencies con finned this withdrawal. The 
1975 withdrawal, therefore, concerns only a very small portion 
of Cambodian territory. 

On the subject of omissions, I would add Sihanouk's trip to 
the liberated zones in February and March 1973. I have a lot of 
trouble imagining that such a trip, which Sihanouk had pressed 
for over such a long time, could really have been to the liking of 
communist officials who had embarked on a full-scale cam­
paign to eliminate Sihanouk's followers from all positions of 
responsibility, and before they launched the agrarian refonn 
movement which was radically to change the face of the Cambo­

*In the English-language version of the Black Paper. the word "requested" is 
used instead of "told... 
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dian countryside. Only the prince could make political mileage 
out of this, and only the Vietnamese could give him the means to 
do so, by letting him go down the Ho Chi Minh Trail in an 
automobile convoy. Here they used a lever they had on their 
Khmer comrades. Rumor had it later that the Khmers confined 
the prince and made it impossible for him to have direct contact 
with the peasant masses. 

The Black Paper thus acknowledges that in 1975 the 
majority of Vietnamese had left. Besides, the text does not 
distinguish between Viet Cong and North Vietnamese soldiers 
on the one hand, and civilians on the other-the latter often 
being long-time residents in some places: "Their forces num­
bered more than a thousand men, scattered here and there in 
groups varying from 10 to 100," (p. 73). There were a few 
incidents and the Vietnamese withdrew. Probably these were in 
places where the boundary is not perfectly demarcated. The 

II (TITRE 6) 

question of Cambodia's borders is a nightmare which would fill 
several volumes. 7 2 The French colonial authorities had marked 
out administrative boundaries, which most often were favorable 
to the colony of Cochin China and to the detriment of the 
protectorate kingdom of Cambodia. The numerous protests 
from the Cambodian throne were never taken into considera­
tion. After independence the French boundaries had to be 
accepted, with some imperfections. When Saigon and then 
Bangkok put forward territorial claims, the Cambodian author­
ities became alarmed; they reiterated that they were ready to 
give up all their rights to the lost provinces and asked the 
international community to recognize the "current borders" 
and declare them inviolable. For a while, Sihanouk even made 
this the precondition for diplomatic relations with any country. 
Saigon, Bangkok and (for a long time) Washington refused to 
go along. Negotiations with the NLF failed in 1964 and 1966 
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because of claims which the Vietnamese tenned "unreason­
able," 17 improbable though they may seem. Finally, in May­
June 1967, the NLF and Hanoi responded to Sihanouk's 
demands and recognized the "current borders."* It seems that, 
as the Khmers saw it, this meant there were no grounds for 
negotiating further about the borders and that for special cases 
where the demarcation was imprecise (because of discrepancies 
between maps, absence of physical evidence on the ground, or 
imprecise colonial directives, etc.) the Khmers were given 
latitude to define the border precisely, according to the principle 
that villages composed of Khmers and fonnerly administered by 
mandarins answerable to Phnom Penh should be on the Cambo­
dian side. Judging from their number, geographical distribution 
and total surface area (roughly 100 square kilometers), these are 
the cases that came up again in 1975. The Cambodians did not 
want to get into discussions and evacuated them under duress. 
Furthennore, it is interesting to note that the Black Paper 
mentions the border problem only in relation to the CPK-VCP 
encounter in June 1975 and is completely silent about the 
negotiations in April-May 1976, when a Vietnamese delegation 
went to Phnom Penh to prepare a summit meeting on this 
question planned for June. Without explanation, the Khmers 
abandoned the discussion. 

It seems certain that the maritime border question was the 
cause. It is complicated even more by the fact that the notions 
basic to its existence have evolved considerably since the colo­
nial period. The problem has taken on considerable significance 
with the onset of oil prospecting in 1972-73. Judging from what 
the Vietnamese themselves say, it is clear that they have not 
accepted the Bn!vie line, which was used as the administrative 
demarcation line during the colonial period; the pretext being 
that it had not been recognized as such in practice under the 
Thieu and Lon Nol governments. The Cambodians were cer­
tainly justified in considering their interlocutors to be in bad 
faith and in viewing this as a maneuver aimed at renegotiating 
the border- in this case the border between the maritime zones 
which are dotted with islets, most of which are uninhabited. 
Renegotiation contradicted the solemn declarations of 1967. 

The reason the Black Paper is silent about this episode. 
although it would provide material for criticizing the Vietnam­
ese for their obvious bad faith, is undoubtedly because the 
border problem has largely been overtaken by events; for Phnom 
Penh the thing is to establish an indictment designed to go 
beyond any possible negotiations [and to leave no room for 
discussion-Ed.]. 

Another, more understandable omission, concerns the 
attacks by Cambodian commandos on Vietnamese border towns 
from January 1977 on. Here we must pause for a moment and 
ask how such things are known. I propose adopting a simple 
method: record the complaints of whoever claims to be 
attacked. Sometimes there is a third-party confinnation, in this 
case the American agencies and their observation satellites. 
Usually one side will say: the other side struck me, on such and 
such a day, at such and such a place. The striker says nothing. 
The Manichaeans will choose their side. It seems preferable to 
me to choose them both at the same time. I find thus that after the 

, 

1975 incidents which involve both sides but which seem to be 
resolved amicably in 1976-a year of relatively good relations 
between the two countries-the year 1977 marks the beginning 
of what became a real war. The Vietnamese report Cambodian 
attacks in January, March, April. May and all the following 
months of the year. The Black Paper tells us: "In December 
1977. the Vietnamese launched large-scale attacks of invasion 
and aggression [sic] against Democratic Kampuchea" (p. 7), a 
fact confinned by Western sources. It seems equally unques­
tionable that, as the document says. the Cambodian army cut the 
attackers to pieces. One can imagine the shock in Hanoi. The 
December 1978 offensive and the January 1979 occupation 
clearly originate in the lessons the Vietnamese generals learned 
from this failure. 

It may be noticed incidentally that this Vietnamese inva­
sion, which stirred up profound emotions in international public 
opinion, had not always been set in the context of the veritable 
war which had been going on in the area fortwo years, and that it 
is not all that rare, even if it is highly regrettable, that wars end 
or are pursued by military means. In my humble opinion, it 
would be proper to critique this kind of undertaking not accord­
ing to nationalist principles (all the more so since we are dealing 
with the nationalism of others), but according to the degree of 
political liberty this kind of action brings to or takes away from a 
given situation. We recognize it implicitly in not criticizing 
Nyerere for invading Uganda, because obviously the Ugandans 
are the gainers. As for the Cambodians, how are we to know? 

The Black Paper, written in September 1978, asserts that 
the Vietnamese "blitzkrieg" strategy is and will be undone by 
long-tenn war, people's war and its classical doctrine. At the 
same time, Pol Pot was telling foreign visitors that, if his regime 
was as unpopular as the Western press said it was, it would not 
last a second against the Vietnamese. The test oftruth was going 
to come and we would see. 

We have not stopped seeing. The Vietnamese maintain a 
stubborn silence about their occupation while their supporters 
rewrite history. The serenity displayed by the Khmer com­
munists does not retlect the real setbacks they have suffered. If 
one listens to some of the more infonned observers with experi­
ence in Cambodia, who speak Khmer and who talked recently 
with refugees on the borders, their impressions are contlicting. 
The Vietnamese were welcomed as liberators in certain places 
and violently opposed in others. All is shifting, nothing is 
decided. Everything that has been said and written about Cam­
bodia for almost four years now is an inextricable mixture of 
truth and lies. The press as a whole played its usual role, that ofa 
huge ideological machine. This is clear from the very small 
amount of space it gave to accounts by those who had actually 
been there, which were less rare than one might think. A 
political assessment of this period should be re-undertaken by 
first of all trying to establish the facts. A document like the 
Black Paper, with all its excesses. its racism and its omissions, 
is nonetheless rich in facts which call for further explanation. 
Neither the Chinese, nor the Vietnamese, nor even Western 
officials who are better infonned than one would think, have 
said anything very useful. Nor have the sensationalist journal­
ists, the churches or the ideology shops. For them, inevitably, '*truth is always simple, and simply always on their side. 

*See these documents in Hullelill ojCollcemed Asiall Scholars. Volume I I. No. 
I( 1979) p. 24. 
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Vietnam's Ethnic Chinese and 

the Sino-Vietnamese Conflict 


by Gareth Porter* 

The massive exodus of ethnic Chinese from Vietnam to 
China in 1978 and to Southeast Asia by boat in 1979 seemed to 
the outside world explainable only in terms of racist policies 
toward an ethnic minority paralleling the Nazi policy toward the 
Jews. But Vietnamese policy toward the ethnic Chinese them­
sel ves can be understood only in the context of the development 
of the Sino-Vietnamese conflict. While racism toward the Hoa 
in the form of resentment toward an unassimilated and priv­
ileged minority had long existed among ethnic Vietnamese, 
there had also been a long-established Communist Party policy 
of discouraging Vietnamese from anti-Chinese sentiments or 
actions, in contrast with non-Communist Vietnamese govern­
ments in the past. Communist Vietnam had always portrayed 
the Hoa as active participants in the anti-imperialist struggle, 
linking friendly relations between Hoa and Vietnamese with 
close cooperation between China and Vietnam. 1 

The evidence' from Hoa refugees as well as from other 
sources indicates that, despite only partially successful efforts 
by the SRV to impose Vietnamese nationality on the Hoa, 
relations between Vietnamese authorities and the Hoa minority 
had remained calm until the Spring of 1978, when the Hoa 
exodus began. Then the Hanoi government concluded that the 
People's Republic of China (PRC) was using the Hoa to 
destabilize and weaken the Vietnamese economy and society, as 
it prepared for later military confrontation with Vietnam. From 
then on, Vietnamese policy toward the Hoa was based primarily 
on security considerations, in anticipation of possible war with 
China. 

Vietnamese control over the Hoa was a sensitive issue 
between the Democratic Republic of Vietnam (DRV) and the 
People's Republic of China (PRC) even when relations between 

*This is a revised version of a paper delivered at the Annual Meeting of the 
Association for Asian Srudies, WaWngton D.C., Mareh 21-23, 1980. 
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the two states were closest. Among the first matters negotiated 
by the Central Committees of the two parties were agreements 
on making the Hoa Vietnamese citizens gradually and transfer­
ring responsibility for the Hoa from the Chinese party to the 
Vietnamese party. A 1955 oral agreement on the problem of 
nationality was followed by a formal agreement in 1957 specify­
ing that "all the work regulating the Hoa people from now on, 
including the problems of mass organizations, newspapers, 
schools, hospitals, and all other relief associations for unem­
ployment and social welfare, will be done by the Vietnamese 
side. "2 

Vietnamese sensitivity about the potential for PRC inter­
ference in Hoa affairs was heightened during the Chinese Cul­
tural Revolution, when many Hoa in North Vietnam carried on 
their own "Red Guard" activities, complete with red books, 
Mao badges and large character posters. The political content of 
these activities included denunciation of the VietI).amese Party 
as "revisionist." Vietnamese officials later alleged that the 
PRC Embassy in Hanoi clandestinely organized Maoist political 
groups and party cells in the cities of North Vietnam during the 
period. 3 One of the consequences of the episode was the first 
major reform of Chinese schools in North Vietnam in 1970, 
aimed at eliminating those aspects of the curriculum which 
strengthened the sense ofHoa community-what Hanoi termed 
"reactionary idealistic nationalism."4 

After the U.S. war in Vietnam, Chinese and Vietnamese 
interests and worldviews were increasingly in direct conflict, 
and the Vietnamese viewed Chinese assertions of ideological 
leadership of Vietnam, the use of force to seize the Paracel 
islands in January 1974, and its reneging on earlier pledges of 
postwar assistance, as signaling Chinese pressure on Vietnam to 
fall into line with its foreign policy. Under these circumstances, 
Hanoi decided to ignore the 1955 oral agreement calling for 
Sino-Vietnamese consultations on the problem of the Hoa in 
South Vietnam after liberation and ordered that all Hoa in the 
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South register for the 1976 National Assembly election under 
the nationality they had acquired during the previous South 
Vietnamese regime. Since the Ngo Dinh Diem regime had 
decreed enforced Vietnamese citizenship in 1956, this meant 
that virtually all of the Hoa had to register as Vietnamese 
citizens. The Vietnamese did not want to encourage a pattern of 
Hoa loyalty to the PRC by restoring Chinese nationality after 
two decades of Vietnamese citizenship. 

The PRC protested this Vietnamese move in June 1977, 
putting Hanoi on notice that it would regard the Hoa in the South 
as Chinese nationals whose interests Beijing had a right and 
responsibility to protect. S The now-united Socialist Republic of 
Vietnam (SRV) was thus even more inclined than it would 
otherwise have been to see China's hand behind the scattered 
acts of resistance to Vietnamese citizenship among the Hoa in 
the South in 1977 and early 1978. 

The most sensitive problem relating to the Hoa in 1977 
centered on the Sino-Vietnamese border area, where the Hoa 
represented a much higher proportion of the population than in 
the country as a whole. In the process of improving security in 
the northwest border provinces, which involved primarily mov-

Having created new demands for repatriation among 
the Hoa, the PRC then refused to go ahead with the 
operation unless the SRV conceded publicly that the 
Hoa were Chinese nationals who were being "ostra­
cized and persecuted." Then, on July 12, the PRC 
suddenly closed its border with Vietnam to the Hoa, 
stopping all but a few from crossing into China. In 
August, Beijing began to demand that Vietnam take 
back "Vietnamese citizens who have been driven to 
China" and Hoa who were now willing to return to 
Vietnam. 

ing the population some distance from the actual border, the 
SR V began in October 1977 to expel those Hoa who were 
regarded as living illegally in Vietnam-Chinese who had 
entered Vietnam after relations were established between the 
two communist states but had never acquired official papers. 6 

This security measure, which affected a relatively small percen­
tage ofthe Hoa in the border area, continued up to the time ofthe 
Chinese invasion. 

The Exodus in 1978 

But it was not until April 1978 that a major exodus of Hoa 
people from Vietnam began. The fact that the exodus coincided 
with the SRV campaign for the socialist reform of capitalist 
trade in Ho Chi Minh City, which began in late March, created 
the impression that it was largely a response to a crackdown on 
Chinese merchants there. But a closer examination of the social­
ist reform campaign and of the exodus itself shows that the main 
cause ofthe exodus lay elsewhere. 

The campaign to eliminate South Vietnam's merchant class 
was the culmination of a struggle between the revolutionary 

government and the capitalists in the South, the overwhelming 
majority of whom were Hoa, for control of the economy. the 
timing of the campaign was determined by the SRV's larger 
strategy for the socialist transformation of South Vietnam, which 
required the early liquidation of the economic and political 
influence of the captialist class. The Vietnamese leadership 
feared that permitting the merchants to continue to operate 
would inevitably encourage a "spontaneous tendency toward 
capitalism" in agriCUlture. Moreover, they viewed the capital­
ists as the natural center for political opposition to the new 
revolutionary regime. The removal of the capitalists from the 
cities was thus to be carried out as soon as the administrative­
political apparatus in the South was strong enough to manage it. 7 

Contrary to the PRC's portrayal of the socialist reform as 
an anti-Chinese measure, the Hoa who left the South in 1978-79 
later testified, with few exceptions, that the campaign was 
carried out without any discrimination against the Hoa. 8 Indeed, 
the Vietnamese leadership anticipated-and tried to prevent­
a capitalist attack on the campaign as anti-Chinese in order to 
rally the support of the Hoa community against it. Alternative 
Political Bureau member Vo Van Kiet emphasized to a Party 
conference in Ho Chi Minh City in mid-1977 that there should 
be no discrimination between Vietnamese and Chinese when the 
socialist reform of capitalist trade was implemented. 9 

The exodus of the Hoa from the South certainly did reflect 
in part the reaction of the Hoa to the threat of being sent to the 
New Economic Zones, which had frequently failed to provide 
minimal conditions for settlers to make a living. It also reflected 
Hoa dissatisfaction with the loss of economic privileges and 
with pressures on them to accept Vietnamese nationality (pri­
marily because it meant that Hoa youth would be conscripted for 
the first time). And it was fueled by rumors of impending war 
between Vietnam and China over Kampuchea and of the possi­
bility of transiting China to Hong Kong and then to the U.S.10 

But the majority of the 90,000 to 100,000 Hoa who crossed 
the border into China in April, May and June 1978 were from 
North Vietnam (primarily from the border province of Quang 
Ninh, Hanoi and Haiphong). Both China and Vietnam charged 
each other with inciting this exodus by spreading the rumor that 
war was about to break out between China and Vietnam and that 
the Hoa would be punished by Chinese troops as traitors unless 
they returned to China immediately. Hoa refugees from Hanoi 
and Haiphong interviewed later confirmed that there was a 
serious panic as a result of such rumors, and that at least some of 
it was quite deliberate. They also recalled that Vietnamese 
authorities had tried to counteract the rumors, calm the Hoa 
population and persuade it not to leave the country. 11 Since the 
exodus of the Hoa deprived the S~V of vitally important skilled 
workers such as accountants, engineers, dockers and miners, it 
was clearly not in Vietnam's interests. 

Another factor in the exodus from the North was tension 
between some elements of the Hoa community and the SRV 
over the nationality issue. The Hanoi government had made an 
accommodation with the Hoa population on the issue, treating 
them as Vietnemese citizens except in one respect: they did not 
have to serve in the military. But many Hoa insisted on main­
taining their Chinese nationality, and some lost their jobs as a 
result. 12 And again, in the Spring of 1978, rumors were circulat­
ing in Hanoi and Haiphong that China was requesting Hoa to 
return to help build up the fatherland, and that Hoa could obtain 
good jobs in the PRe. \3 
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The rumor campaign among the Hoa came some weeks 
after the PRC had announced a new policy toward Overseas 
Chinese which emphasized their" glorious tradition of support­
ing and participating in China's revolution," and viewed them 
as an integral part of the "anti-hegemony front." 14 This latter 
point represented a reversal of the previous policy toward Over­
seas Chinese of discouraging them from participating in politi­
cal activities which might disturb the government of the host 
country. IS 

The SRV later published allegations of direct involvement 
by the PRC embassy in inciting the exodus of the Hoa, in the 
form of confessions by Hoa who said they had spread rumors of 
a Sino-Vietnemese war. 16 These stories have not been verified 
from independent sources, but the circumstantial evidence and 
the testimony of Hoa refugees who believed the PRC probably 
was behind the rumors led Western embassies monitoring the 
situation to conclude that the PRC had indeed played a role in 
the exodus. 27 

The Turning Point 

In May 1978, the PRC took the occasion of the Hoa exodus 
to begin terminating its aid projects and denounced Vietnam in a 
major media campaign "ostracizing, persecuting and expel­
ling" the Hoa and thus for having broken with Vietnam's 
traditional policy of friendship with China. Finally, Beijing 
announced on May 26 that it was sending ships to bring the 
remaining "victimized Chinese residents" back to the PRC, 
and brushed aside Vietnam's offer to negotiate on the problem 
of the Hoa as a "deliberate hindrance to China in the exercise of 
her lawful right to repatriate Chinese residents. " 18 These moves 
were accompanied by a Chinese military buildup on the Viet­
namese border. 19 

This series of events was the critical turning point in Viet­
namese policy toward China. The SRV saw these Chinese 
actions, including the instigation of the Hoa exodus, as an 
aggression against Vietnam and a signal that a military confron­
tation with China was a distinct possibility. The Vietnamese 
leadership, which had become convinced by early 1978 that the 
PRC was behind the Pol Pot regime's aggressive policy on the 
Vietnamese border, had nevertheless avoided an open break 
with Beijing, for fear of precipitating an aggressive Chinese 
military response. Now Hanoi believed that the PRC was pre­
paring its own public opinion as well as world opinion for even 
stronger pressures against Vietnam. 20 

The Vietnamese Political Bureau, meeting repeatedly in 
June to determine its response to the new situation, saw Vietnam 
facing war with China on two fronts. It was no longer a situation 
in which military restraint on Kampuchea could be expected to 
avoid provoking China. As a result ofthe new strategic analysis, 
the Political Bureau decided to identify China clearly as the 
main and immediate enemy of the Vietnamese revolution, begin 
a major military buildup and reorient the economy toward 
defense needs, and draw up plans for a military offensive to 
overthrow the Pol Pot regime and replace it with his Kampu­
chean opponents. 21 

The Chinese move to send ships to pick up the' 'victimized 
Chinese residents" gave further impetus to the flight of the Hoa 
from Vietnam. It caused a new panic among the Hoa in Cholon, 
who sold their goods and immediately registered for repatriation 

to China. Hoa refugees estimated that more than 30 percent of 
the Hoa in Cholon applied to leave by ship, suggesting that 
200,000 or more expressed their desire "to leave Vietnam. 22 

Having created new demands for repatriation among the Hoa, 
the PRC then refused to go ahead with the operation unless the 
SRV conceded publicly that the Hoa were Chinese nationals 
who were being "ostracized and persecuted." Then, on July 
12, the PRC suddenly closed its border with Vietnam to the 
Hoa, stopping all but a few from crossing into China. In August, 
Beijing began to demand that Vietnam take back "Vietnamese 
citizens who have been driven to China" and Hoa who were 
now willing to return to Vietnam. 

Although the PRC cited the need to observe proper proce­
dures for crossing the border and the strain on its own resources 
as reasons for the border closure, there may have been a far more 
important reason: thousands of Hoa who had arrived in China 
had refused to consider themselves Chinese citizens and 
demanded instead to be resettled in the U.S. or elsewhere. 23 

They gathered in Canton and became a headache for PRC 
authorities, even organizing at least one demonstration against 
their treatment in China. 24 Beijing, which had defined the Hoa 
in V ietnam as both Chinese citizens and ,. patriotic, " apparently 
lost enthusiasm for encouraging them to leave Vietnam and tried 
to return to the SRV those Hoa who did not want to stay in 
China. 

Later, Vietnamese officials would admit privately that 
the new policy toward the Hoa adopted in the wake of 
the Chinese invasion had been an overreaction and 
would try once more to persuade the Hoa to remain in 
Vietnam. 

The Vietnamese, however, viewed the Chinese refusal to 
go ahead with repatriation, the border closing and the demand 
that Vietnam take back certain Hoa as a new twist in the PRC 
plan to destabilize Vietnam: to keep the discontented Hoa in 
Vietnam to serve as a potential fifth column while sending back 
Hoa agents to work among them. In light of the widespread 
desire ofHoa in Cholon and in the North to leave the country for 
China, SRV leaders were no longer as confident ofthe loyalty of 
the Hoa population as they had been before. The Vietnamese 
began in September to charge China with the intention of creat­
ing "a small Chinese nation in Vietnamese territory" that it 
could use for "troublemaking and disturbances. "2S 

Hanoi then decided to relieve what it viewed as potentially 
dangerous pressures by cooperating with the Hoa community 
leadership to assist departures by boat by those Hoa who wished 
to leave the country. The mechanism was at hand for imple­
menting this policy in the form of Overseas Chinese networks 
linking the Hoa in Vietnam with syndicates in Hong Kong, 
Singapore and Taiwan, which had been formed earlier to help 
Hoa escape from Vietnam overland to China and by boat to 
Southeast Asian countries. 26 Before August the SRV policy had 
been to prevent Hoa as well as ethnic Vietnamese from escaping 
by boat. But after the events of June and July, Hanoi made an 
accommodation with the Hoa and permitted the Overseas Chi­
nese network to function in a semi-legal manner. 27 
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According to those who used the system to go to Hong 
Kong, Malaysia and Indonesia, the Vietnamese government 
was involved in the "permitted departures" only in the initial 
screening of the list of passengers, the final checking of the list 
against those on board, and taking exit fees from passengers. 
The fees paid to SRV authorities, ranging from about $1 ,200 US 
to $2,400 US per adult, appear to have been in line with the fees 
charged by the Overseas Chinese network when it was still 
operating illegally. The Hoa organizers were permitted to take 
one-fourth to one-fifth as much as the official fees for them­
selves. 28 The intervention of the SRV had the effects, therefore, 
of vastly increasing the number of Hoa emigrating by boat and 
of transferring the bulk of the profit made on the trips from the 
Overseas Chinese network to the SRV itself. The exit fees, paid 
in gold leaf, were thus a means of gaining control of a portion of 
the substantial wealth the Hoa community had converted to gold 
in order to keep it safe from currency changes and other anti­
capitalist policies. 

The system of departures by boat, including the arrange­
ment for obtaining the boat, food and other supplies, and the 
selection of passengers, was entirely the responsibility of the 
Hoa themselves. The system responded to the strong desire, for 
a variety of reasons, of hundreds of thousands of Hoa to leave 
the country. The "permitted departures" raised the number of 
arrivals from Vietnam to Kong Kong, Malaysia, Indonesia, and 
Thailand from about 5,000 in May and June to 10,000 in 
October and then 20,000 in November. Seventy percent of the 
departures were ethnic Chinese, the remainder consisting of 
ethnic Vietnamese who either left on their own without permis­
sion or illegally obtained papers identifying them as ethnic 
Chinese. 

Pressure on the Vietnamese-and on the U.S.-from the 
receiving countries to stop the departures by boat mounted 
rapidly. At the conference on refugees in Geneva in December 
1978, sponsored by the United Nations High Commission on 
Refugees, SRV Ambassador in Paris Vo Van Sung was asked 
by the U.S. to slow, but not to stop, the outflow of Vietnamese 
by boat. U.S. officials admitted privately that asking the SRV to 
stop the departures by boat completely would have been a 
"fundamental violation of human rights." But the U.S. sug­
gested to the Vietnamese that they could "send the U.S. a 
signal" by diminishing the flow of refugees and eliminate that 
problem as an obstacle to the normalization of relations. 29 

Evidently responding to ASEAN complaints and wishing 
to keep the normalization process alive, Hanoi did reduce the 
flow of boat people sharply by suspending the permitted 
departures completely at the end of 1978. The figures on arrivals 
in Southeast Asia for January 1979 returned to the levels that 
had prevailed before the system was unofficially sanctioned by 
the SRV, and refugees later confirmed that orders had come 
down to local officials to suspend all departures by boat. 30 This 
move coincided with a shift in Vietnamese policy on the larger 
question of emigration from Vietnam, as Foreign Minister Ngu­
yen Duy Trinh announced in January that Hanoi would agree to 
negotiate an orderly departure agreement with the United Na­
tions High Commission on Refugees. 

The combination of a halt in departures by boat and negoti­
ations for the orderly departure over a longer period directly to 
countries of resettlement offered a more humane and less con­
flictive solution to the problem of Hoa who wanted to leave 

Vietnam. But an orderly departure agreement would have re­
quired that the U.S. and other Western states be willing to 
resettle hundred of thousands of Hoa. It would also have 
required that the U. S. use all of the diplomatic leverage at its 
command to prevent a Chinese invasion of Vietnam, with its 
predictable impact on Vietnamese policy toward the Hoa. 

In fact, the U.S. evinced no interest in a longer-term 
solution to the problem of the Hoa boat people. U. S. diplomatic 
attention was focused in January 1979 on the problem ofgetting 
Vietnamese troop~ out of Kampuchea. While President Carter 
and Secretary Vance argued during Vice-Premier Deng Xiao­
ping's Washington visit against a PRC invasion of Vietnam on 
the grounds of a risk of Soviet intervention and on public 
relations grounds, the fate of the ethnic Chinese in Vietnam in 
the event of an invasion was never considered an issue. 

The Chinese Invasion 

Chinese troops invaded Vietnam on February 17, accom­
panied, according to Vietnamese officals, by Hoa who had 
previously left Vietnam for China and who now acted as guides 
and intelligence aides for the invasion forces. 31 And a number 
ofHoa serving in th~ Vietnamese Party and security forces, who 
had previously been trusted despite their ethnic ties with China, 
were said later to have been traitors during the Chinese attack. 32 

LABOUR 
Capital andSociety

TRAVAIL 
Capital at Societe 
(formerly Manpower and Unemployment Research) 

Editor/Editrie» 
Rosalind E. Boyd 

This journal is publiShed bi-annually (April and November) 
and includes original articles in English. £-'rench and spa­
nish. as well as book reviews. book notes and bibliographical 
entries on labour issues. In addition, .. !£.9ister of On­
Going Labour Research is published as a supplement to the 
November issue of the journal. The journal. which is 
designed for researcher-s. students and policymakers. 
analyzC!s labour problems in devplopinq areas. especially 
lhird world countries. We invite articles from university­
based Tl'scarchers and those involved directly in the daily 
struqqles of working people (in particular labour leaders). 
Recent issues have dealt with workers and peasants in 
Mexico. Black labour strateqics in the Northern Rhode~ian 
COf"Pl!rbeit in the ]05 lind 305, migratory currents in the 
Vol ta reyion, labour lind development from a Marxist perspec­
tive. and Catholic and Protestant workers in Northern 
Ireland. 

Institutions - $7.00 p4'r Y"'V'; (11' ;j.T.7.1 f-==l' issu~ 
Individ:.LQ.7,s - $4. SO rel' Yt>.a2'; 01' $2.5<1 p."l' issue 
Dev~Lopina CQuntM.~S - $2.,<;0 pdf' 1j2ar; 0.,. $1.50 p-E!r iSSUe"! 

P:.tbZie par/PuhLisndd by; 
The- Cdn.tra J'vl' [la;)e"!lopi>'!J-Area ::~ldi.ps 

Lf3 C.,ntT'Q. d','!;-I,l,2S SUT' Z(M 1'·\riOJ'f,3 en ,;.'';veZopt'';!.''''!P.nt 
M,";iU l;'1i·}f1T'sity. 8:5 S'heT'!lz'ooke OU€st 

,~,lcmtT',5al, ~~e(Jec:, Cw..:.::i:; 

58 

http:veZopt'';!.''''!P.nt


, 

t 

Following the Chinese troop withdrawal announcement on 
March 5, the Vietnamese reached a decision which would create 
a new international crisis over the Hoa: orders were issued by 
the Ministry of Interior to move the Hoa out of cities, areas near 
the border and other areas that were sensiti ve in tenns of military 
security. Usually the Hoa were told that they had to leave by 
April 10 and warned that they would be sent to New Economic 
Zones for the Hoa if they had not moved by then. 33 

In Hanoi and Haiphong, cadres convened meetings of 
ethnic Chinese at the end of March and the beginning of April to 
explain that, in view of the possibility of another Chinese 
invasion, the government policy was to move them "as far away 
from the war zone as possible. " They were told that they could 
go to New Economic Zones to engage in agricultural production 
or go abroad, in which case the government would "create 
conditions to help them leave." 34 In the South, on the other 
hand, only those who had been identified as troublemakers were 
directly pressured to leave, while indirect pressures im:reased 
on the Hoa remaining in the cities by cutting off rations and 
calling up Hoa youth for military service. 35 The system of 
"pennitted departures" was once again used to implement the 
policy of reducing selectively the Hoa population in both North 
and South Vietnam. 

As a result the number of arrivals in Southeast Asiajumped 
from 9,000 in February 1979 to 17.000 in March, 34,000 in 
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April and finally 58,000 in May. The scenes of desperate boat 
people being turned away from Malaysia and Indonesia and the 
complaints of the Southeast Asian governments themselves 
created new political-diplomatic pressures for action by the 
international community, culminating in the convening of an­
other Geneva conference on Indochinese refugees. The SRV 
was again asked to do its best to stop the departure by boat and 
did pledge to do so. But even before the conference had begun, 
Vietnam had again bowed to the pressures of its neighbors and 
ended the departures by boat in July.36 Later, Vietnamese 
officials would admit privately that the new policy toward the 
Hoa adopted in the wake of the Chinese invasion had been an 
overreaction and would try once more to persuade the Hoa to 
remain in Vietnam. 37 

The exodus of the Hoa from Vietnam was thus far more 
complex-in tenns of its relationship to the Sino-Vietnamese 
conflict, the role played by the SRV and the Hoa community, 
and the motivation of the Hoa who left the country-than the 
popular image of a racially-motivated purge of ethnic Chinese. 
Official SRV policy and the reasons for leaving varied between 
North and South, and from one period to another. The exodus 
began in large part because of an artificially stimulated fear of 
Sino-Vietnamese war. When official pressures were applied to 
the Hoa to leave Vietnam, it was in the context of an overreac­
tion by the Hanoi government to the Chin~se invasion and 
doubts about the loyalty of the Hoa. 

The SRV did allow those who wanted to leave the country 
to do so and pennitted the Hoa community to make the arrange­
ments. And while the post-invasion pressures on the Hoa clearly 
violated their rights, the system of "pennitted departures" was 
a response to the reality of a sudden change in the atmosphere 
among the Hoa in Vietnam. The Hoa were clearly the victims of 
the restructuring of the V ietnamese economy they had long 
dominated. But they were even more victimized by the conflict 
between Vietnam and China, which both provoked the Hoa 
exodus and was spurred by the Vietnamese reaction to that 
exodus. ~ 
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New Light on the Origins of 
the Vietnam-Kampuchea Conflict 

by Ben Kiernan 

"Don't make pretexts about Kampuchea Krom in order to 

hide your jaw oftraitor. " 

-Security regulation no. 8 for inmates at the Pol Pot re­

gime's Tuol Sleng prison, Phnom Penh, 1977-8. 


On January 7, 1979, Vietnamese-backed forces captured 
Phnom Penh and overthrew the regime of Pol Pot, Ieng Sary and 
Khieu Samphan. The population of Kampuchea generally wel­
comed the change. But many Khmers still harboured the sus­
picion best described by Martin Woollacott, who quoted one as 
saying: "Yes, the Vietnamese have saved us, but what have 
they saved usfor?" I 

The motives of the Vietnamese communists, and of the Pol 
Pot government, in pursuing the two-year (1977-78) border 
fighting that led up to Vietnam's final push have been described 
in a number of ways. It has been interpreted as a somehow 
irresol vable "frontier dispute," longheld Vietnamese plans to 
dominate all of Indochina, Chinese attempts to weaken Vietnam 
by encouraging Pol Pot raids across its borders, or Pol Pot's 
need to bolster his flagging internal position by creating an 
external conflict. However, a 1976 Pol Pot internal communist 
party magazine gives another angle on the problem, describing 
it as "the continuous non-stop struggle between revolution and 
counter-revolution."2 The June 1976 issue of Tung Padevat 
("Revolutionary Flags"), continues: 

We must have the standpoint that the enemy will continue to 
existfor 10, 200r 30 years. The national struggle isthe same 
as the class struggle; in a word, the struggle between revolu­
tion and counter-revolution will be continuous . .. When we 
are strong they are weak, when they are weak we are strong 
.. . (p.2l) 

Vietnam, to which this document undoubtedly refers, 
was thus seen as a longterm enemy whose interests were 
directly opposed to those of Kampuchea. It was June 1976. 
What was the background to this policy conviction ofthe Pol Pot 
regime? 

, 


After the twin victories of the Vietnamese and Kampu­
chean communists over US-backed regimes in April 1975, they 
immediately began fighting one another on land and sea. It is 
difficult to pinpoint what it was that sparked off these serious 
battles, but they ended with Vietnam capturing Kampuchea's 
Wai islands and then, in August 1975, handing them back. 
Further sporadic clashes took place later in the year, but these 
were not serious, and the year 1976 was a much more peaceful 
one. 

The Central Committees of the Communist Parties of Viet­
nam and Kampuchea agreed in April 1976 to sign a border treaty 
in June. From May 4-18, preparatory talks were held in Phnom 
Penh between the two sides. It was agreed to coordinate border 
liaison committees, but there was little agreement on the mari­
time frontier, and Kampuchea postponed the June summit in­
definitely. Significantly, though, "following the meeting" of 
May 4-18, according to Vietnam, "border incidents decreased 
in number." Neither side, including Vietnam in its detailed 
history of border clashes, publicly mentions any fighting be­
tween the two countries during the rest of 1976. Vietnam's 
Deputy Minister and Vietnamese reporters visited Kampuchea, 
reporting favourably on economic reconstruction. Women's 
delegations from the two countries exchanged visits, and agree­
ment was reached over air links. Interestingly, the Pol Pot 
regime's detailed official history of Vietnamese "aggression" 
against Kampuchea neglects to mention these important May 
1976 talks or their aftermath. 

But Tung Padevat, the internal magazine of Pol Pot's 
party, did make some interesting observations about the border 
situation in its June 1976 issue . 

Within the general framework of the country, the enemy 
carried out several activities along the land and sea border 
from the months ofNovember and December ( 1975) to Janu­
ary and February ( 1976). From March onwards, the situa­
tion has softened considerably. 

Along with this we have destroyed the enemies within 
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our country and scattered many ofthem. They have no strong 
forces. . . (p. 20) 

Interestingly, there is again no mention ofthe May negotiations. 
The magazine goes on: 

We want to build socialism quickly, we want to transform our 
country quickly, we want our people to be glorious quickly. 
But especially this is to prevent the enemy from harming us. 
Even now the enemy cannot persist in trying to have his way 
with us. (p. 42, my emphasis) ... The enemy is hesitant 
towards us (p. 44) ... We believe that we could quickly 
build up the country. It is impossible for the ene1ny to attack 
us . .. (pp. 51-51). 

1976 was clearly not a year in which Kampucheans saw any 
serious indication of Vietnamese ambition on their country, 
even though Pol Pot's regime had broken off negotiations. 

Internally, however, Kampuchea in 1976 was deeply riven 
by political strife, from which the Pol Pot group emerged 
supreme only at the end of the year. Beginning around early 
1977, a vast series of purges was launched. Leading commu­
nists such as the Cabinet Ministers Hu Nim and Touch Phoeun, 
and other equally senior figures such as Non Suon, Phouk 
Chhay and Tiv 01, were executed. But even more frequently, 
throughout three-quarters of the country and right down to the 
village level, the revolutionary cadres in place were dismissed, 
and in most cases executed, sometimes along with their fami­
lies. Their replacements were newly arrived cadres from the 
Southwest Zone, which had become the stronghold of the Pol 
Pot group since victory in 1975. 

According to Tung Padevat of April 1977: 

. . . our enemies no longer possess a fifth column in the 
bosom ofour party and people to use as a nudeusfrom which 
to foment counter-revolutionary activities with the aim of 
overthrowing our regime, destroying our revolution, dis­
mantling the Communist Party in Kampuchea, enslaving our 
people, throwing our army into confusion and annihilating 
our democracy. From another point of view, they are no 
longer able to attack us militarily from the outside. 

Who, then, was doing the fighting that had definitely broken out 
not long before? The magazine continues: 

Faced with this encouraging situation, what position could 
we adopt? Should we attack our enemies more fiercely, or 
should we be content with the results obtained: 
... We should attack them without respite on every terrain 
by taking our own initiatives and by scrupulously following 
the directions ofour party, both in the internal political field 
and in the field offoreign relations . .. We must fight the 
enemy coming from the outside in all theatres ofoperations 
and in every form. 3 

***************** 


What follows are accounts by Kampuchean refugees whom I 
interviewed in France during 1979-80. 

Mrs. Lang Sim, a Khmer refugee now in France, was in 
Snuor district of Battambang province in mid-1977 when new 
cadres arrived from the Southwest Zone. At a meeting in her 
village of Lopeak at the end of that year, these cadres told a 
gathering of about thirty people at which she was present that 
. 'Kampuchea aimed to fight to recover Kampuchea Krom [the 
Mekong Delta] from Vietnam, as well as Surin and other prov­
inces fiom Thailand." Bopha, a Phnom Penh woman who lived 
in Saang district of Kandal province after the 1975 evacuation, 
said that the Khmer Rouge there were "all right" until April 
1977 (we know from other sources that the province party 
secretary had been arrested on March 15). Brutality against the 
population then became a hallmark of government control of 
Saang, she said. In 1978, Bopha went on, the Khmer Rouge 
cadres told villagers including herself that the government of 
Kampuchea "aimed to fight to get back Kampuchea Krom." 

Nguon Son, a worker in a large Phnom Penh "mineral 
factory" under the Pol Pot regime, recalls that around Novem­
ber 1978, Ta Khon, the director ofthe factory, said in a meeting 
that "we aim to liberate the people of Kampuchea Krom and 
have already liberated 10,000-20:000 of them." 

A former Khmer interpreter for North Korean advisers in 
the Pol Pot period, who had an opportunity to travel widely in 
Kampuchea, said that the policy to reconquer Kamuchea Krom 
from Vietnam was' 'not official," in the sense that it was not 
mentioned in official statements and publications. Neverthe­
less, he went on, "right through 1978, from the beginning of the 
year until the end, everybody I met in the army was talking in 
those terms." 

Although changes in village leadership and many aspects 
of policy began in various parts of Kampuchea in early 1977, as 
cadres selected by the Pol Pot group from the Southwest Zone 
started to arrive in the villages, in the case ofSaut Nikom district 
of Siemreap province cadres from Kampot arrived in March 
1978. Sovannareth, 19, was at that time working in a bean­
growing production unit in the district. He recalls: 

They arrested the previous local leaders, and made us 
suffer more than those cadres had. They said they were 
"real, strong socialists" and that their predecessors were 
"traitors. " 

At a meeting of 1000 people in the village where I 
worked the Southwestern cadres put up banners denouncing 
the' 'Vietnamese aggressors of our land who are trying to 
form an Indochina Federation." Another banner asked the 
Vietnamese a question: "You want us to join a Federation: 
do you know how to manufacture guns?" Another said: "I 
am a Kampuchean, and I resolve to fight the Vietnamese," 
and others "Long live the great and strong Kampuchean 
revolution." There were many other banners as well. 

We sat on the ground during the meeting, which lasted 
from 6 p.m. to 10 p.m. The village chief talked about how the 
people resolved to work hard so that guns and ammunition 
could be bought to defend the country. Fifteen village chiefs 
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from the district also talked for about ten minutes each, 
telling us to "destroy all bad habits and oppressive acts." 

Then, the big leader spoke. His name was Ta Meng; he 
was about fifty years old, and killed people like anything, 
right in front ofothers. He talked about how the country had 
developed, showing photographs, and about the war be­
tween the Revolutionary Army and the Vietnamese. He said 
they had killed 30,000 Vietnamese in Svay Rieng province, 
destroyed 50 tanks and shot down four Russian-made planes. 
In order not to waste anything, he said, the bodies of the 
tanks had been used to make plates for the people to eat on 

Their plan was to take back Kampuchea Krom. He said 
that the Vietnamese were swallowers ofKhmer land and that 
"the Khmer people resolve to liberate again the Khmer land 
in Kampuchea Krom.' , He talked all about' 'Moat Chrouk" 
(Chaudoc province ofVietnam) and "Prey Nokor" (Ho Chi 
Minh City) and so on. He called for the recruitment of ten 
youths from each village to join the army. . . 

He also said that Thai planes had attacked Kampu­
chea's Oddar M eanchey province, and that' 'we are prepar­
ing to attack the Thai in order to take back the Khmer land in 
Thailand." Later he said: "We will have to fight Thailand in 
1979, and we will certainly win. The Thais do not know how 
to fight because they have never fought before. For example, 
we went into their villages and killed them and burned their 
houses, and there was nothing they could do." He said they 
aimed to get back the provinces ofSurin and Sisaket and so 
on from Thailand. This was in June 1978, in Koh Kong 
village. 

Prince Sihanouk 

In 1979, Prince Sihanouk described some of the background to 
all this in his book, Chroniques de guerre ... et d' espoir4: 

In September 1975, I was indeed surprised to hear Khieu 
Samphan, Son Sen and company say, smiling and very 
pleased with themselves, that their soliders were "dis­
pleased" with "the Party," because the latter did not give 
them the green light to go and take back Kampuchea Krom as 
well as the border districts of Thailand which belonged to 
Kampuchea in the past (Aranya, Surin, etc.) 

Later Sihanouk provided more detail about this conversation. 

In the past, they said, our leaders sold out Kampuchea 
Krom, sold out South Vietnam to the Vietnamese. Our armies 
can't accept the status quo. We must make war against 
Vietnam to get back Kampuchea Krom. As the first step, if 
there are [sugar] palm trees, the soil is Khmer. In Chaudoc 
and Ha Tien, there are still palm trees. We must occupy. 5 

Sihanouk's book continues that after the 1975 Khmer Rouge 
victory, they 

. . . tried to conquer a part of Kampuchea Krom and com­
mitted horrible atrocities on a large number of Vietnamese 
male andfemale civilians (including old people, women and 
children). 

,
, 

, 
i 

i 
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The Pol Pot government rejected all the proposals for a 

peaceful solution presented on several occasions (in particu­

lar 5 February 1978) by the Hanoi government . .. 

In 1978 Khieu Samphan confided to me, concerning the 

Kampuchea-Vietnam war, that his soldiers (Khmer Rouge) 

were' 'unstoppable": whenever they saw sugar palms in the 

territory ofKampuchea Krom, these patriotic soldiers could 

not prevent themselves from crossing the frontier and ad­

vancing "until they came to the last Khmer sugar palm" . . . 

According to Son Sen, Deputy Prime Minister in charge of 

National Defence, his glorious' .revolutionary army ofKam­

puchea" considered itself capable ofdealing very easily with 

Giap's (Vietnamese) army, and with the much more puny one 

ofKukrit Pramoj and Kriangsak Chamanond (Thailand)! 


Although Sihanouk's account is possibly sensationalised, 
it is not unlikely that the Pol Pot group outlined such a policy to 
the Prince as early as 1975. But apart from the clashes in 
May-June of that year, serious attacks into Vietnamese territory 
did not begin until 1977. Serious incidents along the border 
between northeast Thailand and Kampuchea started around the 
same time. (This was just when Pol Pot's group was success­
fully consolidating its power over the internal party opposition.) 
These attacks by Pol Pot's Khmer Rouge or by joint Khmer 
Rouge-Thai communist forces were characterized by a brutal 
militarism quite unlike what is known of the operating methods 
of the communists in other parts of Thailand at that time, where 
the tendency was to use political persuasion rather than coercion. 
to win the support of the population. 

Around December 1977, according to the leftwing Bang­
kok journal Thai Nikorn (14/5/79), a secret agreement was 
reached between representatives of the Communist Party of 
Thailand (CPT), Northeastern Commmittee, and the Kampu­
chean party secretary of Oddar Meanchey province (adjacent to 
Surin), representing Pol Pot's Communist Party of Kampuchea 
(CPK). The meeting agreed 

To set up a mixed force ofCPT and CPK in order to act in the 

southern part ofNortheast Thailand. . . 

It was agreed that the Kampucheans would send one unit of 

forces to join the CPT movement, in order that the mixed 

force should use Pol Pot's lessons on how to seize power, i.e. 

wherever the conditions are ripe for striking against the 

stable underpinnings of Thai civil servants, an effort should 

be made to strike, and every day and every night in order to 

terrorize Thai officials. Wherever conditions are not ripe, a 

report should be made to the central unit ofthe Kampuchean 

side, If it should be thought appropriate, the Kampuchean 

base unit will enter Thailand and strike against· the base 

without the mixed force having to become involved. (my 

emphasis) 


The Thai communist guerrillas in this southern part of 
northeast Thailand (mostly Surin, Buriram and Sisaket prov­
inces) were nearly all ethnic Khmers of local origin. Their 
movement, which enjoyed the use of about a dozen base camps 
inside northern Kampuchea (formalized in the December 1977 
agreement), was internally known as Angkar Siem, or "the r 
Thai Angkar," in Khmer: angkar, the Khmer term meaning I 
.. the Organization," was the word used by the Communist Party 
of Kampuchea to describe itself. It seems to me extremely I63 
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curious that a Thai group would explicitly describe itself as 
virtually the Thai branch, as appendage of the word "Siem" 
implies, of a characteristically-named Kampuchean movement. 
Unless, of course, certain "Thai military strategists" are cor­
rect in thinking that" Phnom Penh increased its support for the 
Thai communist insurgency along the northern Cambodian bor­
der to back irredentist claims on a wide swathe ofThai provinces 
settled by a mixed Khmer-descended population."6 A similar 
evaluation of Pol Pot's designs by the CPT leadership, as well as 
a realization of the political disaster created by the use of 
coercion against the Thai border population, and Chinese pres­
sure on Pol Pot to stabilize the Thai front in order to concentrate 
his forces against Vietnam, may have been the reason for the 
CPT's cracking down on the activities of Angkar Siem around 
mid-1978. 

In this connection one may legitimately ask what purpose 
could have been served by the construction of a long road 
through the forest of northern Kampuchea parallel with the Thai 
frontier. Work began on this in early 1977, according to one 
participant in a number of work-teams of teenage Khmer pea­
sant boys. 

At almost the same time, Kampuchea began to clash with 
her third neighbor, Laos. After a December 1978 visit to south­
ern Laos, Nayan Chanda wrote in the Far Eastern Economic 
Review ( 12/ 12/78): 

It is now clear that the situation on the [Lao-KampucheanJ 
border has been deteriorating since the end of 1976. 

The CPK and Vietnam 
But it was against Vietnam that Kampuchean border at­

tacks were the fiercest and most sytematic. It is widely accepted 
that the fighting that broke out in early 1977 and continued 
throughout the year was initiated by the Kampuchean side, and 
consisted mostly of raids on villages or shelling of towns. 
Vietnamese civilian casualties were extremely high. 

Summarizing numerous reports in the press, Keesing's 
Contemporary Archives gave the following account of the con­
flict during 1977: 

The situation gravely deteriorated from March 1977 on­
wards. According to an official Vietnamese document pub­
lished on 6th January 1978 the Cambodianforces made raids 
into the Vietnamese provinces ofKien Giang and An Giang 
on March 15-18 and 25-28, 1977, along a sector nearly 100 
kilometres long from Ha Tien (Kien Giang) to Tinh Bien (An 
Gang). Strong Cambodian forces launched concerted at­
tacks on Vietnamese army posts and on border villages in An 
Giang between April 30 and May 19, killing 222 civilians, 
and shelled Chau Doc, the provincial capital, on May 17. 
These reports were corroborated by Vietnamese refugees 
reaching other Asian countries, who stated that the civilian 
population had been evacuatedfrom Ha Tien on May 16 and 
from Chau Doc on the following day after the two towns had 
been shelled ... According to the Vietnamese document, 
fighting continued at intervals throughout mid-1977. . .. 
The scale of the fighting greatly increased in the second half 
of September-this development coinciding with Mr. Pol 
Pot's resumption of the premiership and his visits to China 

and North Korea. The Vietnamese document of 6 January 
1978, which was supported by reports from US intelligence 
sources, stated thatfrom September 24 onwards Cambodian 
forces totalling about four divisions had launched continu­
ous attacks along the entire border ofTay Ninh province, and 
that over 1,000 civilians had been killed or wounded in this 
area between September 24 and late November . .. 7 

Of course, some supporters of the Pol Pot regime dispute 
that Kampuchea continually instigated clashes with Vietnam 
during 1977. But so far they have provided little or no evidence 
to sustain their case. The Pol Pot regime itself accuses Vietnam 
of beginning its attacks that year only in June (and even for this 
there is no corroborating evidence), whereas we know from 
many independent sources that the fighting began in March. The 
Black Book, Pol Pot's detailed official history of the border 
conflict, in its discussion of Vietnamese "aggression" in the 
year 1977, mentions only the real Vietnamese cross-border 
offensive of December. 

Two Kampuchean refugees in France provide eyewitness 
accounts of the border fighting in 1977. Veasna fled his country 
for Vietnam in December 1975. He says he was allowed to live 
normally as a Vietnamese citizen, taking various jobs. He lived 
very close to the border, in the villa~e of Ap Sase (Minit, Ha 
Tien, Kien Giang) and "could see the Khmer Rouge working 
every day." He says there was no fighting between Kampuchea 
and Vietnam during 1976. 

In Mid- 1977, "the Khmer Rouge started the fighting," 
Veasna says. "I saw this in actual fact with my own eyes, since 
my house was 500 metres from the border. When the Khmer 
Rouge crossed the border everybody ran and grabbed their 
children and all ran into their houses. But the Khmer Rouge 
came into our village and bum down houses and burnt goods, 
and killed about twenty people who were not able to run away 
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..." Before that, in nearby Prey Tameang village, the Khmer 
Rouge had killed two hundred civilians, including ethnic Khmers 
as well as Vietnamese, he adds. 

"The population asked the Vietnamese military to fight 
back against the Khmer Rouge, but they replied that they didn't 
have orders from above to do so. In 1977 the Vietnamese did not 
go into Kampuchean territory." (Interview in France, 7 October 
1979.) 

Heng escaped to Vietnam from Svay Rieng province of 
Kampuchea in October 1975. He too was given permission to 
live and work as he chose, and he settled down in the mixed 
Khmer-Vietnamese village of Ke Mea, in Tay Ninh province. 
He found that the Vietnamese authorities referred to the Khmer 
Rouge as "brothers," and that all through 1976 there was no 
fighting along the border. The local V ietnamese community, he 
said, were not racist in their attitudes towards the Khmers; in 
Vietnam "they didn't teach the children to hate (the Khmers) as 
in Kampuchea." Further, "Vietnamese girls liked Khmer 
boys." 

Then, in Mayor June 1977, the Khmer Rouge shelled Ke 
Mea, killing "hundreds of people." Many of them were ethnic 
Khmers as well as Vietnamese, Heng says. The Vietnamese 
authorities still insisted that the Khmer Rouge were their 
"friends." Only in early 1978, according to Heng, did they 
mount loudspeakers in the villages' 'telling their people what 
the Khmer had done." (Interview in France, 8 October 1979.) 

The Vietnamese counter-offensive of December 1977­
January 1978 was followed by a Vietnamese withdrawal from 
inside Kampuchean territory (or a defeat), and the offer of 
negotiations, a mutual pullback five kilometres either side of the 
border, and international supervision of the border to prevent 
aggression across it. The traditional Vietnamese communist 
view of themselves, as patrons of the other Indochinese revolu­
tions, had been overcome by a more urgent priority, the desire 
for a peaceful frontier. IfPol Pot had accepted this offer, made 
by Hanoi on 5 February 1978, his regime would most likely 
have survived. But this would also have meant the abandonment 
of policies towards Vietnam that had become clear enough over 
the previous year. But with Chinese backing, a desire to recon­
quer the Mekong Delta from Vietnam, and internal instability 
within Kampuchea's ruling communist party, the Pol Pot group 
was not prepared to abandon those policies. They refused the 
proposal, and their conflict with Vietnam became locked into 
"the continuous non-stop struggle." * 
Notes 
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Statement to the Conference on Vietnam and Kampuchea 

Dassel, West Germany 


by Torben RetboU 
The Vietnamese invasion of Kampuchea is a tragedy, to 

both Vietnam and Kampuchea. Firstly, because Vietnam there­
by has violated Kampuchea's right to self-determination. And 
secondly, because this military operation is not likely to im­
prove the welfare of the people in either of the countries. 

Self-determination 
By invading and occupying Kampuchea, Vietnam has vio­

lated the very principle for which it fought for decades-first 
against the French and later against the Americans-namely 
that the problems of each nation should be solved by that 
nation's own population. 

The two great powers, the United States and the Soviet 
Union, have never taken a principled stand against military 
invasions, but only against those committed by their opponent. 
Soviet protests over atrocities for which the U.S. is responsible 
are just as cynical and hypocritical as are American protests over 
similar cruelties perpetrated by the Soviet Union. The principle 
that each individual nation has a right to determine its own 
political course is only valid to them when there are no costs 
involved. When the U.S. waged its war against Southeast Asia, 
the so-called "hawks" contended that America could win if 
only a sufficient amount of dollars were spent and a sufficient 
number of bombs were dropped, while the so-called "doves" 
thought that a military victory was too costly and should be 
abandoned. But none of them questioned America's right to 
intervene. The Peace Movement in the U.S. (and in other 
Western countries), however, adopted a third and much more 
honest position, namely that the U.S. had no legal or moral right 
to interfere in the internal affairs of these countries. 

After the end of the war, Secretary of Defense Harold 
Brown stated that "a lesson we learned from Vietnam is that we 
should be very cautious about intervening in any place where 
there is a poor political base for our presence. "\ That is, the 
U.S. need not refrain from governing the world, but should 
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merely be careful where they do not have a strong position. If 
one opposes Soviet invasions in Eastern Europe and American 
invasions in Latin American and Asia (basing oneself on the 
principled stand which was the foundation of the Peace Move­
ment), then, it seems to me, one must also-if there is to be any 
logic-oppose the Vietnamese invasion of Kampuchea. To say 
this is not to deny or ignore that there are divisions and disagree­
ment within the Kampuchean people. Of course there are. But 
these problems should be solved by the Kampucheans them­
selves and-so far as possible--=-without pressure from the 
outside world. The decisions should not be made in Hanoi, 
Moscow, Washington or Beijing. 

The cynicism of American policy towards Kampuchea is 
well known and need not be described here. 2 In fact, the attitude 
of the Soviet Union is no less hypocritical, and perhaps a few 
details are in order. Up until 1975, the Soviet Union maintained 
diplomatic recognition of the U.S.-backed Lon Nol govern­
ment, and consequently the Russian embassy staff was expelled 
from the country in May 1975 together with all other foreigners 
"on the back of a truck" as the American commentator Joseph 
Alsop noted in a remarkable article from December 1975 in 
which he predicted the conflict between Vietnam and Kampu­
chea. 3 But in spite of this humiliation, the Soviet Union never­
theless declared its full support for the new government in 
Phnom Penh from April 1975 until December 1977. 

The Soviet press praised the revolution in Kampuchea. The 
past was so effectively suppressed that the weekly New Times in 
October 1977 was able to write that "the Communist Party and 
the government of the Soviet Union have invariably supported 
the Kampuchean people's struggle under Communist leadership 
for freedom, independence and territorial integrity. " The same 
article also said that "with scant information coming from 
LKampuchea,] the Western press alleges without proof that the 
new leaders are using 'tyrannical methods,' 'neglecting the 



,
I 
I needs of the nation's development' and so on. "4 And whereas party's international secretariat, declared at a public meeting in 

the fonner statement is notoriously wrong, the latter statement is Copenhagen in March 1979 that it was wrong to demand with­l 	
\not at all a bad characterization of the activities of the Western drawal of the Vietnamese troops: "Apparently, the new govern­I press. 5 	 ment [in Phnom Penh] considers these troops a necessity," she I, 

From January 1978, however, when the Vietnam-Kampu­
chea conflict came into full public light, the situation changed 
overnight and the Soviet Union gave full support to the Viet­
namese position. In September 1978, New Times now reported 
on "the Kampuchean tragedy," and the following month fal­
sified pictures of Communist atrocities in Kampuchea appeared 
in the Literaturnaja Gazeta as an illustration to an article en­
titled" 'Socialism' by the recipe of Peking." The source for 
these pictures was the conservative West-Gennan magazine 
Stern. The text of the article was mostly long excerpts about 
atrocities in Kampuchea taken from different Western publica­
tions, and there were no questions raised about the credibility of 
the pictures or the quotations. Usually, the Soviet Union is 
highly contemptuous of the "bourgeois" and "anti-Soviet" 
Western press, but in this case its accounts were presented as the 
gospel truth. 6 

Nor did the Soviet press refrain from lying about what the 
American journalists Elizabeth Becker and Richard Dudman 
reported about their visit to Kampuchea in December 1978. On 
January II, 1979, the New York correspondent for Pravda 
infomed us that "Becker and ... Dudman write about a period 
of evil and tyranny which was forced upon this country by a 
government following China's political system. They say that 
there were systematic executions in Kampuchea and that the 
victims of these executions came from all the different social 
groups." In Becker and Dudman's articles, however, there is 
nothing of all this. 

The Vietnamese invasion of Kampuchea has caused pro­
tests from many countries. It is true that the new pro-Vietnamese 
government in Phnom Penh was quickly recognized by the 
Soviet Union and its allies, but apart from this, international 
recognition has been slowly forthcoming. 7 

At the conference of non-aligned countries in Havana in 
September last year, there was so much disagreement over who 
should represent Kampuchea that the seat remained empty dur­
ing the meeting. But when the United Nations General Assem­
bly opened a few weeks later in New York, there was a great 
majority who wanted the country to be represented by the 
government of Democratic Kampuchea and not by the govern­
ment that Vietnam had installed by the use of armed force. 

On the Left, however, among the remnants of the Peace 
Movement, there has been considerable disagreement among 
those who either defended or condemned the invasion. The 
Trotskyists had many and extensive discussions whether or not 
Kampuchea had been what they tenned a "degenerated work­
ers' state. " The point was that in the first case the invasion was 
not a good thing, but in the opposite case it could be accepted. 
The Trotskyists are not very fond of "degenerated workers' 
states" (a category to which Vietnam also belongs), but they 
believe that this type of state nevertheless is to be preferred to 
capitalist democracy. 8 

The Danish party, the Left Socialists, which in one of its 
very first important decisions condemned the Soviet invasion of 
Czechoslovakia in August 1968, was also divided and unable to 
condemn Vietnam. Thus, Inger Johansen, a member of the 

said, "and we have to respect that wish."9 By a similar logic, 
one might-ten years ago-have said about the Thieu-regime 
in South Vietnam that "apparently the government in Saigon 
considers the American troops a necessity and we have to 
respect that wish. " 

Since then, the Left Socialist Party has moved from uncer­
tainty and disagreement to a full and whole-hearted acceptance 
of the invasion. 

The Vietnamese army has crossed into Kampuchea and has 
installed a regime which is more sympathetic towards Viet­
namese wishes. In the beginning, the official view was that there 
were no Vietnamese troops in Kampuchea. This claim was 
strongly contradicted by all available infonnation, and hardly 
anybody took it seriously. Those who did easily ran into self­
contradictions. In January 1979, Wilfred Gluud, who is a prom­
inent member of the Danish-Vietnamese Association, wrote the 
following passage: "At this moment, it is impossible to prove or 
disprove the claims that there are regular Vietnamese troops in 
Kampuchea. But Vietnam denies it, and we will go on believing 
that. " 

Gluud, however, is also a member of the leftist organiza­
tion KA-ml, and in the paper of this organization, he wrote at 
approximately the same time that "regardless of how strong 
KNUFNS 10 is considered to be, everything points to the fact 
that regular Vietnamese troops are taking part with armoured 
cars and planes. This must be condemned as an act of aggression 
and as an illegal invasion of the territory of another country. " 

These two statements were placed together by another left 
wing paper which with good reason concluded that Gluud must 
be "a pure double man." Gluud replied to this a few weeks 
later: The article in which he had criticized Vietnam was based 
on a "too fast and wrong judgement" of the situation, he then 
explained. 11 

But even people who were sympathetic towards Vietnam 
refused to swallow Hanoi's propaganda. Thus, the American 
Dave Dellinger wrote shortly after the invasion that "it is 
ludicrous to suggest that the rebels possessed the planes, pilots, 
tanks, heavy artillery, organization and numbers to conduct the 
blietzkrieg that swept Kampuchea. " 

In the same connection, Dellinger also said that he had 
attended a gathering in New York in the autumn of 1978 in 
which people from the Peace Movement and some Vietnamese I
officials took part: 	 i 

1 
In a formal presentation, the Vietnamese excoriated China I 
for having supported Lon Nol during the period he headed 
the pro-American, anti-Cpmmunist Kampuchean govern­I 
ment (March 1970-April 1975), and for having received 

I 
J

Nixon' in Peking during the saturation bombing ofVietnam­

ese cities. No mention was made that the Soviet Union 

recognized and supported the Lon Nol government whereas 

in fact China did not. Nor was it mentioned that Nixon was 

similarly in Moscow during the same period ofmassive U.S. 
 Ibombardments. 

! 
And Dellinger then adds that" Americans in the anti-war move­ ! 
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ment had come to expect better from the Vietnamese-and 
many of us hope for a higher level of political discussion in the 
future. " 12 

Later, Vietnam gave up its pretense that the changes in 
Kampuchea were caused only by an internal uprising. This 
happened when Vietnam entered into a treaty with the very 
government that they themselves had just installed in Phnom 
Penh. The treaty made it legal for the Vietnamese troops to be 
stationed on Kampuchean territory Uust as the Soviet Union did 
one year later in Afghanistan). 

The welfare of the people 
There are, however, some people who believe that the 

principle of self-determination may be a noble one but that it 
sometimes must give way to another one, namely the principle 
of the welfare of the people. According ot this view, Vietnam 
has liberated Kampuchea from what Wilfred Burchett-a firm 
supporter of Vietnamese policies-has characterized as "four 
years of Khmer Rouge madness" and should be praised for 
restoring human rights in Kampuchea. 

I am not inclined to share this view. There is no doubt that 
there was repression in Kampuchea before December 1978, but 
if we were to recommend a military invasion in every country 
run by a repressive government, there would be no end to 
invasions. And who is going to decide when an invasion is 
justified? The perspectives are horrifying indeed. To my knowl­
edge, it is rather difficult to find examples in which a military 
invasion has improved the welfare of a people, and Kampuchea 
seems to be no exception to the general rule. 

Eighteen months after the invasion, the situation is still 
difficult to evaluate with any certainty, but my view is this: 
Firstly, Vietnam has introduced war into the country. When the 
front moves back and forward the Vietnamese and the resistance 
movement take revenge against those who-willingly or not­
co-operated with the opponent. Secondly, only 5 or 10 percent 
of the fields are cultivated and Vietnam has about \50,000 
soldiers plus civilian personnel stationed in Kampuchea and 
seems determined to starve the resistance movement to death if 
this is necessary to crush it. Thirdly, each day, more people 
become victims of hunger, disease and death as a direct result of 
the war situation. And finally, the Vietnamese population has to 
support a huge military apparatus which is causing severe econ­
omic problems in Vietnam. 

Before, the invasion, virtually all foreign observers in 
Kampuchea reported unanimously that the people appeared 
healthy and well-fed and that all the fields were being cultivated. 
Thus, the conservative Hong Kong magazine, The Far Eastern 
Economic Review, in its 1979 yearbook reported the following: 

A team ofJapanese diplomats based in Peking and an 
economist attached to the mission visited Cambodia in Au­
gust [1978]. The group has reported that it did not get the 
impression people were deprived offood. Supplies seemed to 
be adequate. Vegetables were abundant, with plenty offruit, 
and the diet was supplemented with pig-breeding. The find­
ings of the mission are, of course, from a swift tour from 
Phnom Penh to Angkor Wat. However, the economist, who 
had been in Cambodia in the time of the Lon Nol regime, 
found agriculture in better shape than before the liberation 
and irrigation much better organised than at that time. 13 

This stands in dramatic contrast to virtually all reports from 
foreign visitors after the invasion. 

Last year, the noted French priest, Fran~ois Ponchaud, 
even claimed that the Vietnamese were systematically plunder­
ing Kampuchea for machinery, furniture, rice and so on.14 
Pro-Vietnamese observers, however, such as Wilfred Gluud in 
Denmark, have insisted that Ponchaud is anti-Communist and 
therefore a bad and unreliable witness. The question of credibil­
ity is important and I would like to comment briefly on it. 

I believe that when Pol Pot and other members of his party 
accuse Vietnam of plundering Kampuchea, it is not very sur­
prising, or even credible, if nobody else does so. In fact, others 
do. And when a sworn opponent of Pol Pot such as Ponchaud 
does it, one should, in my opinion, take it more seriously. 

Gluud says that' 'there are true accounts about Vietnamese 
who have committed crimes in Kampuchea, but these are rela­
tively few individual incidents," and "all foreign visitors have 
rejected the claim that Vietnam is plundering Kampuchea." In 
addition, Gluud refers to the Australian scholar Ben Kiernan 
who has conducted a number of refugee interviews and con­
cludes on the basis of this that "the Vietnamese army has dis­
played a model behaviour towards the Kampuchean civilian 
population. 15 

I think that Gluud and Kiernan are right: It is not the official 
policy of Vietnam to plunder Kampuchea, and therefore one 
should make a proviso when Ponchaud says that Vietnam is 
"systematically" plundering Kampuchea. 

Nevertheless, all this does not lead me to condone the 
invasion. Gluud's arguments may seem convincing but upon 
reflection they become high dubious: By a similar logic, one 
might just as well condone the German occupation of Denmark 
during World War Two. In that case, the story would run as 
follows: 

''There are true accounts about Germans who have com­
mitted crimes in Denmark, but these are relatively few individ­
ual incidents, and all foreign visitors have rejected the claim 
that Germany is plundering Denmark. The German army has 
displayed a model behaviour towards the Danish civilian popu­
lation. " 

But this occupation would hardly be condoned by anyone. 
One of the latest reports from Kampuchea that I have seen 

comes from the Swedish journalist Bengt Albons and was pub­
lished in April of this year. Here, Albons says the following: 

The evidence that the Vietnamese invasionforces emptied the 
occupied houses in Phnom Penh and other cities is over­
whelming. 'They filled trucks with refrigerators, fans, ma­
chinery, medicine and antiquities and took it all to Vietnam,' 
people say with disgust . . . . It is not certain that the 
plundering has been officially sanctioned policy, but the 
accounts that they have taken place are so many and so 
wide-spread that they cannot be rejected. 

On this point, then, Albons seems fairly close to Gluud and 
Kiernan. However, Albons also says that the rice stores have 
almost come to an end in Kampuchea: The seeds for sowing 
have been eaten, and a new hunger catastrophe is threatening. 
Moreover, he reports that the inhabitants of Phnom Penh com­
plain that the Vietnamese are acting as new masters in Kam­
puchea, that they have taken over the best houses in the city and 
are living better than everybody else. Anti-Vietnamese feelings 
are marked by horror and contempt, Albons says. 16 
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Thus, the invasion does not seem to improve the welfare of 
the Kampuchean people. 

The future 

It is difficult to see how a quick and just solution of the 
conflict in Kampuchea can be achieved. Bengt Albons con­
cludes, on the basis of his recent visit, that there is no political 
force in Kampuchea today that has sufficient popular support­
neither Pol Pot nor Heng Sarnrin-and that this will mean that 
Vietnam will feel forced to remain in Kampuchea for many 
years to come. This judgment is, in my view, plausible-but 
also tragic. It means that war, starvation and disease will con­
tinue to demand many victims in Kampuchea, while the Viet­
namese people will have to go on supporting a huge and costly 
military apparatus. The great powers have for too many years 
had a considerable and tragic influence in Southeast Asia. The 
U.S. has been assisting Indonesia's war against the former 
Portuguese colony East Timor, just as the Soviet Union is 
delivering weapons to Vietnam's war against Kampuchea. In 
1977, du.ring a congressional hearing on human rights in East 
TiI1}-or, a spokesman of the U. S. government stated that one 
purpose of American assistance to Indonesia is "to keep that 
area peaceful." Similarly, in December 1979, another spokes­
man claimed that the major objective of U.S. policy is "the 
welfare of the Timorese people. " 17 I am quite certain that the 
Soviet Union will claim that the purpose of their policy toward 
Kampuchea is precisely the same. The facts, however, tell us a 
different story. But if there is no local solution to the Kam­
puchea-Vietnam conflict, it is not unlikely that the great powers 
will attempt to press for their own solutions. And this is not 
likely to benefit the people, either in Kampuchea or in Vietnam. 

Pro-Vietnamese observers have said that Vietnam cannot 
withdraw now, because this might cause a bloodbath if the 
resistance movement takes revenge on those who have co-oper­
ated with the Vietnamese. The argument seems familiar: It is the 
same argument that every occupation force has always used in 
order to justify its presence once it has intervened. And by a 
similar logic, one might claim that Germany during World War 
Two could not risk withdrawing from France for fear that the 
resistance movement would take revenge on French collabor­
ators. 

At the preparatory meeting of the non-aligned countries in 
Colombo in the summer of 1979, the Foreign Minister of Demo­
cratic Kampuchea, Ieng Sary, stated irt interviews with the New 
York Times and Le Monde that his government now gave first 
priority to the withdrawal of Vietnamese forces: All political 
parties should be allowed to operate, and the government to be 
formed afterwards should be established on the basis of free and 
secret elections conducted under supervision of the United Na­
tions. 18 This suggestion is, in my opinion, worth pursuing, even 
though pragmatists may reject it as unrealistic. 

Our cIiances of influencing Vietnam to accept such a sug­
gestion are not exactly overwhelming. Nonetheless, the suffer­
ings that the people of Kampuchea have been going through 
demand that we in the West attempt to work towards a situation 
in which these people will finally be allowed to decide their own 
destiny without pressure from the outside and to express their 
own political beliefs and wishes without fear of revenge or 
persecution from anybody. '* 
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Review: Indonesia 


by Richard W. Franke 

While the major media in the U.S. remained fixate~ on 
"boat people," Thai-Kampuchean border camps, and the like, 
they paid little attention to the atrocities and intrigues by the 
pro-US military government in Indonesi~ in its attempt t? sup­
press independence movements and to stifle the eco~omlc and 
social potential of several peoples in the Eastern Archlpela¥o. A 
series of recent publications, however, have made available 
much information and analysis-some of it previously known 
but in less accessible form, others entirely new. 

Willard Hanna's Indonesian Banda is a short and micro­
cosmic history of one group of the spice islands. The~reti~all~, 
the study leaves much to be desired. After announcIng In hiS 
forward that he has chosen the small nutmeg islands in order to 
gain a simpler but more accurate perspective on the otherwise 
overly complex Indonesian society as. a ~hole, the a~thor never 
returns to explain just how the matenal In the r~m~nder of .the 
book relates to this goal. Indeed, Hanna's descnptlve matenal, 
which summarizes much Dutch archival data not easily avail­
able to the non-Indonesia specialist, seems more appropriately 
attuned to a study of colonialism in microcosm: the broken 
treaties, the intrigues, the Dutch-English-Portuguese rivalries, 
the genocide, the fabulous profits in the home country and the 
impoverished workers in the nutmeg gr?ves. H.anna ~lso docu­
ments the extreme irrationality of colomaI relatIOnships. In one 
instance the Dutch actually exterminate the entire nutmeg tree 
popUlation of one island to prevent its fruits from being gathered 
by the British. .. 

Hanna's account is highly readable, sometimes shockIng 
in its portrayal of the actions and mentality of the early colonial 
traders and conquerors. It adequately introduces the reader to 
the squandering of human and environmental resow:ces that 
went into building the empire of the Dutch East Indies. The 
author's conservative political leanings come through in a few 
places such as when he sounds a ?opeful note for the future of 
the now impoverished islanders wIth the demise of Sukarno and 
the rise of the more development-minded Suharto government. 
And rather inconsistently, he comments towards the end of the 
study that while Banda in the 16th century was evidently rela­
tively well-off, "The present population of 15,000 [though the 
same as in the 16th century] is clearly excessive." (p. 144) 
What a sad comment on the effects of 400 years of European 
control and thirty years of neocolonial independence! 

Kees Lagerberg's study of the island of New Guinea "was 
commissioned and written to inform the world, as fully as 
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possible, of a very great modern injustice to which no fair 
solution is yet in sight. " But we are neither told by whom the 
study was commissioned, nor why the author cannot come up 
with a "fair" solution for the lrianese who are now fightmg a 
protracted guerrilla war for independence under the leadership 
of the aPM or "Free Papua Movement." Lagerberg, a fonner 
district officer from the period of Dutch" enlightened" colonial 
control of the 1950s is currently a professor of anthropology at 
the Catholic University of Tilburg, The Netherlands. Unfortu­
nately, however, little anthropological knowledge is transmit­
ted in the book. It is mostly a history of the diplomatic machina­
tions leading to the transfer of sovereignty from The Nether­
lands to the United Nations in 1962-but under Indonesian 
administration-and the "act of free choice" of 1969 in which 
a small number of Papuan representatives were coerced into 
joining the Indonesian Republic on behalf of a resentful popula­
tion. Lagerberg sees much of what happened from the narrow Iperspective of an embittered Dutch o~ficial, ~nd constantly 
heaps vituperation upon former IndoneSIan PreSIdent Sukarno. iNumerous other ad hominem remarks lead one to be rather 
cautious in recommending Lagerberg's factual material-but f 
much of it is rather useful if read in conjunction with the more Iinformative and Papuan-oriented Rule of the Sword by Nonie 
Sharp (reviewed in BCAS, vol. 10, no. I, p. 24). In a few places 
Lagerberg brings to readers some important material on the ,I 

~political intrigues that sealed the Indonesian takeover. On April i. 
t 
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2, 1962, for example, then-President John F. Kennedyappar­
ently sent a secret letter to the Dutch Prime Minister De Quay in 
which Kennedy spelled out why the US was not going to allow a 
Dutch-sponsored decolonization program to continue. The 
reason: a conflict would arise between Indonesia and The 
Netherlands, and, quoting from Kennedy's letter, "Such a 
conflict would have adverse consequences out of all proportions 
to the issue [Papuan independence-RF] at stake .... Only 
the Communists would benefit from such a conflict . . . . The 
whole non-Communist position in Vietnam, Thailand, and 
Malaya would be in grave peril and as you know these are areas 
in which we in the United States have heavy commitments and 
burdens." (p. 87) Like the East Timorese 13 years later, then, 
the national rights of the Irianese had to be sacrificed to the 
geopolitical interests of the United States. And like Portugal 
today, The Netherlands found itself unable to influence the 
policies of its dominant NATO partner. 

The Irianese, however, have continued to resist Indonesian 
occupation with its corruption and brutality. Nonie Sharp's brief 
account in Arena makes available information on an apparent 
plan by the Indonesian military regime to extend its control from 
West Iiian to the newly-independent state of Papua-New Guinea 
-the eastern half of the island. Both the continued occupation 
of portions of East Timor, and the threat to swallow up the 
eastern half of New Guinea represent policies never anticipated 
in the earlier take-over of west New Guinea which was justified 
on grounds that it was included in the previous colonial boun­
daries of the Duth East Indies. 

Torben Retboll has brought the valuable documentation 
service of the International Work Group for Indigenous Affairs 
(IWGIA) to the East Timor question. The collection of docu­
ments includes the 1978 and 1979 UN statements by Noam 
Chomsky (much of which is contained in a BCAS article in vol. 
II, no. 2, pp. 40-68), statements by FRETILIN (the Timorese 
liberation movement), accounts from refugees in Portugal, let­
ters smuggled out of Timor, and many other sources, several of 
them from West European and Australian newspaper accounts 
that were not given space in the US press. Many of the UN 
resolutions and the voting records of selected countries on these 
resolutions are also presented. The collection ends with a useful 
bibliography and list of addresses in various countries where 
further information can be obtained. 

Kohen and Taylor's An Act ofGenocide is the most defini­
tive description yet of the Indonesian attempt to suppress the 
independence movement of the East Timorese. A "measured 
and carefully documented analysis," as Chomsky states in his 
forward to the book, An Act ojGenocide is documented entirely 
from Western news sources or from reliable refugee accounts 
for the most recent period. After summarizing the history of 
East Timor, the authors describe the events leading to the 
Indonesian invasion of 1975, the exceptionally strong FRETI­
LIN resistance up to 1977 and the eventual use of massive 
bombing to destroy crops and villages and to force a large 
portion of the popUlation into camps where they must live on 
international relief. Two concluding chapters sum up the overall 
relationship between the Western nations and East Timor: in one 
chapter there is a list of the various economic and military 

assistance programs of the United States, Australia, West Ger­
many, The Netherlands, and Britain to the Indonesians, includ­
ing specific counterinsurgency weapons. And finally, there is a 
chapter outlining the' 'Right to Self Determination" which the 
evidence so clearly shows has been willfully denied thus far to 
the people of East Timor. A stalemate has developed between 
Indonesian brutality and military occupation on the one hand 
and the commitment of the people of East Timor to gain their 
independence on the other. The addition of massive Western 
armaments to the Indonesian military has made that stalemate 
deadly as somewhere between 1/10 and 1/3 ofthe entire popula­
tion of East Timor have been killed; the rest suffer massive 
dislocation. 
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